

Publication No. FHWA-RD-93-129 December 1994

Curved Steel Bridge Research Project

Interim Report I: Synthesis



U.S.Department of Transportation
Federal Highway Administration

Research and Development Turner-Fairbank Highway Research Center 6300 Georgetown Pike McLean, Virginia 22101-2296

REPRODUCED BY:
U.S. Department of Commerce
National Technical Information Service
Springfield, Virginia 22161

FOREWORD

This report is part of the Federal Highway Administration's Curved Steel Bridge Research Project. The report will be of interest to bridge design engineers and structural research engineers alike because of the many aspects of curved bridge loading that were investigated.

This report summarizes the results of a comprehensive literature search. This information is also available in an electronic data base.

Copies may be obtained from the National Technical Information Service, 5285 Port Royal

James al Ceoper / For

Road, Springfield, Virginia 22161.

Charles J. Nemmers

Director, Office of Engineering and

Highway Operations Research and Development

NOTICE

This Document is disseminated under the Sponsorship of the Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The United States Government assumes no liability for its contents or the use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

The United States Government does not endorse products or manufacturers. Trade and manufacturers' names appear herein only because they are considered essential to the object of this document.

Technical Report Documentation Page 3. Recipient's Catalog No. 1. Report No. FHWA-RD-93-129 4. Title and Subtitle 5. Report Date CURVED STEEL BRIDGE RESEARCH PROJECT December 1994 Interim Report I, "Synthesis" 6. Performing Organization Code 7. Authors: 8. Performing Organization Report No. A. Zureick, R. Nagib, and J. M. Yadlosky 9. Performing Organization Name and Address 10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS) HDR Engineering, Inc. 3D1a 3 Gateway Center 11. Contract or Grant No. Pittsburgh, PA 15222-1074 DTFH61-93-C-00136 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address 13. Type of Report and Period Covered Office of Engineering and Highway Operations R&D Interim Report Federal Highway Administration October 1992-November 1997 6300 Georgetown Pike McLean, VA 22101-2296 14. Sponsoring Agency Code 15. Supplementary Notes Contracting Officer's Technical Representative (COTR): Sheila Rimal Duwadi, HNR-10 The objectives of the FHWA Curved Steel Bridge Program are (1) to conduct fundamental research into the structural behavior of curved steel flexural members and bridges, and (2) to address construction issues, in order to provide adequate information to develop and clarify design specifications. The work under this program is a coordinated effort between the Transportation Research Board (TRB), the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), and participating States under a Highway Planning and Research (HP&R) Pooled Fund Study. This program focuses on four areas: (1) synthesis of work that has been done since the Consortium of University Research Teams (CURT) Project; (2) update of the current specification in a load factor design format; (3) conduct of research recommended by Structural Stability Research Council's (SSRC) Task Group 14 at the April 14-15, 1991 workshop; and (4) development of a load and resistance factor design specification based on research conducted under area 3. Areas 1 and 3 are conducted by FHWA as a pooled fund study with an administrative contract. Area 2 is conducted by TRB under the National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Project 12-38. Area 4 is proposed to be addressed by NCHRP at a future date. This report summarizes the results of a comprehensive literature search under the FHWA research program. 18. Distribution Statement 17. Key Words Steel, model test, bridges, plate girders, curved bridges. No restrictions. This document is available to the public through the National Technical Information Service.

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

20. Security Classif. (of this page)

Unclassified

19. Security Classif. (of this report)

Unclassified

Reproduction of completed page authorized

22. Price

Springfield, VA 22161

109

21. No. of Pages

		SI* (MODERN ME	TRIC)	CONVI	ERSION FACT	ORS		
	APPROXIMATE CONVERSIONS TO SI UNITS			APPROXIMATE CONVERSIONS FROM SI UNITS				rs _	
Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol	Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol
	LENGTH					LENGTH			_
in	inches	25.4	millimeters	mm	mm	millimeters	0.039	inches	in
A	feet	0.305	meters	Dj	m	meters	3.28	feet	ft
yd	yards	0.914	meters	100	m	meters	1.09	yards	yd
mi	miles	1.61	kilometers	km	km	kilometers	0.621	miles	mi
		AREA		-			AREA		-
im ² ft ² yd ²	square inches	645.2	square millimeters	mm ²	mmj ²	square millimeters	0.0016	square inches	in ² ft ²
ft ²	square feet	0.093	square meters	m²	m²	square meters	10.764	square feet	ft ⁴
	square yards	0.836	square meters	2	m ²	square meters	1.195	square yards	yd^2
ac mi ²	acres	0.405	hectares	ha	ha	hectares	2.47	acres	ac ac
mi [*]	square miles	2.59	square kilometers	km ²	km ²	square kilometers	0:386	square miles	mi
	VOLUME			_		VOLUME			_
fl.oz	fluid ounces	29.57	milliliters	mL	mL	milliliters	0.034	fluid ounces	fl,oz
gal ft ³	gallons	3.785	liters	L m ³	L	liters	0.264	gallons	gal ft ³
ft ³	cubic feet	0.028	cubic meters	m ³	L m ³ m ³	cubic meters	35.71	cubic feet	ft ³
yd ³	cubic yards	0.765	cubic meters	m ³	m ³	cubic meters	1.307	cubic yards	yd ³
	NOTE: Volumes g	reater than 1000 Lsh	all be shown in m		•				
		MASS		- 1			MASS		-
OZ	Ounces	28.35	grams	Ę	8	grams	0.035	ounces	0z
lb	pounds	0.454	kilograms	kg	kg	kilograms	2,202	pounds	IЪ
Т	short tons (2000 lb)	0.907	megagrams	Mg	Mg	megagrams	1.103	short tons (2000 lb)	T
	(or "metric ton")TEMPERATURE (exact)			(or "t") _	(or "t")	(or "metric ton") TEMPERATURE (exact)			_
'F	Fahrenheit temperature	5(F-32)/9	Celsius temperature	° C	°C	Celsius temperature	1.8C + 32	Fahrenheit temperature	°F
		or (F-32)/1.8							
	ILLUMINATION			-		ILLUMINATION			-
fc	foot-candles	10.76	hux 2	bx cd/m ²	lx 2	lux 2	0.0929	foot-candles	fc
п	foot-Lamberts	3.426	candela/m ²	cd/m*	cd/m ²	candela/m ²	0.2919	foot-Lamberts	ก
	FORCE and PRESSURE or STRESS			_		FORCE and PRESSURE or STRESS			_
lbf	poundforce	4.45	newtons	N	N	newtons	0.225	poundforce	lbf
lbf/in²	poundforce per	6.89	kilopascals	kPa	kPa	kilopascals	0.145	poundforce per	lbf/in ²
	square inch							square inch	

^{*}SI is the symbol for the International System of Units. Appropriate rounding should be made to comply with Section 4 of ASTM E380.

(Revised September 1993)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
GENERAL	
OBJECTIVE	
RESEARCH PROCEDURE	
ELECTRONIC DATA BASE	
SYNTHESIS	
CHAPTER II. ANALYSIS METHODS	5
INTRODUCTION	
APPROXIMATE METHODS	
REFINED METHODS	
BRIDGE DECK ANALYSIS	
STATIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED BRIDGES WITH ARBITRARY CROSS-	,
SECTIONS	яя
DYNAMIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED BRIDGES WITH ARBITRARY CROSS	
SECTIONS	
STATIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED I-GIRDER BRIDGES	
DYNAMIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED I-GIRDER BRIDGES	
STATIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED BOX GIRDER BRIDGES	
DYNAMIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED BOX GIRDER BRIDGES	20
CHAPTER III. CURVED I-GIRDER BRIDGES	23
LOADS	
STABILITY	
Transversely Stiffened Web	
Transverse Stiffener Requirements	
Longitudinally Stiffened Web	
Longitudinal Stiffener Requirements	
ULTIMATE STRENGTH AND DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS	
DIAPHRAGMS, CROSS FRAMES, AND LATERAL BRACING	
FATIGUE	
HEAT CURVING	
CURVED COMPOSITE I-GIRDERS	
CHAPTER IV. CURVED BOX GIRDER BRIDGES	33
LOADS	
STABILITY	
ULTIMATE STRENGTH	
DIAPHRAGMS AND CROSS FRAMES	
FATIGUE	35

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

FIELD TESTS	36
DESIGN AIDS	
CHAPTER V. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER	
STUDIES	37
ANALYSIS METHODS	
BEHAVIOR OF CURVED GIRDER BRIDGES DURING CONSTRUCTION	38
ULTIMATE STRENGTH OF CURVED BOX AND I-GIRDERS	38
IMPACT	
APPENDIX A - USERS MANUAL FOR CURVED BRIDGE DATA BASE	41
LOADING CURVED DATA BASE	41
SEARCH EXAMPLE	
QUERY EXAMPLE	41
REPORT EXAMPLE	
REFERENCES	43

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	. Initial screen	output of the	electronic data	a base	4
----------	------------------	---------------	-----------------	--------	---

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

a = Distance between transverse stiffeners

b = Width of half of the flange

b_f = Width of compression flange

C_w = Warping constant

d = Depth of the section

E = Young's modulus of steel

 F_{ν} = Yield stress

 f_b = Allowable bending stress

G = Shear modulus of steel

 I_V = Moment of inertia about the y-axis

J = Torsion constant

L = Length of girder

M_{II} = Ultimate moment

R = Radius of curvature of girder web

 $t_f = \text{Flange thickness}$

 $t_w =$ Web thickness

 ν = Poisson's ratio for the steel

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

GENERAL

During the first half of the 19th century, De Saint Venant published a memoir that marked the birth of all research efforts, which have been published to date, on the analysis and design of horizontally curved girders. Since then, thousands of pages of technical papers, reports, and books have been published in the literature concerning various applications in the fields of civil, mechanical, and aerospace engineering.

Despite the considerable progress begun almost 150 years ago, serious studies pertaining to the analysis and design of horizontally curved bridges commenced only 30 years ago when the Federal Highway Administration, in 1969, formed the Consortium of University Research Teams (CURT). This team consisted of Carnegie Mellon University, The University of Pennsylvania, the University of Rhode Island, and Syracuse University, whose research efforts along with those at the University of Maryland resulted in the initial development of working stress design criteria and tentative design specifications. The American Society of Civil Engineers and the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (ASCE-AASHTO) Committee on Flexural Members compiled the results of most of research efforts prior to 1976 and presented a single source set of recommendations pertaining to the design of curved I-girder bridges. The CURT research activity was shortly followed by the development of the Load Factor Design criteria adopted by AASHTO (1980) along with the working stress design criteria in the first Guide Specifications for Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges. (3,4,5)

A survey of most published works pertaining to horizontally curved bridges was first presented by McManus et al. whose bibliography list contained 202 references, four of which only dealt with box girders. (6) McManus' paper was discussed by other authers who added additional references to the original list. (7,8,9) Nine years later, the ASCE-AASHTO Committee on Flexural Members (1978a) presented a state-of-the-art report that provides 106 references dealing primarily with horizontally curved box girders. (10) The Committee also presented results of a survey pertaining to the geometry, design, detail, construction and performance of box-girder bridges constructed in the United States, Canada, Europe, and Japan (ASCE-AASHTO Committee on Flexural Members 1978b). (11) The survey was an update of a more limited survey published by the AASHO-ASCE Committee on Flexural members (1973). (12) Very recently, Nakai and Yoo published a book that offers a comprehensive listing of numerous papers, with particular attention to the Japanese literature. (13)

The current 1993 AASHTO Guide Specification For Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges is primarily based upon research work conducted prior to 1978. Since then, a significant amount of work has been conducted to enhance the specifications and to better understand the behavior of curved girders. Unfortunately, the results of these various research activities are scattered and in some cases unevaluated. Hence, a renewed review of available work on curved bridges would be of significant benefit to the engineering community.

OBJECTIVE

The objective of this task was to perform a comprehensive up-to-date literature search on work related to horizontally curved steel box and I-girders and to provide a synopsis of the information contained in each reference. All references surveyed or assembled in this report were placed in an electronic data base that is easy to access, query, and update as additional research is completed.

RESEARCH PROCEDURE

In order to accomplish the aforementioned objective, a comprehensive literature search using both computerized searching and "old fashioned" manual paging was conducted. This initial search resulted in the discovery of almost 900 references. The title of each, along with their abstracts, were then examined to determine their applicability to curved steel girders. References that were not relevant to curved steel bridges were eliminated. For instance, a paper related to model tests on curved concrete beams was deleted from the initial list. General references on analysis that may apply to steel, concrete, and so forth have been kept in the list. This process resulted in almost 750 references, which were placed in the electronic data base described next.

ELECTRONIC DATA BASE

The information compiled on horizontally curved bridges was stored in the Microsoft ACCESS data base management software, which runs under the WINDOWS environment. This data base program was chosen for its user friendliness, its straightforward, intuitive and graphical approach to design, its ability to generate printed reports and screen forms and its compatibility with almost all the other commercially available data base programs.

It was decided to store the information pertaining to a particular reference in six different fields. The first three fields contain material about the title, author and year of publication. The fourth field contains the source of publication (e.g. journal or conference name, publisher, ..etc.), while the fifth field contains some additional information regarding the source such as the order or contract number. The last field gives a summary or abstract of the publication.

In addition to these six major fields, some check-boxes were added to the data base form to act as keywords in this survey. These check-boxes can be used to classify whether a publication is on Box or I-girders, Static, Dynamic, Thermal, or Fatigue analyses, or other aspects of behavior (see figure 1).

The information could then be used to sort and filter required publications. As an example, one could request all (Design) work by (Heins) which was published after (1975) and that information could be sorted according to the (Year) in an ascending order. The result of a filtering and/or sorting process can be on-screen (temporary), or can be saved as a query which can be used at a later time. Additionally, one can also search a certain field for a particular word or name.

A data base file is typically large in size since it contains the information that needs to be stored, as well as the data required to design and tailor the forms, tables, reports and queries used in the data base. This makes it difficult to save the data base file on a regular floppy disk without resorting to compressing and decompressing routines. One of the useful features of ACCESS is that it can save the data base in a file that contains the empty or skeleton form, while saving the stored information as a separate text (ASCII) file. This usually makes it possible to copy both files to a medium or large size floppy disk. This feature also makes it easy to export the information to any other data base management program if it accepts text files.

SYNTHESIS

As stated earlier all collected titles along with their abstracts were placed in an electronic data base. This allows the acquisition of a needed synopsis of any curved-girder article related to any desirable key word(s) (author, title, phenomenon,...etc.) in a few seconds. This synthesis reports only on references that: (1) were felt to have been the key ingredients in the development of the existing guide specifications for horizontally curved highway bridges, and (2) may play important roles in the development of enhanced curved-bridge analysis, design, construction, and fabrication guidelines. For example, 1932 a reference by Moorman entitled "Semi-graphical method of analysis for horizontally curved-beams" can be found in the data base but is not discussed in this report. Therefore, only 540 of the 750 references need be reviewed in this task. A list of works comprising the references that have not been selected for reviews is placed in the bibliography section of this report.

Because of budget and time constraint, about 300 reports were reviewed briefly in this study, about 210 were recommended for further review (140 of these reports were difficult to obtain). All 210 references were placed in the Bibliography and marked with either an astrisk to identify references that were difficult to obtain, or with the # symbol to identify references that were available but were not reviewed.

It should be noted that a synthesis of this nature cannot sufficiently present the details described in each reference, but rather present some of their more interesting highlights for future evaluation.

TITLE	Inelastic Flange Buckling of Curved Plate Girders					
AUTHOR	Culver, C.G. and Nasir, G. (1971)	Year 1971				
INFO	ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, April , vol. 97, no. ST4, pp. 1239-1256 Author Abstract					
INFO2	PROC PAPER 8072	Arbitrary Shape				
girders and ine model of isotropi media i bending to the famodel. S model. T is studing forces	uckling of the flanges of horizontally curved plate is studied analytically. Buckling in both the elastic lastic range is considered. The mathematical consists of small deflection plate equations for an comedia in the elastic range and an orthotropic in the inelastic range. Prebuckling stresses due to go and nonuniform torsion and residual stresses due abrication process are included in the mathematical. The influence of the stress distribution and yielding consoft the curved plate on the buckling coefficients ed. Plate buckling curves relating the internal in curved beams to the flange dimensions, width-to-ses ratio, required to prevent buckling are also ted.	FEM Box-Girder FSM I-Girder FDM Static Analysis S. Defl. Dynamic Analysis GDE Experimental P. Grid Design S. Frame Thermal V-Load Stability Construction Available Fatigue Referenced Diaphragms Bearing				

Figure 1. Initial screen output of the electronic data base.

CHAPTER II. ANALYSIS METHODS

INTRODUCTION

The analysis methods presented in this report are classified into two major categories: Approximate and Refined methods. The approximate methods require minimal modeling effort on part of the designer, and hence are adequate for preliminary analysis and design purposes. The following approximate methods are surveyed in this study:

- The Plane Grid Method.
- The Space Frame Method.
- The V-Load Method.

The refined methods, on the other hand, are somewhat more elaborate, computationally intensive, and time consuming in terms of modeling. Therefore, the methods that fall in this class should be used for the final or detailed analyses. In this report, the following are classified as refined methods:

- The Finite Element Method.
- The Finite Strip Method.
- The Finite Difference Method.
- Analytical Solution to Differential Equations.
- The Slope Deflection Method.

Some useful details and comparisons on the available analysis techniques were provided by Buckle and Hood on curved box girders and by Heins and Yilmaz et al. on curved box and I-girders. (15,16,17)

In succeeding sections of this chapter, references available on the analysis methods pertaining to horizontally curved steel bridges are presented. Reviewed references are grouped into articles that addressed the static and/or the dynamic response of curved bridge decks, curved bridges with arbitrary cross sections, and curved bridges with I- sections, and curved bridges with box sections.

APPROXIMATE METHODS

Plane Grid Method: The structure in this method is modeled as an assemblage of twodimensional grid members with one translational and two rotational degrees of freedom. This method does not account for nonuniform torsion (warping), and hence, can be used only for initial member sizing.

Space Frame Method: This method was first introduced in 1973 by Brennan and Mandel for the analysis of open and closed curved members. (18) The curved members are idealized as three-

dimensional straight members, while the diaphragms and lateral bracing are assumed as truss-like members which can carry only axial loads. The effect of warping is not usually included in this analysis, which makes this method practical for initial design purposes.

V-Load Method: This method uses equivalent straight girders with span lengths equal to the arc lengths instead of the individual curved girders by adding self-equilibrating vertical shear forces (acting on diaphragm locations) that take the curvature into account. These loads are dependent on the radius of curvature, bridge width, and diaphragm spacing. (19,20,21)

REFINED METHODS

Finite Element Method: This approach discretizes the structure into small divisions (elements) where each element is defined by a specified number of nodes. The behavior of each element (and ultimately the structure) is assumed to be a function of its nodal quantities (displacements and/or stresses), which serve as the primary unknowns in this formulation. This is one of the most general and accurate methods to use since it does not put any limitation on the geometry, loads or boundary conditions, and can be applied to open/closed girders and static/dynamic analysis. Additionally, the structure's response can always be improved by refining the mesh used and by increasing the number of nodes (or degrees of freedom) for each element. However, the rather involved modeling and analysis efforts required by this method may in some cases make it impractical for preliminary analysis.

Finite Strip Method: In this numerical method, the curved bridge is divided into narrow strips in the circumferential direction which are supported in their radial direction. The analysis includes bending and membrane actions as well as warping and distortional effects. (22) Although this method provides some simplicity over the finite element method because of the smaller number of unknowns required, it does not offer the flexibility and versatility of the latter method.

Finite Difference Method: In this method, a grid is superimposed on the structure and the governing differential equations are replaced by algebraic difference equations that are solved for each grid point.

Solution to the Governing Differential Equations (GDE): In this class, an analytical solution to the GDE is obtained. The solution is usually a closed form or a convergent series solution, such as a Fourier series.

Slope Deflection Method: In this approach, the partial differential equations are established in terms of slope-deflection equations and the solution is assumed to be a Fourier series. The analysis includes the effects of curvature, nonuniform torsion, and diaphragms. However, the solution is usually applicable to certain number of spans and geometries.

BRIDGE DECK ANALYSIS

Cheung studied horizontally curved bridge decks where he divided the slab into concentric simply supported strips, and assumed the deflection to be a Fourier series in the longitudinal direction and a beam function in the transverse direction. (23) Juhl derived the equations for a statically determinate lateral support system to minimize high internal stresses due to temperature change of the superstructure, and to predict the boundary displacements of a skew and curved structure. (24) Abdelraoug and Matlock introduced refined triangular planar and nonplanar elements and compared them with less refined triangular and quadrilateral elements in the analysis of bridge decks. (25) Unlike the less refined elements, the proposed elements in Abdelraoug and Matlock proved suitable for coarse meshes. Cheung studied analytically and experimentally the behavior of simply supported curved bridge decks with intermediate column supports. (26) His analytical study was based on the finite strip method, the results of which compared favorably with experimental values obtained from testing 30 1:60 scale asbestos cement curved slab decks. Dey conducted a static analysis of orthotropic curved bridge decks with two radial edges simply supported and with the other two curved edges free, using a combination of Fourier series and the finite difference technique. The governing fourth order partial differential equation of orthotropic plates was converted to an ordinary differential equation and solved by the finite difference method. Harik and Pashanasangi presented a solution for the analysis of orthotropic curved decks subjected to uniform, partial uniform and patch loads, line and partial line loads in the radial and tangential directions, and point loads. (27) The analysis is based upon an approach similar to that of the finite strip, but does not require the polynomial representation and minimization procedure often associated with the finite strip. The deck was divided into radially supported curved strips. whose deflections and loads were expressed in a Levy Fourier series. Convergence was achieved by increasing the number of modes instead of the number of elements. The spline finite strip method was applied by Cheung et al. to curved slab bridges and the obtained results demonstrated its accuracy. (28) A computer-based method of analysis was proposed by Azad et al., and Azad et al. for continuous, curved slab-type bridge decks. (29,30) Using the method of finite difference in conjunction with the method of consistent deformation and a Levy-type series formulation, equilibrium difference equations were written along the central radial line of the simply supported deck. Dey and Malhorta introduced a higher-order strip element which utilized a quintic polynomial in the radial direction. (31) The method proved easy to program and required little computational effort. Later, Verma and Dey discretized the total potential energy of bridge decks in terms of pivot displacements using finite difference operators with constant order of truncation error. (32) The total potential energy was minimized to obtain the force-displacement relationship which was solved for pivot displacements. Lakshmy et al. included in-plane and transverse shear deformations in a nine-noded isoparametric Mindlin-plate bending element. (33) Their method was claimed to be effective with both isotropic and orthotropic curved/skewed bridges.

Regarding the dynamic analysis of horizontally-curved bridge decks, Yonezawa modeled the deck as an orthotropic curved plate and calculated its natural frequency. (34) Kunukkasseil and Ramakrishnan studied the dynamic response of a curved bridge deck and studied the effect of speed on the dynamic deformations of the deck. (35) Their analytical model considered the deck as an isotropic annular sector plate with the radial edges simply supported and the circular edges free. Ramakrishnan and Kunukkasseil presented an analytical method for calculating the free

vibration frequencies of stiffened curved bridge decks by idealizing the deck as a system comprising a number of isotropic annular plates and circular ring segments rigidly connected to each other. (36) Using almost the same mathematical model for their bridge deck, Ramakrishnan and Kunukkasseil developed an analysis method for the dynamic response of a stiffened bridge deck to a moving vehicle idealized as a single degree of freedom system. (37) Finally, Dey idealized a curved bridge deck as a number of finite strips with orthotropic properties and the moving vehicle as a sprung mass moving at a constant speed. (38) Viscous damping was considered in this study.

STATIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED BRIDGES WITH ARBITRARY CROSS-SECTIONS

Finite Element Method: Shore developed a fully compatible three-dimensional flat plate circular element to aid in 70 model tests. (39,40) This element was implemented in STACRB and DYNCRB, which are static and dynamic finite-element analysis programs, respectively. During the same time period, a method based on harmonic analysis in the circumferential direction and on the finite-element method in the transverse direction was presented by Meyer and Scordelis. (41) The method, however, does not satisfy differential equilibrium and force boundary conditions.

Segmental and quadrilateral elements for plate bending were used by Sawko and Merriman in a FE program for analyzing simply supported continuous isotropic and orthotropic bridges. (42) Actual tests and comparisons with previous results proved the accuracy of this method.

Lansberry and Shore and Shore and Lansberry developed an annular conforming and fully-compatible four-noded segment element for thin plates under membrane and bending stresses. (43,44) The displacement expansion was the same for all three components and was taken as the product of one-dimensional first order Hermite interpolation polynomials in polar coordinates.

The derivation of a curved beam equilibrium element by Laursen resulted in a stiffness matrix and a consistent modal loading vector. This element can be easily implemented in a standard finite element code. Later on, Noor et al. included transverse shear deformation and bending-extensional coupling in mixed curved beam elements used in geometrically nonlinear analysis of deep arches. The stiffness matrix was obtained using a modified form of the Hellinger-Reissner mixed variational principle.

In 1979, Yoo presented an exact displacement solution to the governing homogeneous differential equations of curved thin-walled beams. (47) The resulting torsional moment was analytically separated into St. Venant and warping torsions. Unlike typical FE procedures, no more accuracy will be gained when using finer meshes in this type of analysis. Stress and displacement (warping) function approaches were employed by Thasanatorn and Pilkey in a FE formulation of composite and anisotropic circularly curved members subject to torsional and constrained warping stresses. (48)

The governing differential equations of circularly curved beams were solved by Just and combined with the finite element procedure to formulate an exact and explicit stiffness matrix and displacement transformation matrix. (49)

In 1982, two publications addressed the nonlinear behavior of curved girders using finite element analysis. The isoparametric finite element method and the updated Lagrangian approach were used by Nakai et al. to analyze the geometrically and materially nonlinear behavior of horizontally curved bridges. Second-order terms and warping effects were fully represented by Hirashima and Yoda in their nonlinear FE analysis applied to curved and twisted thin-walled beams. (51)

Bien, J. analyzed curved girders with arbitrary cross section in simple and multispan structures using a combination of Fourier series and a two-dimensional finite element technique. (52) Goto et al. presented the theoretical convergence and accuracy of the method of separation of rigid body displacements by applying it to a curved element of variable cross section, and an approximate straight element of constant cross section, and then comparing the solutions to those of the direct Lagrangian equations. (53) They proved the effectiveness of this technique for the finite displacement analysis of curved members.

Prathap studied the effect of reduced integration on shallow curved beam elements and the use of coupled displacement fields in finite rings. Akoussah et al. used the penalty technique to develop a locking-free curved beam element. The updated Lagrangian approach was then used to generalize the formulation to nonlinear analysis. In 1987, Yoo presented consistent stiffness, stability and mass matrices of a discrete curved finite element based on a variational principle. Convergence of this model was extremely fast and formed an upper bound to the exact solution. Still dealing with the issue of the nonlinear behavior of curved girders, Elias and Chen employed the assumptions of the shallow beam theory (with shear deformations) to develop a geometrically nonlinear curved beam element for deflection and buckling analysis.

A horizontally curved three-noded isoparametric beam element with or without an elastic base throughout its length was proposed by Dasgupta and Sengupa. (58) Shear deformations and torsional loading was considered in the formulation and a two point Gaussian quadrature rule was used in numerical integration. Comparisons with other analytical solutions indicated the suitability of the proposed element.

Benedtti and Tralli substituted the axis line by a B-spline in a curved beam model which resulted in the generation of an equilibrated stress resultant field. ⁽⁵⁹⁾ Apart from the error encountered in numerical integration, this method computes the flexibility (or stiffness) matrix exactly. Concurrently, Graves and Mansour-Tehrani experimented with a method combining the finite element and finite strip methods for analyzing partially prismatic structures and applied it effectively to horizontally curved bridges. ⁽⁶⁰⁾

In 1990, Surana and Nguyen presented a three-dimensional beam element whose axial and transverse displacements can be of arbitrary polynomial order. (61) The formulation results in hierarchical approximation functions and nodal variables. The orders of approximation in the

longitudinal direction can be chosen to differ from that used in the transverse direction to optimize the rate of convergence of the FE solution. During the same year, Hsu et al. developed a more exact horizontally curved beam element in which the warping d.o.f. conforms to the bimoment (warping). The method proved applicable for open and closed sections. (62) In 1990, Tin Loi and Pulmano used the static or lower bound theorem of plasticity, discretized the curved grid structure into finite elements, and linearized the nonlinear bending-torsion yield surface, which led to an easy-to-solve linear programming problem. (63)

A finite element approach based on combining beam and shell strains was proposed in 1991 by Kanarachos et al. (64) New shape functions, which were either exact or polynomial, were introduced and resulted in significantly reducing the number of nodal variables. Yang et al. showed that straight-beam elements can be used to study the buckling of curved beams. (65) The moment terms induced by initial bending moments undergoing three-dimensional rotations, and interelement compatibilities were both included in the analysis which resulted in a consistent straight-beam element. The proposed semitangential element proved to be a good substitute for the curved-beam elements.

Pantazopoulou also used new polynomial shape functions along with reduced numerical integration and an enforced geometrical constraint equation in three-dimensional curved beam elements to eliminate the torsional and membrane locking. (66)

Finite Strip Method: A finite strip method was proposed by Meyer and Scordelis for simply supported folded plate structures. (41) Their method used harmonic/Fourier analysis in the circumferential direction and finite element analysis in the other direction.

Arizumi et al. modeled composite curved box/plate girders with complete and incomplete interaction using curved strip elements for the concrete slab and steel girder, and used two-dimensional spring elements for the shear connectors. (67) Test and theoretical values compared favorably with the numerical results. Based on the results obtained, the slip behavior of curved composite box girders was also investigated. A two-noded strip element with one integration point and based on the Mindlin shell plate theory was introduced by Onate and Suarez. (68) All element matrices were in explicit form, and led to accurate and economical analysis.

Finite Difference Method: Heins and Looney presented a finite difference solution for the analysis of curved orthotropic plate and curved girder bridges. This method considered interaction of all curved girders of the floor system and the slab in evaluating actual stresses. The analysis of single and continuous span curved girders was presented by Yoo et al., where they solved Vlasov equations using the finite difference technique. The solution, which was implemented in a FORTRAN computer program, permitted inclusion of point wise property variations and interaction of the vertical and torsional deformations. Yoo and Heins also gave a listing and user manuals of the CURSGL computer program for the analysis of single and multispan prismatic and nonprismatic curved girders, and for CURSYS which is used for analyzing a system of curved girders with interconnected top deck and diaphragms. These programs are based on solving Vlasov equations using the finite difference technique. Later on, Heins and Stroczkowski analyzed continuous curved box, tubular or I bridge girders by also

developing a computer program which solves Vlasov equations using the finite difference technique. (72)

Sheinman proposed a procedure which admits large deflections, small strains, moderately small rotations, shear deformation, and geometric imperfections. (73) The numerical solution was obtained by the modified Newton's method and finite differences.

Analytical Solution to Differential Equations: An analytical technique was developed by Spates and Heins and Heins and Spates to evaluate all internal forces and external deflections on a curved girder with general loading and boundary conditions. (74,75) Experimental tests on a single curved girder showed reasonable agreement with theory. Stresses and deformations of curved, open and closed cross-sectional, thin-walled beams or tubes were investigated by Nitzsche and Miller who considered warping of the cross section. (76) The concepts of shear center and the self-equilibrating stress system were not necessary since the analysis was based solely upon equilibrium, stress-strain, and strain-displacement relations.

Oran and Lin reformulated the problem of the static analysis of simply supported, fanshaped, multibeam bridges using a Fourier series. A procedure was devised to accelerate the convergence of bending moments in beams located directly under concentrated loads. Furthermore, a method was developed for the determination of influence surfaces for various effects at a specified section of the beam.

Transverse shear deformations were considered by Fettahlioglu and Tabi for curved planar structures. Euler equations of motion were transformed to 3 uncoupled differential equations that are functions of normal displacements, rotations and angles of twist. Solutions to the governing differential equations were derived for the general case, with particular solutions given for special loading cases. Examples on full rings and curved beams confirmed the significant effect of shear deformations on displacements.

In 1985, Karamanlidis investigated the strain-displacement equations of a curved beam undergoing arbitrarily large deflections\rotations. Two alternative procedures were used: a mathematically consistent approach and an engineering-type approach. It was shown that, upon making certain simplifying assumptions regarding higher-order terms, both approaches lead to identical results.

Kuo and Yang considered a curved beam as a limiting case of an infinite number of straight beams for which the classical straight beam equations was used to derive new curved beam equations that avoided truncation and selection of higher-order terms in conventional curved-beam formulations. (80)

Plane Grid Method: A computer program was presented by Lavelle and Boick and Lavelle for the analysis of planar grid structures with curved members, loaded normal to their planes. (81,82) The equations to develop the required stiffness and load matrices were presented, and a detailed flow chart and program listing were also given.

Culver et al. used the plane grid analysis to show that the behavior of individual curved girders was substantially different from that of straight girders. Dawkins replaced the continuous girder by an assemblage of grid-type straight, prismatic elements, representing chords of the original curve. A direct recursion-inversion solution procedure was used in a specially written computer program to solve the equilibrium equations. In this program, the section properties, loads and restraints were allowed to vary along the girder. During the same time, Lavelle et al. developed the CUGAR1 computer program for analyzing plane, curved continuous girders by replacing them with an assemblage of straight, prismatic grid-type elements. (85)

An experimental and theoretical investigation was made by Douglas et al. to determine the structural behavior of three horizontally curved girder highway bridges located in Birmingham, Alabama. The plane grid method for curved prismatic members, which neglects warping, and another rigorous mathematical method, which includes the effect of warping, were both used for the theoretical analysis, and their results were compared to the experimental values. Concurrently, the response of a symmetrical two-span continuous, horizontally curved steel girder bridge was investigated experimentally and theoretically (using planar grid analogy) by Beal and Kissane. The results showed that the planar grid analysis method was suitable for predicting deflections and in-plane bending moments. However, the experimental results showed that the magnitude of the lateral flange bending stresses due to dead load was significant although the planar grid cannot determine such stresses.

Fu and Sahin incorporated the AASHTO guide specification provisions (working stress and load factor) into a two-dimensional grid based computer program that was intended for use in the design, rating, and rehabilitation of horizontally curved box and I-girder bridges. (88)

Space Frame Method: Morris presented the derivation of three-dimensional curved beam stiffness coefficients by calculating nodal reactions resulting from imposing unit displacements on a single degree of freedom while keeping all other nodes fixed. (89) This process is applied repeatedly until all coefficients of the 12 x 12 stiffness matrix are obtained.

The applicability of the space frame method for the analysis of thin-walled spatially curved beams was studied by Yoda et al..⁽⁹⁰⁾ Akhtar introduced the stiffness matrix of the circular beam element to be implemented directly in existing computer programs for analyzing structures composed of straight and circular members.⁽⁹¹⁾

El-Ali developed a simple computer algorithm for the analysis of multi-girder horizontally curved skew multigirder bridges. (92) The algorithm was basically a space frame program with a three-dimensional linear beam element formulation.

Slope Deflection Method: The equations needed to analyze a curved orthotropic or isotropic deck on curved flexible girders, using a slope-deflection technique were first presented by Heins and were applied to an example bridge problem. ⁽⁹³⁾ In the limit (rectangular condition), the proposed equations correlated favorably with the rectangular plate stiffness coefficients. Bell and Heins at the University of Maryland developed a solution to the general equations for analysis of a continuous orthotropic deck on curved flexible girders using the slope-deflection Fourier Series

method.⁽⁹⁴⁾ A computer program was developed for one-span and two-span continuous structures under static loading. The experimental deflections from a stiffened plate model verified the accuracy of the slope-deflection analysis. Bell and Heins also presented three computer programs based on analytical techniques of the slope deflection Fourier Series for analyzing a statically loaded curved bridge structure.⁽⁹⁵⁾ The COBRA (Curved Orthotropic Bridge Analysis) programs can be used to study composite or noncomposite girder-slab action. The user can specify any number of concentrated loads and may choose to superimpose a uniformly distributed load over the concentrated loading.

DYNAMIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED BRIDGES WITH ARBITRARY CROSS-SECTIONS

Finite Element Method: Petyt and Fleischer studied three finite element models. (96) The study showed that rigid body motion should be represented carefully in order to determine the radial vibrations of curved beams. Sabir and Ashwell applied four FE shape functions typically used in static analysis to vibration problems. (97) Massoud and Boudreau used a three-dimensional beam element formulation and the state equation approach to obtain the local rotation matrix of the principal torsion-flexure axes. (98) The inertia of the beam was expressed as an equivalent mass matrix.

A two-dimensional and three-dimensional beam element was presented by Surana and Nguyen, in which axial and transverse displacements can be of arbitrary polynomial order. (99,100) The formulation results in hierarchical approximation functions and nodal variables. It proved effective for very slender and very deep beam dynamic problems since all three stress and strain components were retained. The method permits sharp corners in the geometry and can accurately predict dynamic stress concentrations at such locations.

Finite Strip Method: Vibration analysis of prismatic plates and axisymmetric shells was performed by Suarez et al. using a Reissner-Mindlin based finite strip analysis. (101) Reduced integration was used for the two-noded elements which led to an explicit form for all element matrices.

Finite Difference Method: Tene et al. presented a general analytical and numerical procedure analyzing horizontally curved beams under static and dynamic loadings. (102) The formulation included shear deformation and rotary inertia, and the finite difference solution utilized Houbolt's method for numerical time integration. Sheinman proposed a procedure for dynamic analysis which admits large deflections, small rotations, shear deformation, rotary inertia, geometrical initial imperfections and viscous damping. (103) The numerical solution was obtained by the modified Newton's method, finite differences, and Houbolt's method in the time domain.

Analytical Solution to Differential Equations: The dynamic response of a simple span horizontally curved bridge under a moving mass system (that resembles a vehicle) was investigated by Tan and Tan and Shore. (104,105,106) The effects of rolling and rocking were not considered in the analysis. The method of (initial conditions) was used to obtain the solution to

the differential equation. The analysis was based on classical beam theory which neglects shear effects, flexural rotary inertia, and axial forces. The bridge was assumed to be a single prismatic beam whose mass is uniformly distributed, and whose cross-sectional dimensions were small compared to the radius of curvature. Additionally, the load was assumed to act through the shear center (which matches the centroid and center of twist). The support conditions were taken as simply supported but restrained against torsion and free to warp.

An analytical model for the vibration response of a curved beam was presented by Montalvao e Silva and Urgueira. The model was based on the closed-form solution of the dynamic differential equations of equilibrium for an infinitesimal element vibrating out of its initial plane of curvature. Rotary inertia and/or shear deformation effects were included in the analysis. During the same time frame, an accurate and general theory for the dynamic analysis of curved beams was presented by Bhimaraddi. The derivation accounts for shear deformation and rotary inertia and can be applied to the analysis of thick curved beams and rings. The formulation assumes a parabolic variation for shear strains and involves six displacement components for the center-line: three translations and three rotations. It was shown that for certain composite curved beams, the in-plane and out-of-plane vibrations are coupled. In such cases, complete analysis rather than separate in-plane and out-of-plane analyses is required.

STATIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED I-GIRDER BRIDGES

Finite Element Method: El-Amin and Brotton developed a finite element for horizontally curved beams, which includes warping. Formulation of the stiffness matrix was explicit, and hence, avoids numerical integration. Chaudhuri and Shore developed a thin-walled curved beam element based on Vlasov's theory. The element satisfied two uncoupled sets of governing differential equations, two for axial bending in the plane of curvature, and two for bending-torsion out of the plane of curvature. Chaudhuri and Shore also obtained the solution of the homogeneous differential equations, which led to the required functions for the seven nodal displacement components of the two-noded curved beam elements. The formulation neglects shear deformation and flexural rotary inertia. El-Amin and Kasem proposed a new element for an open thin-walled bisymmetric cross-section. This element employs a cubic displacement function for vertical displacement and a seventh order polynomial for the angle of twist along the length of the girder. Later on, a finite element that includes warping was developed by Thornton and Master and implemented in a computer program using the direct stiffness approach. The series of the stiffness approach.

Hirashima et al. investigated the strength of a stiffened web subjected to a concentrated load using the finite element method, and concluded that design criteria for straight girders should be modified for curved I-girders they recommended using stiffeners on the outer surface of the compression side of the web. (114) Hiwatashi and Kuranishi studied the behavior of curved plate girders under bending using the finite-element method. (115) Their emphasis was on the interactions between the flange plates and the web plate. The results were utilized to propose more reasonable boundary conditions of the web panel. Furthermore, it was shown that vertical buckling of flange plate does not arise from loss of the bending capacity of the plate girder.

Suetake et al. studied the influence of flanges on the strength of I-girders under bending using the mixed finite element method. The Newton-Raphson method was used in the geometrical nonlinear analysis. Study showed that the compression flange significantly affected the strength of the girder. At the same time, the geometrically nonlinear behavior of curved web panels with or without stiffeners under pure bending was investigated using an updated Lagrangian isoparametric FEM by Nakai et al.. (117) A curved beam-column model and a corresponding interaction curve were proposed.

Yang et al. derived two curved beam elements, with different shape functions, for buckling and nonlinear behavior of horizontally curved I-beams. Warping and curvature effects were taken into consideration and an updated Lagrangian approach was adopted to establish the incremental equation of equilibrium. Later on, an analysis algorithm based on finite element analysis was adopted by Bishara and Elmir to determine the forces in cross-frame members of four medium-span, simply supported, four-lane, tangent multigirder bridges. (118) The numerical results were utilized with those obtained from the testing of five bridges to propose design procedures for cross frames on multistringer bridges.

Finite Difference Method: Murphy and Heins expressed Vaslov's equations in finite difference form to describe the structural response of the individual girders. Diaphragm action was included in the formulation which led to a system of linear algebraic equations that govern the behavior of curved bridge systems. This method of analysis is incorporated into a computer program, which was then used to conduct a parametric study. The study resulted in a set of design aids for dead load effects. The web distortional response of a single span curved girder bridge system was determined by Heins and Martin and Martin and Heins through the application of a finite difference procedure. This procedure was then computerized and resulted in design formulas. In 1985, Azad et al. idealized the deck as a curved flat plate supported by a number of flexible I-girders whose flexural and torsional properties are known. The girder reactive forces were considered in the analysis. Numerical results of the Levy-type solution showed that torsional stiffness has negligible influence on a deck whose radius is larger than 150 m.

Slope Deflection Method: Bell and Heins and Bell developed and programmed the Fourier series slope-deflection method for analyzing curved orthotropic deck bridge systems. (124,125) The method considers the interaction of the curved orthotropic or isotropic plates with curved elastic girders. The effects of warping and pure torsion, bending and radius of curvature were accounted for in the analysis.

In 1974, Douglas and Gambrell introduced a method for predicting stress and deflection of horizontally curved girder highway bridges which gave close agreement between predicted and measured values. (86) This technique incorporates equilibrium and compatibility equations, boundary conditions, slope deflection equations, and interior support restraint conditions to generate the solution for internal moments, torques, shear forces, deflection, and rotations.

Plane Grid Method: Weissman proposed a method for statically indeterminate analysis of plane grid systems with straight elements which can be used for horizontally curved beams composed of steel I- shaped beams with concrete slab decks. (126) Later on, Beal and Kissane showed through an

experimental and numerical study for New York State DOT that the planar grid method with properly specified member properties was adequate for estimating deflections and in-plane bending stresses. (127) They also demonstrated that lateral flange bending stresses were significant in spite of the fact that they are unaccounted for by this technique.

Victor studied a horizontally curved, steel- girder bridge of welded I-girder and concrete slab analytically (using the planar grid method for curved members) and through a field test. (128) Experimental data demonstrated that the grid method closely predicted the dead load flexural stresses and vertical deflections. Rotations and lateral bending stresses could not be predicted by the grid method for the live load case.

Mondkar and Powell and Powell and Mondkar, at the University of California at Berkeley, presented a computer program CURVBRG based on the plane grid method for analyzing horizontally curved open members. (129,130) The effects of warping torsion were considered rationally, and structural components such as diaphragms and braced (truss type) cross frames were idealized by essentially exact procedures. The bridge cross section was allowed to vary along the length of the member, and changes in form of the structure as construction progresses could be considered. The program was developed to analyze the effects of static loads, support settlement and moving live loads.

In 1975, Beal and Ruby presented a design program for single-span horizontally curved plate girder bridges which is based on planar grid analysis. ⁽¹³¹⁾ During the same time, the method was modifed to include warping of open sections and was implemented into the CUGAR2 program (Lavelle and Laska 1975a, b). ^(132,133)

V-load Method: The V-load method was initially extended to multigirder bridges by United States Steel. (134) Grubb extended the V-load method to composite I-girder bridges with any support configuration. (19) Results for noncomposite and composite I-girders were compared with corresponding results from finite-element curved bridge models. The V-load results for deadloads were very close to the finite element method solutions. The lateral distribution factors used in the analysis had a significant influence on the live-load V-load results. It was also demonstrated that the V-load method should not be used for analyzing closed-framed laterally-braced I-girder systems.

Fiechtl et al. presented the development and an evaluation of the V-load analysis procedure. The V-load method was found suitable for approximate analysis of preliminary bridge designs with composite sections, variable radius of curvature and skewed supports. The authors concluded that the following limitations of the method should always be kept in mind: 1) Transverse distribution factors affect the analysis significantly. 2) The method underestimates inner girder stresses. 3) The effects of bracing in the plane of the bottom flange are not considered by this method. 4) The error in the V-load method is greater for skew supports than radial supports. Poellot proposed a straight forward design approach for curved bridges using the V-Load Method, which was implemented into a computer program called V-LOAD. The derivation and development of the method was given in detail and illustrated by means of a design example. The example deals with structural analysis, sizing of the sections (according to

AASHTO's Guide Specifications for Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges) and the calculation of lateral flange bending, centrifugal force, and forces in crossframes.

DYNAMIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED I-GIRDER BRIDGES

Finite Element Method: A general FE formulation was proposed by Yoo and Fehrenbach to estimate the natural frequencies of thin-walled curved girders. The method considers warping, flexural and torsional rotary inertia and antisymmetry of the cross-section.

Analytical Solution to Differential Equations: The exact solution of the differential equations for free vibrations of simply supported doubly symmetric, and open prismatic curved beams was given by Culver. (136) A method, based on Raleigh-Ritz analysis, was used to calculate the natural frequencies of horizontally curved fixed-fixed or fixed-simply supported beams. Christiano, Christiano and Culver performed a dynamic analysis on single span, horizontally curved bridges subject to moving forcing systems comprised of sprung and unsprung mass components. (137,138,139) The bridge was assumed to be continuous, and composed of thin-walled open members. An infinite series was used to obtain the exact solution to the partial differential equations.

STATIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED BOX GIRDER BRIDGES

Finite Element Method: Meyer pioneered the development of a new refined finite-element method to analyze general non-prismatic folded plate structures with an incorporated three-dimensional frame. The effect of varying major bridge parameters on wheel-load characteristics was studied and design recommendations were proposed. During the same time, box-girder bridges having one or two spans and with curved layout and skewed supports were analyzed using the finite-element method by Sisodiya et al. and then verified by tests on an aluminum bridge model. (141)

In 1971, Scordelis reviewed the analysis methods available for box-girder bridges, and described two methods: Direct Stiffness Harmonic Analysis and the Finite-Element Method. (142) These methods were found appropriate for straight/curved/skewed multi-cell box girders. An element that has a beam-like n-plane displacement field was developed by Lim et al. (143) The element is trapezoidal in shape, and hence can be used to analyze right/skewed/curved box girder bridges with constant depth and width. At the same time, Cheung and Sisodiya derived the inplane stiffness of a parallelogram element by assuming linear function for the longitudinal displacement and linear/cubic for the displacement normal to the axis of the girder. (144) The element was combined with a plate element to create a parallelogram shell element which was used successfully to analyze straight and curved box girders with skewed supports. A stiffness method, which utilizes sector plates and cylindrical shell elements, was developed by Chu and Pinjarkar. (145) The stiffness coefficients of sector plates were derived and similar parameters for shell elements were based on Hoff's solution of Donnell's equations. The method can be applied only to simply-supported bridges without intermediate diaphragms, but can be extended to any

other arrangement. Concurrently, Aneja and Roll tested a plastic model of a horizontally curved box-beam highway bridge and compared the results to a finite-element analysis. (146) The comparison showed a close agreement between the shapes, but not the magnitudes of the stress plots.

Later on, a finite-element method was introduced by Fam and Turkstra, in which annular, cylindrical and conical elements were developed. Analysis proved accurate for static and free-vibration curved box-girder problems. In 1974, a method that uses thin-walled beam elements was proposed by Bazant and El-Nimeiri. The method includes warping, and transverse cross-section distortion and can be applied only to single-cell sections (with overhangs). Shear effects due to shear forces and transverse bimoments were eliminated by using low-order polynomials for transverse displacements and distortions.

Evans and Al-Rifaie conducted 18 tests on box girder models with various curvatures and loading conditions and compared the results with theoretical values obtained from the finite-element method. This method proved quite accurate in the analysis of curved box girders.

During the same time, Fam and Turkstra introduced a finite-element method which utilized straight and curved elements. In-plane, bending and coupling actions and anisotropic behavior were included in the analysis. An experimental study of a single-span horizontally curved plexiglass box-girder beam with diaphragms and flange overhangs, subjected to mid-span loads, was also conducted by Fam and Turkstra. Their experimental results compared favorably to the results of a special purpose finite-element program for the analysis of curved boxes.

Ramesh et al. uncoupled in-plane and out-of-plane forces and neglected shear deformation to introduce a curved element with six degrees of freedom (d.o.f) at each node. Their method is applicable to single and multi-cell sections. Later on, Turkstra and Fam performed a three-dimensional finite-element analysis on single-cell curved box-girder sections with variable curvature, length, web spacing, number of diaphragms, and loading. The numerical procedure showed the importance of warping and distortion in relation to bending. Zhang and Lyons added three extra degrees of freedom to the normal six in the thin-walled beam element formulation to take into account warping, distortion and shear effects. (154)

In 1990, Paavola combined the torsion of thin-walled members with the finite-element method to reduce the size of the computational model used in analyzing closed cross sections. Shanmugam and Balendra conducted an experimental and theoretical study on the behavior of multicell structures curved in plan. The results of eight tests on two perspex models of different span/radius ratios subjected to different loading were compared with theoretical values obtained from the finite-element method; good agreement between the results was observed. Wen and Suhendro averaged the nonlinear part of the axial strain to improve the accuracy in this nonlinear curved three-dimensional beam formulation, which does not include warping. The method utilizes the Newton-Raphson scheme and the Fixed Lagrange coordinates to solve this numerically nonlinear curved beam problem.

Finite Strip Method: The Finite Strip Method (FSM) was first applied to box girders by Meyer when he analyzed simply supported horizontal folded plates. (140) Discussion was given on how to extend the theory to continuous girders. A theoretical and experimental study of the influence of diaphragms on the distortional deformation of box girders was conducted by Sakai and Okumura. (158) Vlasov's folded-plate theory was modified and its results were compared with those of the FSM and experimental data for straight and curved box girders.

Buragohain and Agrawa presented a method based on harmonic analysis in the circumferential direction and a modified finite difference method in the transverse direction. (159) The total potential energy was divided into extensional/bending and shear/twisting for which two element matrices were obtained.

A computer program based on the FSM and harmonic analysis was presented by Kabir and Scordelis for the analysis of continuous prismatic curved folded plate structures with flexible interior diaphragms or supports. (160) Circumferential finite strips were used to represent each plate element, interior diaphragms were modeled as flexible beams, and interior supports were represented as two-dimensional planar frame bents.

Cheung applied the FSM to continuous bridges by introducing a two-noded (straight) and three-noded (curved) strip elements. (161) Results showed that the lower order two-noded element tended to underestimate the stresses and moments in the inner edges of the curved bridge.

Lin and Chen proved the validity and efficiency of the FSM and the CCBG (Continuous Curved Box Girders) program by comparing their results against those of plastic model tests of three span continuous curved box girders. ⁽¹⁶²⁾ In fact, the CCBG program is not limited to box sections but rather can be used in analyzing thin-walled girders of open or closed cross sections. Later on, the spline FSM was extended by Li et al., to handle circular and non circular curvatures. ⁽¹⁶³⁾ Thin shells were used to model the webs, while curved flat plates represented the flanges. Piecewise polynomials were used as shape functions in the transverse direction, and products of B-3 splines were adopted in the longitudinal direction. During the same time, Arizumi, et al. studied the distortional and slip behavior of simply supported curved composite box girders using elastic analysis and static tests. ⁽¹⁶⁴⁾ The results from the FSM (with spring elements for shear connectors), curved beam theory and distortional theory were compared to the static test results and a parametric study was presented to evaluate the effects of cross-sectional deformations on the induced stresses.

In 1991, Shimizu and Yoshida used the FSM to calculate the magnitude of reaction forces to be used in the design of load-bearing diaphragms at the intermediate support of two-span continuous curved box girders. (165)

Finite Difference Method: Horizontally curved box girders on skewed supports were first analyzed using the finite difference method by Komatsu et al. who used the simple torsion theory and the transfer matrix concept to derive the solution. (166,22) Harik and Ekabaram used the classical linear theory of buckling of sector plates in the stability analysis of horizontally and

vertically curved box members. (167) Fourier series and finite differences were used to estimate the critical buckling stresses.

Analytical Solution to Differential Equations: Kirstek worked on tapered and deformable box girders. The cross section was first considered rigid (assuming complementary bracing), and then external forces acting in the direction of the imaginary bracing were applied. The actual solution was basically the combination of the first and second steps. Experimental investigation verified the theory. Kambe extended the modified theory, proposed by R. Heilig, for torsion bending, based on a shear-stress field in equilibrium with warping normal stress, to cover a circularly curved box girder bridge. The modified theory was accurately formulated in terms of cylindrical coordinates. In 1985, Waldron used Vlasov's thin-walled beam theory to obtain the flexibility matrix for single-cell curved box girders. The formulation accounts for curvature, torsional warping and shear deformation.

Slope Deflection Theory: Bonakdarpour et al. and Heins et al. predicted the behavior of a single two-span, three-cell plexiglass model by the slope deflection Fourier series technique. (171,172,173) The experimental results showed the effectiveness of the analytical method used and that single-cell properties could be applied in the analysis, while warping effects were neglected. Furthermore, Bonakdarpour et al. and Heins and Bonakdarpour compared the results from the slope-deflection analytical method with those obtained from testing a series of bridge models with different numbers of spans and diaphragm arrangements, and which consisted of either a bare steel frame system, or a steel frame with a noncomposite or composite concrete deck. (174,175)

Plane Grid Method: The response of a symmetrical, two-span, continuous, horizontally curved steel box-girder bridge was investigated by Kissane and Beal. The planar grid method was compared against experimental analysis. Test results show that the in-plane bending moments for dead and static live loads were approximately 86 percent of their respective theoretical values. The total load carried by the individual girder, however, was within 6 percent of that predicted by the grid method. Lavelle and Laska modified the plane grid method to analyze closed cross sections and truss-type diaphragms and implemented the method in the CUGAR3 computer program. The formulation does not consider the distortion of the cross section and assumes enough bracing is provided at the top of the flange so that the section is truly closed.

In 1989, Hsu developed two curved thin-walled beam elements, based on a Vlasov element and an improved Vlasov element, to analyze horizontally curved steel box girder bridges. (22) The box girders were modeled as thin-walled beams which connect the transverse diaphragms as a planar grid system. When compared to other analytical procedures, the analytical results were found to be accurate enough for bridge design. A distortional thin-walled beam element was also developed to facilitate the analysis.

DYNAMIC ANALYSIS OF CURVED BOX GIRDER BRIDGES

Finite-element Method: Chang et al. proposed a finite-element which includes a seventh warping degree of freedom to avoid having to use more refined finite-elements. (178)

Finite Strip Method: Cheung and Li extended the spline finite-strip method for vibration analysis of curved box-girders. (179) Computational effort was greatly reduced in comparison with the finite-element method.

Finite Difference Method: Heins and Oleinik studied the response of single and multiple span curved single box beam bridges with any number of intermediate diaphragms. (180) A computer program was developed to calculate the forces, stresses, and deformations along the curved bridge. The program was later refined by Heins and Sheu to include the composite action with the concrete deck. (181)

Heins and Sahin used the finite difference method to obtain the natural frequency of curved box girders. The numerical results of this parametric study aided in developing a simplified natural frequency equation expressed in the form:⁽¹⁸²⁾

$$f = \frac{\pi}{2K^2L^2} \sqrt{\frac{EI_x + \frac{EC_w}{R^2} - \frac{GJL^2}{R^2}}{M}}$$
 (1)

In this equation, K = 1 for simple spans and is defined by a quadratic equation (please see reference 182) for two and three-span bridges, and M is the mass.

Space Frame Method: Ho and Reilly and Ho developed the stiffness matrices for single span simply supported curved box beam bridges using the unit load theorem. (183,184) A computer program, CBGB, was written to perform a parametric study that represents ninety bridge configurations with different girder radii, girder spacing, number of lane, number of girders, and span lengths. Two design parameters resulted from this study: 1) Lateral load distribution factors for proportioning wheel loads to a given girder and 2) Modification factors for predicting bending and torsional effects.

Heins and Lin developed a method in which equivalent stiffnesses, that correspond to one rotational and three translational degrees of freedom, were calculated for the entire bridge system. (185,186) These parameters were then used to calculate the natural frequencies for a single-degree-of-freedom (sdof) system. Using response spectrum curves, the system accelerations were predicted. These results, were utilized to develop empirical design equations.

Abdel-Salam and Heins and Abdel-Salam presented the results of a comprehensive study of the seismic response of curved steel box-girder bridges. (187,188) The El Centro earthquake ground motion acceleration record and its corresponding response spectrum were used as dynamic input and the bridge was modeled using three-dimensional space frame elements in which special elements were introduced to account for the curved geometry and boundary conditions. Both response history and response spectrum techniques were performed and results were compared. The simultaneous application of the three components of the earthquake, the effects of damping, noncomposite sections, rotational inertia, and column height were all studied. The maximum dynamic responses were correlated with a static analysis of the bridge, and equivalent

loads and design curves and criteria were developed. A comparison between computer dynamic analysis and the proposed design criteria showed good correlation.

Yilmaz et al. discussed the analysis techniques (single-mode spectral method and multimode spectral method) along with a proposed design guide for curved steel box girder bridges, which incorporates the interaction between bending and torsional forces. The dynamic study was confined to a space frame matrix simulation where a series of typical elements attached rigidly together were used to form a continuous curved box girder bridge. A study of the seismic response of curved steel box girder bridges was conducted by Abdel-Salam and Heins. The bridge was modeled using three-dimensional space frame elements, and the El Centro earthquake accelerogram was used as a dynamic input to calculate the maximum responses at the bridge deck and columns. A 6-element curved model having short end elements with appropriate member releases was found to yield satisfactory results.

CHAPTER III. CURVED I-GIRDER BRIDGES

LOADS

Load Distribution: Heins and Siminou developed equations giving distribution factors for curved-bridge systems consisting of four, six, and eight girders. (191) These equations resulted from analytical solutions based upon the slope deflection method. (192) Heins and Jin used the computer program SAP to build a three-dimensional space frame model, that included the effect of diaphragms and bottom lateral bracing, to examine the load distribution on horizontally curved Igirders. (193) Numerical results were compared with those from two experiments conducted by Brennan and Armstrong, and were then used to develop empirical equations applicable to curved bridges analyzed by the grid method. (194,195,196) Brockenbrough used the finite-element code MSC/NASTRAN to analyze three-dimensional models of two-span continuous curved bridges without bottom lateral bracing. (197) The model consisted of the entire bridge including the concrete deck and the cross frames. Results of the analysis showed that variations in girder stiffness and cross frame spacing had negligible effects on the distribution factors, while the girder spacing and central angle per span had the largest effects. The authors also concluded that distribution factors in the 1980 AASHTO Guide Specification Commentary were very conservative, the Heins and Siminou factors were unconservative, and recommended that the Heins and Jin factors not be used. (191,193,198) An approximate equation based on a V-load modification of the distribution factors for straight girders was found to agree with finite-element results for exterior girders, but was conservative for the interior girders. AISC Marketing extended the work of Brockenbrough and developed a system of individual computer programs for the calculation of load distribution factors for both straight and curved I-girder bridges for use with line-girder programs. (197,199,200)

Impact: The current specifications regarding the impact factors given in the commentary to the I-Girder portion of the AASHTO guide specification were based on an investigation by Chaudhari and Shore at the University of Pennsylvania. (201) In that study, the finite-element method was used with annular plate, thin-walled curved beam, straight prismatic beam, and frame-type diaphragm elements. The inertia properties of the elements were obtained by assuming linear elastic behavior and small displacements. Warping of the cross section, and the centrifugal forces due to the vehicle's movement were included in the analysis and the vehicle was idealized as a sprung mass supported on two unsprung masses. The bridge-vehicle interaction led to a set of differential equations of motion whose coefficients vary with the speed of the vehicle. These equations were solved using the computer program DYNCRB/IG (Dynamic Analysis of Curved Bridges/I-Girders) implemented by Chaudhari and the numerical time integration was performed using the linear-acceleration method. (202) This computer program is an extension of another program, STACRB, developed for static analysis of horizontally curved bridges. (203) Chaudhari and Shore concluded that the impact factors increase with the speed of the vehicles, but do not significantly change with the span length. Furthermore, this study showed that the impact factors for the support reactions and diaphragm stresses for curved bridges are higher than those for a straight bridge with equal span, and that the factors for a two-span bridge are less than those of a single

span bridge. The study also recommended that the high impact factors for the bimoment in curved I-girders be taken into consideration in the design process.

STABILITY

Flange-Slenderness Requirements: The combination of both bending and warping in an Ishaped curved girder results in a nonuniform distribution of the stress across the compression flange width. Therefore, the outside part of the flange will buckle at a stress value different from that of the inside part. To study the buckling problem of a curved I-shape girder, Culver and Frampton examined analytically the elastic buckling case in which each half of the flange was treated separately as an isotropic sector plate free on one edge and rotationally restrained along the other edge by the web and the other half of the flange. (204,205) The fundamental equation of buckling was then written in polar coordinates and solved numerically using the finite difference method. This investigation was later extended by Culver and Nasir to cover not only the elastic but also the inelastic flange local buckling behavior. (206,207) In the inelastic range, the mathematical model was based upon the assumption of orthotropic behavior. Their numerical results showed that the influence of curvature is very small for flange curvature ratios $1 \times 10^{-6} < b/R < 0.01$, and that as yielding spreads across the flange, both the buckling stress and the buckled wave length decrease. The design recommendations resulting from this study suggested that the width to thickness ratio be limited to that set forth in the 1969 AISC Specification for straight rolled compact beams $(b/t \le 1650/\sqrt{F_y})$ where F_y is in psi. (208) Culver presented a summary of his research related to proportioning the compression flange in a horizontally curved I-girder and pointed out that the total stress (warping plus bending) at the flange tip must be limited to 0.55 Fy if the AASHTO b/t limit for straight girders is used for curved girders. (209) In such a case, the factor of safety against local buckling for both straight and curved I-girders becomes essentially the same regardless of the ratio of bending to warping stress. This notion has been adopted in the AASHTO Guide Specification, where the flange local buckling criterion is based only on the b/t ratio. This notion was challenged recently by Kang and Yoo who used the finite-element code MSC/NASTRAN to demonstrate that in a curved girder, local buckling of the flange is affected not only by the width to thickness ratio, but also by the initial curvature and the warping normal stress. (210) Komatsu and Kitada use an elasto-plastic finite displacement analysis to study the ultimate strength of outstanding steel plates with initial imperfections. (211) Results of this study were used to conclude that local buckling of the flange will not occur if: (13, 212,213)

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{F_y}{F_{cr}}} = \frac{b}{t} \sqrt{\frac{12(1-v^2)}{0.43\pi^2} \frac{F_y}{E}} \le 0.5$$
 (2)

resulting in a limiting flange slenderness ratio:

$$\frac{b}{t} \le 0.312 \sqrt{\frac{E}{F_y}} \tag{3}$$

Web-Slenderness Requirements: The web-slenderness requirements for a curved I-girder differ significantly from those of straight girders. These requirements are often based upon both the bending behavior, shear behavior, combination of the two, and the web out-of-plane deflections. The web in a curved I-girder may be stiffened transversely, longitudinally, or both.

Transversely Stiffened Web

Current AASHTO web-slenderness requirements for a curved I-girder are based on the analytical studies conducted by Culver et al.. (214, 215) In these studies, the web panel was modeled as a series of isolated elastically supported cylindrical strips subjected to appropriate load distributions. (216) The stress state in each cylindrical strip was determined from the total potential energy of a nonlinear arch model using the Rayleigh-Ritz method. Numercial results were generated and a curve fitting technique was used to develop the following web-slenderness requirement:

$$\frac{d}{t_w} \le \frac{36,000}{\sqrt{F_y}} \left[1 - 8.6 \left(\frac{a}{R} \right) + 34 \left(\frac{a}{R} \right)^2 \right] \tag{4}$$

where d and $t_{\rm W}$ are the depth and thickness of the web respectively. An extension of this work was published a year later, when Culver et al. used a two-way shell model to check the accuracy of the isolated elastically supported cylindrical strips by treating the panel as a unit rather than as individual strips. (217) The work also included the effects of longitudinal stiffeners.

During almost the same time, Abdel-Sayed studied analytically the pre buckling and the elastic buckling behavior of curved webs, and proposed approximate conservative equations for the estimation of the critical load under pure normal loading (stress), pure shear, and combined normal and shear loading. (218) He used the linear theory of shells, neglected the effect of torsional rigidity of the flanges, and assumed the transverse stiffeners to be rigid in their directions (thus no strains could be developed along the edges of the panels) to obtain the governing differential equations that were solved using the Galerkin method.

In 1980, Daniels et al. summarized the Lehigh University five-year experimental research program on the fatigue behavior of horizontally curved bridges and concluded that the CURT slenderness limits were too severe, and developed one equation for Load Factor Design in the form:⁽²¹⁹⁾

$$\frac{d}{t_w} \le \frac{36,500}{\sqrt{F_y}} \left[1 - 4\left(\frac{a}{R}\right) \right] \le 192 \tag{5}$$

and one equation for Allowable Stress Design in the form:

$$\frac{d}{t_w} \le \frac{23,000}{\sqrt{f_b}} \left[1 - 4\left(\frac{a}{R}\right) \right] \le 170 \tag{6}$$

The latter equation is now used in the 1993 AASHTO Guide Specifications For Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges.

In 1984, Mikami and Furunishi studied the nonlinear behavior of cylindrical web panels of horizontally curved plate girders subjected to pure bending and combined bending and shear. (220) They used the Washisu's nonlinear theory of shells to derive a set of differential equations solved by the finite difference method. Numerical values of the load, deflection, membrane stress, bending stress, and torsional stress were obtained for various values of panel aspect ratio and curvature. The work concluded that as the curvature increases, the membrane stress in the circumfential direction decreases. Furthermore, a curved panel under combined bending and shear will experience higher bending stress and lower level of circumfential membrane stress than those resulting from pure bending.

Transverse Stiffener Requirements

Culver et al. and Mariani et al. studied analytically curved web panels under pure shear using the Donnell shell equation and the Galerkin method. (221,222) They concluded that the required stiffener rigidity for a curved web is less than that for a straight web if the panel aspect ratio a/d is less than 0.78. Here 'a' is the distance between transverse stiffeners and d is the depth of the web. And, for $0.78 \le a/d \le$, the required stiffener rigidity increases with curvature in the amount

$$+\frac{1}{1,775}\left(\frac{a}{d}-0.78\right)Z^4$$
 where Z is a curvature parameter defined as $Z=\left[a^2/(Rt)\right]\sqrt{1-v^2}$ with

 $a/d \le 1$. In these equations, R is the radius to the centerline of the web, t is thickness of the web, and ν is Poisson's ratio. The study was limited to curved girders in which $0 \le Z \le 10$.

In 1984, Nakai, Kitada, Ohminami, and Fukomuto presented analytically a beam-column model to estimate the strength of transverse stiffeners in curved girders. The analytical results were compared with experiments conducted by Nakai et al., which led to a recommendation that the relative rigidity parameter β , defined as the ratio between required rigidity of a transverse stiffeners in horizontally curved girders to that in straight girders (as specified in the Japanese specification), must be the following: (225)

• For stiffeners attached to one side of the web plate:

$$\beta = \begin{cases} 1.0 + (\alpha - 0.69)Z[9.38\alpha - 7.67 - (1.49\alpha - 1.78)Z], & \text{for} \quad 0.69 \le \alpha \le 1.0 \\ 1.0 & \text{for} \quad \alpha < 0.69 \end{cases}$$
(7)

• For stiffeners attached to both sides of web plate:

$$\beta = \begin{cases} 1.0 + (\alpha - 0.65)Z[12.67\alpha - 10.42 - (1.99\alpha - 2.49)Z], & for & 0.65 \le \alpha \le 1.0 \\ 1.0 & for & \alpha < 0.65 \end{cases}$$
(8)

where $\alpha = a/d$.

Longitudinally Stiffened Web

In a paper described earlier, (217) Culver et al. generated numerical results from their analytical model and then used a curve fitting approach to obtain the following slenderness requirement for a curved web stiffened with one longitudinal stiffener situated in the compressive stress region:

$$\frac{d}{t_{w}} \le \frac{46,000}{f_{b}} \left[1 - 2.9 \sqrt{\frac{a}{R}} + 2.2 \frac{a}{R} \right] \tag{9}$$

Longitudinal Stiffener Requirements

THE 1986 JAPANESE PAPER BY NAKAI, KITADA, OHMINAMI, AND KAWAI DEALS WITH THE DESIGN OF LONGITUDINAL STIFFENERS FOR CURVED GIRDERS. (226)

Overall Buckling: A horizontally curved girder loaded normal to its plane of curvature will bend and twist simultaneously. Early works on the subject were developed by Vlasov and Dabrowski whose formulations were based on the undeformed structure. (227,228) Culver and McManus presented a second-order analysis in which the equilibrium equations were formulated on the deformed structure. (229,230) Results obtained in this study were compared to those of lateral buckling tests conducted in 1971 by Mozer et al. (231) The study recommended a set of formulae that were later adopted, and still are, in the 1993 AASHTO Guide Specifications for Horizontally Curved Bridges.

In 1987, Nishida et al. used the large deflection theory of curved members to derive the following approximate critical elastic moment for a curved beam subjected to two equal end moments: (232)

$$M_{cr} \approx \sqrt{\left(1 - \frac{L^2}{\pi^2 R^2}\right) \frac{\pi^2 E I_y}{L^2} \left(GJ + \frac{\pi^2 E C_w}{L^2}\right)}$$
 (10)

In the above expression, when R approaches infinity, $M_{C\Gamma}$ approaches the elastic critical buckling moment for a straight girder.

Yoo used the minimum potential energy principle to obtain solutions for the determination of the elastic flexural-torsional buckling loads for in-plane and of out-of-plane buckling modes of thin-walled curved beams that do not undergo local buckling. [233,234] In 1983, Yoo and Pfeiffer investigated the elastic buckling of thin-walled curved members through a variational-based finite-element formulation. Solutions to different cases pertaining to the stability of curved beams were obtained and compared against existing solutions obtained by Timoshenko and Gere, Vlasov, and Culver. Numerical results obtained in this study were significantly different from those of Timoshenko, Vlasov and Culver. The discrepancies were attributed to incorrect formulations in Timoshenko and Vlasov's cases, and to the fact that the governing differential equation was viewed as a deflection-amplification problem rather than a classical eigenvalue problem in Culver. Yoo and Pfeiffer presented a solution to the stability of curved beams with in-plane deformation and asserted their earlier conclusion related to the discrepancies

with existing solutions including, this time, the work of Vacharajittuphahn et al. and Vacharajittuphahn and Trahair, which are essentially based on Vlasov's formulation. (237,238) In 1985, Yoo and Carbine (239) carried out a series of laboratory tests on 12 W10x12 simply supported curved beam specimens subjected to concentrated loads. The length of each specimen was approximately 6.1 m (20 ft) with a subtended angle ranging from 00 to 300. Specimens were loaded from the top flange in one case and from the bottom flange in another case. All specimens reached their ultimate loads, which were higher than the analytically predicted buckling load values from Yoo and Pfeiffer. Bottom flange loaded specimens had higher ultimate loads and showed lower cross sectional deformations than top flange loaded specimens. Papangelis and Trahair examined experimentally the work of Yoo and Yoo and Pfeiffer by conducting tests on circular aluminum arches. They concluded that the theoretical loads obtained from the work of Yoo differ substantially from various analytical and experimental results of various researchers. (240,241,242,243,244) The conflict among these curved beam theories was also discussed in a series of publications by Yang and Kuo, who derived the nonlinear differential equations of equilibrium for horizontally curved I-beams by making use of the principle of virtual displacements to establish the equilibrium of a bar in its deformed or buckled configuration. (245,246,247) Numerical results were obtained and compared with those resulting from Yoo's as well as Vlasov's theories. The authors attributed the discrepancy between their results and Yoo's to the fact that Yoo not only neglected both the radial stress effect and the contribution of shear stresses to the potential energy, but also substituted the curvature terms of the curved beam in the potential energy equation of a straight beam. In a recent paper published in 1991, Kuo and Yang further criticized the work of Vlasov and Yoo and supported their argument by solving numerically the buckling problem of a curved beam with solid cross section under uniform bending in one case and uniform compression in another case. (80) Based on a finite-element study. Kang and Yoo showed that initial curvature and warping do not affect lateral-torsional buckling strength of curved girders with a subtended angle between two adjacent cross bracings up to 0.1 radian, the maximum value allowed in the current AASHTO Guide Specifications. (210)

ULTIMATE STRENGTH AND DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS

Culver and McMannus studied analytically and experimentally the elastic and inelastic behavior of horizontally curved girders and made design recommendations that were essentially adopted in the AASHTO Guide Specifications. (229)

Fukomoto and Nishida (1981) tested six simply supported single curved I-beams under a concentrated load. (248) Curvatures, including out-of straightness of these sections (L/8R), varied from 1/1379 to 1/97, with L and R being the curved arc length and the radius of the beam respectively. Both numerical and experimental results of this investigation agreed quite well. For a curved I-girder under two equal end moments, it was shown that as value of the end moments increases, the horizontal displacement of the curved girder increases up to a value approximately equal to 0.8 of the flange width, then it reverses direction, while the vertical deflection as well as the angle of twist increases as the value of the end moment increases. It was also shown that early yielding due to residual stresses decreases the ultimate strength. The authors proposed an approximate ultimate strength formula that requires a solution of the following quartic equation:

$$\lambda^4 \delta^4 - \left\{ \left[1 + \frac{P_E (d-t)}{2M_p} \left(\frac{L^2}{2Rb_f} \right) \right] \lambda^4 + 1 \right\} \delta^2 - \left(\frac{L^2}{2Rb_f} \right) \delta + 1 = 0$$
 (11)

where
$$\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{M_p}{M_E}}$$
, $\delta = \frac{M_u}{M_p}$, $M_p \cong F_y b_f t (d - t)$, and $P_E = \frac{\pi^2 E I_y}{L^2}$

In 1983, Yoshida and Maegawa presented the finite-displacement formulation of the transfer matrix to study the ultimate strength of horizontally curved I-beams. (249) The analysis covers elastic and inelastic behavior, and the ensuing numerical results were in good agreement with the experiments conducted by Fukomoto and Nishida. (248)

Perhaps the simplest equation predicting the ultimate bending strength of a horizontally curved I-girder is presented by Nakai et al. and also by Kitada et al. (250,213) The equation is of the form:

$$M_{u} = \left[1.92 + 0.357 \frac{L^{2}}{Rb_{f}} \right] M_{a} \tag{12}$$

where M_a is the allowable bending moment, as defined in the Japanese Specification for a straight I-girder subjected to bending and torsion. This equation is empirical and based upon 19 tests in which the elements comprising the cross sections are classified as compact, and the a/d ratio is less than one. Furthermore, the above equation is valid only when a curvature parameter defined as $Z_o \approx \frac{a^2}{8Rt_w}$ is less than one.

In addition to the bending strength, the ultimate strength of curved I-girders under shear and under combined shear and bending were addressed by Nakai et al. and also by Kitada et al. who concluded that Rocky's model for straight plate girders can be used to estimate the ultimate shear strength in curved girders as long as the curvature parameter Z_o (virtually all experiments conducted by the Japanese researchers had a/d < 1). (223,225,212,251) In addition, interaction curves related to the ultimate strength under combined bending and shear were also provided. The Japanese technical papers by Mikami et al., Kuranishi and Hiwatashi, Nakai et al. form the basis of the ultimate strength studies discussed briefly earlier under this section. (252,253,50,254)

DIAPHRAGMS, CROSS FRAMES, AND LATERAL BRACING

In 1986, Yoo and Littrell used the computer program SAP to study the effects of cross-bracing in curved bridges. (255) A single span curved bridge consisting of six 1.52 m (60 in) deep plate girders spaced 2.75 m (9 ft) apart was modeled using eight-noded brick elements and truss members. The bridge model was then analyzed under dead and live loads for different curvatures.

The parametric study results were analyzed by linear and nonlinear regression and resulted in the development of the following design equation for the maximum bracing spacing:

$$S_{\text{max}} = L \left[-\ln \left(\frac{F_{\text{ws}}}{18.890} \frac{R}{L} \right) \right]^{-1.3364}$$
 (13)

where F_{WS} is a factor for warping stress due to dead and live loads. It is usually selected arbitrarily, but should be kept less than 0.5.

In 1989, Schelling et al. presented a study concerning the construction effects on bracing on curved I-girders. (256) In this study, the authors considered the response of single and continuous-span, horizontally curved, single and multigirder bridges under the girders own self weight and the placement of the concrete deck. The effects of top and bottom lateral bracing system during construction was also studied. The investigation resulted in a set of equations that define the dead load distributions throughout the superstructure system analyzed by the two-dimensional grid method.

FATIGUE

Akehashi et al. presented the results of an experimental study pertaining to the fatigue strength of the web-to-flange fillet welds in horizontally curved I-girders. (257) In this paper, which provides minimum details, three plate-girder models, with web-slenderness ratios of 144, were tested under concentrated loads for 200,000,000 cycles. The authors concluded that there would be no cracks at the web-to-flange fillet weld as long as the web out-of-plane bending stress is limited to that set forth in the Japanese specification.

HEAT CURVING

Brockenbrough studied the effect of heat curving on the residual stress, strain, and curvature of a bridge girder. (258,259,260) In the analytical model, a perfect elastic-plastic, temperature-dependent stress-strain relationship was used for the steel, and heat-transfer theory for a semi-infinite plate was used to obtain the temperature profiles in the girder flanges. Both the experimental and analytical approaches led to close results. It was shown that the residual stresses after heat curving increased, except at the mid-width of the flange where welding reduced the initial stress. The tensile residual stress along the heated flange edges reached the yield point, but was less at the opposite flange tips. A plastic flow of residual strain was noticed in the heated width of the flange, while a linearly varying strain was detected across the flange. The web bowed due to the compressive residual stress. The heat-curving procedure caused an increase in the yield point at the heated edge, while resulted in a decrease at an interior position on the flange, but had an insignificant effect on the yield point elsewhere. Furthermore, the final curvature resulting from the residual strain distribution generally increased with maximum temperature applied during curving.

Criteria for heat curving rolled beams and welded girders were also formulated by Brockenbrough. The criteria were adopted by AASHO in 1969, and were based on two provisions. The first is the minimum radius requirement, which was adopted to prevent the web from excessive bowing. The second is the requirement for increase in vertical camber that was provided to minimize vertical residual deflections, or loss in camber which results from inelastic action under initial loadings. Brockenbrough's studies resulted in the development of fabrication aids for heat curved girders. (262,263)

In 1979, Daniels and Batcheler presented the results of a study of the effects of heat curving on the fatigue strength of plate girders. Their analytical parametric study of the residual stresses and strains due to heat curving indicated that heat curving had little influence on the fatigue strength of plate girders. A summary of this task along with other tasks of the study was also given by Daniels et al. in which I and box sections were investigated. (219)

A simply supported span was monitored during construction of a heat-curved girder bridge by Hilton to investigate the camber loss in the bridge. (265,266) Although some construction camber loss occurred shortly after the concrete deck was placed, it was only a quarter of that determined by the AASHTO equation. Furthermore, service camber losses almost ceased after 6 1/2 months. The total loss (construction plus service) was 13 percent of that predicted by AASHTO, which indicated that the equation adopted in the code may only be applicable to certain radii ranges.

CURVED COMPOSITE I-GIRDERS

The ultimate behavior of horizontally curved composite I-girder bridges was studied in 1972 by Yoo and Yoo and Heins who proposed the following yield equation that accounts for the interaction between the torsional and bending forces: (267,268)

$$\left(\frac{M}{M_p}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{T}{T_p}\right)^2 = 1\tag{14}$$

Where M_p and T_p are the plastic moment and plastic torque of the cross-section, respectively. The bending term M assumes only normal bending moment and neglects the normal warping stresses. Such an assumption is usually justified in curved composite girders. The paper also provides a number of design charts and equations for the plastic design of curved composite girders.

In 1973, Colville conducted experiments on four curved steel-concrete single girders that were simply supported. (269,270) Two of the test specimens failed in torsion and the other two failed in combined bending and torsion. Results of tests were used to derive a design procedure for the design of shear connectors in a composite curved girder. This procedure was adopted in the Guide Specifications for Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges. (14)

	1 1 1 1

CHAPTER IV. CURVED BOX GIRDER BRIDGES

LOADS

Impact: The impact factors formerly specified in the 1987 AASHTO Guide Specification for horizontally curved box-girder sections were a result of a study by Rabizadeh, Shore and Rabizadeh, and Rabizadeh and Shore. (271, 272, 273) The computer program DYNCRB/BG (Dynamic Analysis of Curved Bridges/Box-Girders) developed by Rabizadeh and Shore was used for the dynamic analysis. (272,274) In this study, annular plates and cylindrical shells were used to model the slab, bottom flanges and webs, while rectangular plates and bar elements were used to model the diaphragms. Damping was neglected but centrifugal forces were considered in the analysis. Mass condensation was used to uncouple part of the differential equations, and the linear acceleration method was used to solve the dynamic problem. (275) The study covered only limited cases.

Galdos and Schelling et al. investigated the dynamic impact factors for horizontally curved steel box girder bridges under heavy truck loadings. (276, 277, 278) The curved bridges were modeled using an improved two-dimensional grid method, which accounts for the dynamic bridge behavior. The truck loads were modeled as a pair of concentrated forces moving along in circumferential paths. Bridge damping in these studies were neglected. Various number of spans and girders were studied and an impact factor criterion which leads to lower impact values, was proposed to extend the former AASHTO criteria. Such criteria were recently adopted in the 1993 AASHTO Guide.

STABILITY

Compression Flange Design: The compression flange of a horizontally curved box girder is subjected to both normal and shearing stresses. The normal stresses are due to bending, non uniform torsion, and distortion of the cross section. The shearing stresses are from both the initial girder curvature, the nonuniform torsion and St. Venant torsion.

In 1970, Culver and Nasir studied analytically the elastic and inelastic buckling behavior of an unstiffened flange of a curved box girder. The flange was idealized as a simply supported sector plate subjected to a combination of in-plane normal and shearing stresses. The assumption of a simply supported sector plate is conservative because it neglects the restraint provided by the webs and the restraint resulting from the torsional rigidity when a diaphragm or cross frame is present. The in-plane normal bending stress was assumed to be uniformly distributed across the flange width thereby neglecting the shear lag effects, and the shearing stresses were assumed to have a linear distribution. The energy approach was used to formulate the buckling problem, and the solution was obtained by the Rayleigh-Ritz method. Results of this study showed that yielding of the compression flange significantly reduces the flange buckling stiffness, which appeared to affect the normal stress more than the shear stress. Furthermore, it was shown for practical box-girder proportions that the influence of curvature of the compression flange on the buckling coefficient was not significant.

ULTIMATE STRENGTH

In 1978, Yonezawa et al. examined experimentally the ultimate behavior of a horizontally curved box girder with a longitudinally stiffened deck plate. The experimental model consisted of a welded 600-mm (23.6-in.) wide and 300-mm (11.8-in.) deep box girder. The span of the model was 4200-mm (165-in.) along its centerline with a radius of curvature equal to 4000-mm (15.7 in.). The specimen was tested under two concentrated loads and the top flange failed due to inelastic buckling. A year later, Dogaki et al. tested another specimen of almost the same dimensions to failure, which also occurred in the top flange due to a combination of local and overall buckling. The ultimate loads for these two specimens were compared with various existing analytical methods that were primarily developed for straight girders. In 1985, Yonezawa et al. presented an analytical method to predict the elastic buckling of orthogonally stiffened sector plates under uniaxial compression uniformly distributed at the straight edges. (282)

Arizumi et al. reported on tests involving three composite box girders with different cross sections and radii, but the same length. (283) The boundary conditions were designed so that simple supports for bending and fixed supports for torsion were obtained. A single load was applied at four different locations.

Daniels conducted a full-scale test on a horizontally curved composite box girder that was initially designed for fatigue testing. (284) The box section was 965 mm (38 in) wide and 876 mm (34.5 in) deep and the concrete slab was 1524 mm (60 in) wide and 203 mm (8 in) deep. Before casting the concrete slab, the specimen was first tested under a concentrated load located at midspan above the outside web. The load was kept low in the elastic range and a load-deflection behavior of the box was established. In the second stage, a Bridgeform was attached to the box girder using screws. Two different patterns of screws were investigated, and the girder was in each case subjected to low static loads. In the final stage, the box section along with the concrete slab were tested to failure. Test results showed that a steel Bridgeform with a closer screw pattern reduced the vertical deflection and the rotation of the box significantly over those of the open section (without a Bridgeform). For the composite box section, a premature failure in the concrete slab occurred, therefore results pertaining to the ultimate strength were inconclusive.

DIAPHRAGMS AND CROSS FRAMES

Intermediate Diaphragms: The use of intermediate diaphragms in curved box girder bridges subjected to external loads is always necessary in order to provide adequate rigidity, which will in turn minimize the cross-sectional distortions that result in large normal stresses. Oleinik and Heins and Oleinik used the formulations developed by Vlasov and Dabrowski to examine the load-deformation and cross-sectional deformations of horizontally curved box girders. (See references 285, 286, 180, 227 and 228.) A computer program was written to solve the governing differential equation for cross-sectional deformations using the finite difference numerical technique. The accuracy of the resulting solutions was checked by making a comparison to closed-form results obtained by Dabrowski, and by comparing the numerical results to

experimental data obtained from tests conducted at Carnegie-Mellon University. A parametric study was used to develop a number of design equations. It was pointed out that the addition of diaphragms in a curved box girder will minimize the normal distortional stresses without affecting the flexural stress distribution in the member. In 1980, Nakai et al. studied analytically the distortion of horizontally curved box girders using Dabrowski's equation, whose numerical solution was obtained by the transfer matrix method. (287) The theoretical results were compared with experimental data obtained from tests conducted on four plexiglass models of the same span length, radius of curvature, and central angle, but with different numbers of diaphragms. The results of this paper were further utilized by Nakai and Murayama to develop three approximate equations for estimating the distortional warping stresses for horizontally curved box girder bridges subjected to a distributed dead load, a distributed live load, and a line live load. (288) In 1989, Yabuki and Arizumi studied analytically and experimentally the normal distribution of the distortional deformations in the cross-section of single span curved box-girder bridges. (289) In the analytical part, the distortional warping response of the box girder was modeled as a beam on an elastic foundation. The diaphragms were modeled as additional springs attached to the beam. The solution of the fourth-order differential equation was obtained numerically by the finite difference method. In the experimental part, two steel models were tested. Both models had a radius of 12 m and a central angle of 30°. Rigid diaphragms were provided at the end supports. The first model however had only one intermediate diaphragm at the center, while the second had five equally spaced intermediate diaphragms. The test models were subjected to a single concentrated load at the middle of the box width at mid-span point. Normal stress distributions and load-deformation characteristics were obtained experimentally and showed good agreement with analytical calculations despite the lack of exact modeling of the boundary conditions. Extensive numerical parametric results showed that the distortional warping stress increases as the central angle increases. In addition, it was concluded that the empirical equations proposed by Nakai and Murayama for predicting the distortional stress were in good agreement with the present study for the cases of distributed dead load and line live load only. (288) For the case of uniformly distributed live load, the distortional stress equation was modified. Provisions pertaining to the spacing of intermediate diaphragms in steel curved box girder bridges were formulated.

In 1979, Daniels, Abraham, and Yin presented the results of a finite-element study concerning the effect of spacing of the rigid interior diaphragms on the fatigue strength of curved steel box girders. The results showed that reducing the interior diaphragm spacing effectively controls the distortional normal and bending stresses, and increases the fatigue strength of curved steel box girders.

FATIGUE

Inukia et al. investigated the stress history data on the Fort Duquesne Bridge over the Allegheny River in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania to examine the fatigue strength of the details in the curved composite box girders; in particular, the termination of transverse stiffeners at intermediate diaphragms and the discontinuous backup bars at the flange-to-web junction. The bridge had three continuous spans; the centerline arch length of each span was 30.48 m (100 ft) and the radii for each span were 260 m (853 ft), 263 m (863 ft), and 260 m (853 ft), respectively. Transverse

diaphragms were provided every 3.048 m (10 ft). The field testing was conducted on the middle span, whose cross section contained both transverse and longitudinal stiffeners. To simulate AASHTO HS20 loading, the FHWA's truck load was used and run at speeds of 8 km/h (5 mi/h) to simulate the static load and between 69 and 80 km/h (43 to 50 mi/h) to simulate the dynamic load. Experimental data was collected over 5 days. The study concluded that transverse stiffeners used as connection plates for the diaphragm should be rigidly attached to both flanges so that at the transverse stiffener-to-flange gap, local stresses (bending in the vertical direction) are small. In addition, backup bars that are discontinuous are prone to fatigue crack propagation, and thus they must be made continuous and treated as structural components in the bridge, or preferably eliminated.

Daniels and Batcheler evaluated the fatigue performance of eight types of welded details categorized as AASHTO Fatigue Categories B, C, D, and E by testing three full-scale curved box girders subjected to approximately 2,000,000 constant amplitude load cycles. (292) Results showed that AASHTO Category B, C, D, and E details for straight girders were appropriate for curved girders as well. It was also recommended that special attention be given to the design of internal diaphragm connections at which secondary fatigue crack growth can occur as a result of out-of-plane forces and displacements if not detailed properly.

FIELD TESTS

Heins and Lee examined the static and dynamic response of a two-span continuous curved box bridge located in Seoul, Korea. (293) Measured deflections and mean normal stresses at the bottom flange, top flange, and web correlated reasonably well against analytical values obtained from three computer programs, CURSGL, STRUDL, and SAP. (71) The largest values of impact factors calculated from deflection and stress measurements were 0.75 and 0.16, respectively. The experimental natural frequency of the bridge was found to be 2.7 c/s and agreed quite well with the calculated value, 2.6 c/s, using the expression derived by Heins and Sahin. (182)

DESIGN AIDS

Heins presented design equations applicable to practical straight and curved steel composite box girder bridges of moderate length from 15.6 to 78 m (50 to 250 ft). (294) Included were approximate formulae for the section geometry, load distribution, calculation of forces, and bracing requirements.

CHAPTER V. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER STUDIES

This task resulted in the identification of approximately 750 references pertaining to a wide range of analytical and experimental investigations on horizontally curved I- and box girder bridges. These references are placed in an electronic data base that is easy to access, query, and update as additional research is completed. Of the 750 surveyed references, 300 references were reviewed briefly in this report, about 210 references were recommended for further review (140 of these references were difficult to obtain), while the remaining 240 references were placed in the bibliography. While specific recommendations can only be made when the references categorized in this report are examined thoroughly in future tasks of this project and in the NCHRP Project 12-38, some recommendations deserving immediate attention, in the writers' views, are summarized in the following sections.

ANALYSIS METHODS

1- The plane grid and space frame methods treat curved members as straight members, and hence are recommended to be used only for preliminary design purposes. The V-load method, which was applied to I-girders only, underestimates inner girder stresses and does not consider the bracing effect in the plane of the bottom flange. In addition, the reliability of these results is dependent on the selection of the transverse live-load distribution factors. Thus the V-load method can only be recommended for preliminary analysis.

Among the refined methods, the finite-element method is probably the most involved and time consuming. However, it is still the most general, accurate and comprehensive technique that has been applied to static/dynamic elastic/inelastic analysis with different mechanical and thermal loading. The other refined methods proved to be as accurate as the finite method, but are limited to certain configurations and boundary conditions and they are generally more cumbersome to use. To facilitate using the finite-element method for the analysis of horizontally curved bridges, it is recommended to incorporate a special-purpose user-friendly graphical interface to the existing computer codes, which would expedite modeling and discretizing of the structure and allow the user to view results and modify the loading, boundary conditions and/or configuration. (295,296)

- 2- Although a number of publications dealt with the geometrically and/or materially nonlinear behavior of horizontally curved bridges, the issue of performing inelastic analysis of the entire bridge system has not been addressed clearly. The basic questions that require answers are summed up in the following: when, why, and how should the bridge engineer pursue a rather involved nonlinear analysis? Also, can simplified approximations be made to take some advantage of reserve strength of those members that do not require detailed inelastic analyses.
- 3- An up-to-date survey on the available software for analyzing horizontally curved bridges similar to that published in 1978 by Schelling et al. would be extremely useful. (297) Such a

survey should clearly state the analytical method adopted in each computer package, the assumptions and limitations, the type of elements available, the design and visual/graphical capabilities of the programs, their abilities to generate elements and/or loads, and some bench mark tests to calibrate the performance of such programs. In addition, a concise document comparing results from various analytical methods, including three-dimensional finite element analysis, to those of field measurements must be prepared.

BEHAVIOR OF CURVED GIRDER BRIDGES DURING CONSTRUCTION

- 1- The stability issue of curved box and I-girder bridges during construction is limited to the analytical work of Schelling et al. (256) This work should be examined further using three-dimensional finite element analysis, and extended to cover box-girder bridges with single and multiple spans. In addition, the analytical study should address the effects of ties, bracing, web stiffeners, etc. on the distortional behavior of horizontally box and I-girder bridges during construction.
- 2- A field experimental investigation must be carried out to measure the internal forces and deformation in the girders and in the bracing system during construction. Comparison between the analytical and experimental data must be made. Recommendations addressing the analysis method or the level of analysis required for predicting the behavior of curved girder bridges under construction need to be developed.
- 3- Cost-effective construction methods and erection guidelines that incorporate the experiences of steel fabricators and erectors must be developed.

ULTIMATE STRENGTH OF CURVED BOX AND I-GIRDERS

- 1- Experiments demonstrating local buckling and/or lateral-torsional buckling limit states for single and multiple curved I-girder system must be conducted. The study should include composite and non-composite I-girders comprised of plate elements with different slenderness ratios. The experimental study must be accompanied by an analytical investigation to address the validity of existing, often controversial, theoretical solutions or it must develop new ones. The same recommendations also apply to curved box girders.
- 2- Experiments demonstrating the limit states in a transversely and/or longitudinally stiffened web should be conducted. The investigation should include cases in which the transverse stiffeners are placed at distances greater than the web depth (a/d > 1).
- 3- Experiments addressing the effective width of concrete slab for composite curved I- or box girder bridges should be conducted.

IMPACT

The impact factor adopted in the current AASHTO Specifications is based upon the work of Chaudhuri and Shore for the case of I-girders, and the work of Schelling et al. for the case of box girders. (201,276,277,278) All of these studies neglect the bridge damping and make various assumptions related to modeling the moving loads. Furthermore, the impact factors developed from these studies are perhaps more suitable when two dimensional grid analysis is performed. The work of Nakai and Kotoguchi must be examined. In addition, it would be extremely useful if all previously developed works were verified analytically using refined analysis methods. (298) Attempts must be made to obtain field measurements of the impact factor so that final design recommendations can be made.

			1
			1
			1
			1
			1
			1 1 1
			1
			4 1 1
			1
	·		1
			1 1 1
			i I
			1 1 1
			1
			1
			1
			1
			1 1 1
			1
		1	ı
		1	
		1 1 1	
		4	

i

APPENDIX A - USERS MANUAL FOR CURVED BRIDGE DATA BASE

LOADING CURVED DATA BASE

- 1. Load Microsoft Access by double-clicking on its icon from the Windows Program Manager.
- 2. Open the data base that contains the references on curved bridges by selecting "OPEN DATA BASE" from the "FILE" menu and typing in "CURVED.MDB" preceded by the drive and directories under which the data base file is located (e.g. if the file is saved on the B: drive under the root directory, type in "B:\CURVED.MDB").
- 3. Select the "FORM" button from the CURVED data base window, and choose "OPEN" which will display the first reference on the screen. To move around and display the rest of the references, one can use the forward and backward arrow buttons located at the lower left corner of the screen. (Clicking on the double arrow buttons displays the first or last references).

SEARCH EXAMPLE

To find a paper by Heins published in 1983 (where Heins might not be the first author):

- 1. Click on the "AUTHOR" box.
- 2. From the "EDIT" menu, select "FIND".
- 3. Type in "*Heins*83*" (the asterisks are used as wild cards).
- 4. Click on the "FIND NEXT" button. Access will display the first occurrence of such a paper. Clicking on the "FIND NEXT" button again will display the second occurrence, and so on.

QUERY EXAMPLE

To find all experimental work by Nakai and Kitada (order is not important) published after 1983 and sort the outcome by the year (in an ascending order):

- 1. From the "RECORDS" menu, choose "EDIT FILTER / SORT".
- 2. In the lower window apply the following requirements:

Field:

AUTHOR

YEAR

EXPERIMENTAL

Sort:

Ascending

Criteria:

*Nakai*Kitada*

> 1983

Yes

or:

*Kitada*Nakai*

3. Select "APPLY FILTER / SORT" from the "RECORDS" menu.

REPORT EXAMPLE

To print the result of the last query:

- 1. Instead of executing step 3 from the previous example, choose "SAVE AS QUERY" from the "FILE" menu.
- 2. Type in a proper name (e.g. "Nakai-Kitada") and click on the "OK" button.
- 3. Close the query by selecting "CLOSE" form the "FILE" menu.
- 4. Close the form by selecting "CLOSE" form the "FILE" menu.
- 5. Click on the "REPORT" button, and decide between "BIBLIOGRAPHY" and "DETAILED" formats (the first is for a bibliography list while the second includes abstracts).
- 6. Click on the "DESIGN" button.
- 7. From The "VIEW" menu, select "PROPERTIES".
- 8. Type in the name of the query in the "RECORD SOURCE" box (e.g. "Nakai-Kitada")
- 9. Select "PRINT" form the "FILE" menu.

REFERENCES

- 1. Saint-Venant, B. (1843). "Mémoire sur le calcul de la résistance et de la flexion des pièces solides à simple ou à double courbure, en prenant simultanément en consideration les divers efforts auxquels elles peuvent êntre soumises dans touts les sens." *Compts-Rendus*, l'Académic des Sciences de Paris, Vol. XVII, pp. 942, 1020-1031.
- 2. ASCE-AASHTO Task Committee on Curved Girdres (1977). "Curved I-Girder Bridge Design Recommendations." *ASCE*, vol. 103, no. ST5, May, pp. 1137-1167.
- 3. Stegmann, T.H. and Galambos, T.V. (1976). "Load Factor Design Criteria for Curved Steel Girders of Open Section." Research Report 23, Civil Engineering Department, Washington University, St. Louis, April.
- 4. Galambos, T.V. (1978). "Tentative Load Factor Design Criteria for Curved Steel Bridges." Washington University, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Department of Civil Engineering, Research Report No. 50, May.
- 5. AASHTO (1987). "Guide Specifications for Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges, 1980: As Revised by Interim Specifications for Bridges 1981, 1982, 1984, 1985 and 1986." Washington, DC.
- 6. McManus, P.F., Nasir, G.A. and Culver, C.G. (1969). "Horizontally Curved Girders State of the Art." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 95, no. ST5, May, pp. 853-870.
- 7. Ketchek, K.F. (1969). "Discussion of (Horizontally Curved Girders-State of the Art) by Mcmanus, P.F. et al." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, 95(12), 2999-3001.
- 8. Tan, C.P., Shore, S. and Ketchek, K. (1969). "Discussion of (Horizontally Curved Girders-State of the Art) by Mcmanus, P.F. et al." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, 95(12), 2997-2999.
- 9. Pandit, G.S., Ceradini, G., Grvarini, P. and Eremin, A.A. (1970). "Discussion of (Horizontally Curved Girders-State of the Art) by Mcmanus, P.F. et al." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, 96(2), 433-436.
- 10. ASCE-AASHTO Task Committee on Curved Girdres (1978a). "Curved Steel Box-Girder Bridges: A Survey." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 104, no. 11, November, pp. 1697.
- 11. ASCE-AASHTO Task Committee on Curved Girdres (1978b). "Curved Steel Box-Girder Bridges: State-Of-The-Art." *ASCE*, *Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 104, no. 11, November, pp. 1719-39.

- 12. AASHO-ASCE Committee on Flexural Members (1973). "Survey of Curved Girder Bridges." Report of the Subcommittee on Curved Girder Bridges of the Joint, Civil Engineering-ASCE, vol. 43, no. 2, February, pp. 54-56.
- 13. Nakai, H. and Yoo, C.H. (1988). "Analysis and Design of Curved Steel Bridges." McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc, New York, New York, 768 pps.
- 14. AASHTO (1993). "Guide Specifications for Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges," Washington, DC.
- 15. Buckle, I.G. and Hood, J.A. (1982). "Testing and Analysis of a Curved Continuous Box Girder Model." Auckland University, New Zealand, Department of Civil Engineering, June, 34 pps.
- 16. Heins, C.P. (1984). "Steel Curved I and Box Girder Design and Analysis." Analysis and Design of Bridges (NATO Advanced Study Institute), Cesme, Izmir, Turk, June 28-July 9, pp. 57-94.
- 17. Yilmaz, C., Tanvir, W.S. and Heins, C.P. (1984c). "Steel Curved I and Box Girder Design and Analysis." The Hague, Netherlands, pp. 57-94.
- 18. Brennan, P.J. and Mandel, J.A. (1973). "Users Manual Program for Three Dimensional Analysis of Horizontally Curved Bridges." Syracuse University Report, Research Project HPR-2(111), June.
- 19. Grubb, M.A. (1984). "Horizontally Curved I-Girder Bridge Analysis: V-Load Method." Transportation Research Record N982 pp. 26-35.
- 20. Poellot, W.N. (1987). "Computer-Aided Design of Horizontally Curved Girders by the V-Load Method." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 24, no. 1, First Quarter, pp. 42-50.
- 21. Fiechtl, A.L., Fenves, G.L. and Frank, K.H. (1987). "Approximate Analysis of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges." Texas University, Austin, Center for Transportation Research, Final Report no. FHWA-TX-91-360-2F, November, 96 pps.
- 22. Hsu, Y.T. (1989). "The Development and Behavior of Vlasov Elements for the Modeling of Horizontally Curved Composite Box Girder Bridge Superstructures." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland.
- 23. Cheung, Y.K. (1969). "Analysis of Cylindrical Orthotropic Curved Bridge Decks." IABSE Publication, vol. 29, pt 2, pp. 41-52.

- 24. Juhl, H.G. (1970). "Horizontal Thermal Movements of Curved Bridge Decks." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, October, vol. 96, no. ST10, pp. 2037-2044.
- 25. Abdelraoug, M.R. and Matlock, H. (1972). "Finite-Element Analysis of Bridge Decks."
 Research Report, Texas University at Austin, Center for Highway Research, August, 136 pps.
- 26. Cheung, J.T.C. (1978). "Experimental and Analytical Studies of Pseudo-Slab Bridge Decks." Dundee University, Scotland, July, 304 pps.
- 27. Harik, I.E. and Pashanasangi, S. (1985). "Curved Bridge Decks: Analytical Strip Solution." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 111, no. 7 July, pp1517-32.
- 28. Cheung, Y.K., Tham, L.G. and Li, W.Y. (1986). "Application of Spline-Finite-Strip Method in the Analysis of Curved Slab Bridge." Institution of Civil Engineers, Pt2, vol. 81, March, pp. 111-124.
- 29. Azad, A.K., Abdallah, M.K. and Baluch, M.H. (1988). "A Computer Aided Analysis of Horizontally Curved Slab-Type Bridge Deck, Continuous Over Discrete Pier Supports." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 587-92.
- 30. Azad, A.K., Baluch, M.H. and Ali, A. (1989). "Analysis of Continuous Curved Girder-Slab Bridges." *Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering*, vol. 16, no. 6 December, pp. 895-901.
- 31. Dey, S.S. and Malhotra, S.K. (1988). "Higher Order Finite Strip Analysis for Curved Bridge Decks." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 30, no. 6, 1359-66.
- 32. Verma, A.K. and Dey, S.S. (1991). "Integrated Analysis of Curved Bridge Superstructures by Variational Finite Difference Method." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 38, no. 5-6, pp. 597-603.
- 33. Lakshmy, N., Kumar, R. and Sharma, S.P. (1989)."9-Noded Mindlin Plate Element for Bridge Decks." *International Journal of Structures*, vol. 9, no. 1, January-June, pp. 59-72.
- 34. Yonezawa, H. (1962). "Moments and Free Vibration in Curved Girder Bridges." ASCE, vol. 88, no. EM-1, February, pp. 1-21.
- 35. Kunukkasseril, V.X. and Ramakrishnan, R. (1975). "Dynamic Response of Circular Bridge Decks." Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics, vol. 2, no. 3, January, pp. 217-232.
- 36. Ramakrishnan, R. and Kunukkasseril, V.X. (1976). "Free Vibration of Stiffened Circular Bridge Decks." *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 44, no. 2, January, pp. 209-221.

- 37. Ramakrishnan, R. and Kunukkasseril, V.X. (1977). "Response of Circular Bridge Decks to Moving Vehicles." Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics, vol. 5, no. 4, December, pp. 377-394.
- 38. Dey, S.S. (1984). "Dynamic Response of Orthotropic Curved Bridge Decks Due to Moving Loads." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 27-32.
- 39. Shore, S. (1971a). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." First Annual Report, Pennsylvania University, Interim CURT Report No. A0171, January, 119 pps.
- 40. Shore, S. (1971b). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." Second Annual Report, Pennsylvania University, December, Interim CURT Report No. A0271) OCT 1, 183 pps.
- 41. Meyer, C. and Scordelis, A.C. (1971). "Analysis of Curved Folded Plate Structures." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, October, vol. 97, no. ST10, pp. 2459-2480.
- 42. Sawko, F. and Merriman, P.A. (1971). "Finite Element Analysis of Bridge Curved in Plan." Devel Bridge Design & Constr (UK), pp. 334-46.
- 43. Lansberry, C.R. and Shore, S. (1972). "A Fully Compatible Annular Segment Finite Element." Specialty Conference in Finite Element Methods, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, June 1-2.
- 44. Shore, S. and Lansberry, C.R. (1972). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges. A Fully Compatible Annular Segment Finite Element." Pennsylvania University, CURT Report No. T0272, February, 198 pps.
- 45. Laursen, M. (1975). "Curved Beam Equilibrium Element. Applicable in Standard Finite Element Program Systems." Denmark, Technical University, Structural Research Laboratory, Report, no. R 63, 36 pps.
- 46. Noor, A.K., Greene, W.H. and Hartley, S.J. (1977). "Nonlinear Finite Element Analysis of Curved Beams." *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering*, vol. 12, no. 3, December, pp. 289-307.
- 47. Yoo, C.H. (1979). "Matrix Formulation of Curved Girders." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, vol. 105, no. EM6 December, pp. 971-988.
- 48. Thasanatorn, C. and Pilkey, W.D. (1979). "Torsional Stresses in Circularly Curved Bars." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 105, no. 11 November, pp. 2327-2342.
- 49. Just, D.J. (1982). "Circularly Curved Beams under Plane Loads." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 108, no. ST8 August, pp. 1858-1873.

- 50. Nakai, H., Kitada, T. and Ohminami, R. (1982). "An Elasto-Plastic and Finite Displacement Analysis of Web Plates for Curved Girder Bridges by Using Isoparametric Finite Element Method." Osaka City University, Memoirs of the Faculty of Engineering, vol. 23 December, pp. 191-204.
- 51. Hirashima, M. and Yoda, T. (1982). "Finite Displacement Theory of Curved and Twisted Thin-Walled Beams." Waseda University, Dept. of Civil Engineering, Tokyo, Japan, Memoirs of the School of Science and Engineering, no. 46, pp. 277-294.
- 52. Bien, J. (1983). "Three-Dimensional Analysis of Bridges with Girders Curved in Plan (Trojwymiarowa Analiza Mostow O Dzwigarach Zakrzy-Wionych W Planie)." Rozprawy Inzynierskie, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 573-587 (in Polish).
- 53. Goto, Y., Hasegawa, A. and Nishino, F. (1984). "Accuracy and Convergence of the Separation of Rigid Body Displacements for Plane Curved Frames." *JSCE*, no. 344/I-1, pp. 67-77.
- 54. Prathap, G. (1985). "The Curved Beam/Deep Arch/Finite Ring Element Revisited." *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*, 21, 389-407.
- 55. Akoussah, E., Beaulieu, D. and Dhatt, G. (1986). "Curved Beam Element via Penalty-Mixed Formulation for Nonlinear In-Plane Analysis." Commun Appl Numerical Methods, vol. 2, no. 6, November-December, pp. 617-623.
- 56. Yoo, C.H. (1987). "A Consistent Discrete Elements Technique for Curved Members." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 137-146.
- 57. Elias, Z.M. and Chen, K.L. (1988). "Nonlinear Shallow Curved-Beam Finite Element." *ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics*, 144(6), 1076-1087.
- 58. Dasgupta, S. and Sengupa, D. (1988). "Horizontally Curved Isoparametric Beam Element with or without Elastic Foundation Including Effect of Shear Deformation." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 967-973.
- 59. Benedetti, A. and Tralli, A. (1989). "New Hybrid FE Model for Arbitrarily Curved Beam. I. Linear Analysis." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 33, no. 6 pp. 1437-1449.
- 60. Graves Smith, T.R. and Mansour-Tehrani, F. (1989). "Mixed-Mode Method for Analysing Partially Prismatic Curved Thin-Walled Structures." *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 7, no. 3-4, pp. 301-315.
- 61. Surana, K.S. and Nguyen, S.H. (1990). "P-Version Hierarchical Two Dimensional Curved Beam Element for Elastostatics." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 1013-1029.

- 62. Hsu, Y.T., Fu, C.C. and Schelling, D.R. (1990). "Improved Horizontally-Curved Beam Element." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 313-318.
- 63. Tin-Loi, F. and Pulmano, V.A. (1990). "Limit Analysis of Curved Grids." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 116, no. 6 June, pp. 1535-1546.
- 64. Kanarachos, A.E., Koutsidis, N. and Spentzas, C.N. (1991). "Static Analysis of Thin-Walled Structures Using Polynomial and Exact Solutions. Application to Thin-Walled Pipes." *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 89-112.
- 65. Yang, Y.B., Kuo, S.R. and Yau, J.D. (1991). "Use of Straight-Beam Approach to Study Buckling of Curved Beams." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 117, no. 7 July, pp. 1963.
- 66. Pantazopoulou, S.J. (1992). "Low-Order Interpolation Functions for Curved Beams." Journal of Engineering Mechanics, vol. 118, no. 2, February, pp. 329-350.
- 67. Arizumi, Y., Oshiro, T. and Hamado, S. (1982). "Finite Strip Analysis of Curved Composite Girders with Incomplete Interaction." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 603-612.
- 68. Onate, E. and Suarez, B. (1983). "A Unified Approach for the Analysis of Bridges, Plates and Axisymmetric Shells Using the Linear Mindlin Strip Element." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 407-426.
- 69. Heins, C.P. and Looney, C.T.G. (1967). "The Analysis of Curved Orthotropic Highway Bridges by the Finite Difference Technique." Maryland University, College Park. Dept. of Civil Engineering, January, 167 pps.
- 70. Yoo, C.H., Evick, D.R. and Heins, C.P. (1974). "Non-Prismatic Curved Girder Analysis." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 4, no. 3, May, pp. 675-698.
- 71. Yoo, C.H. and Heins, C.P. (1974). "User's Manual for the Static Analysis of Curved Bridge Griders." Maryland University, Department of Civil Engineering, College Park, Maryland, Interim Report no. FHWA-RD-76-S0460, September, 105 pps.
- 72. Heins, C.P. and Stroczkowski, J.P. (1976). "Computerized Design of Continuous Curved Tubular Girders." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 6, no. 4-5 August-October, pp. 273-280.

- 73. Sheinman, I. (1982). "Large Deflection of Curved Beam with Shear Deformation." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, vol. 108, no. EM4 August, pp. 636-647.
- 74. Spates, K.R. and Heins, C.P. (1968). "The Analysis of Single Curved Girders with Various Loadings and Boundary Conditions." Maryland University, College Park, Dept. of Civil Engineering, Progress Report on (The Design of Curved Viaducts), June, 172 pps.
- 75. Heins, C.P. and Spates, K.R. (1970). "Behavior of Single Horizontally Curved Girder." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, July, vol. 96, no. ST7, pp. 1511-1524.
- 76. Nitzsche, R.N. and Miller, R.E. (1972). "Torslon and Flexure of Curved, Thin-Walled Beams or Tubes." *ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division*, vol. 98, no. EM4, August, pp. 867-889.
- 77. Oran, C. and Lin, S.C. (1973). "Influence Surfaces for Multibeam Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 99, no. ST7, July, pp. 1349-70.
- 78. Fettahlioglu, O.A. and Tabi, R. (1978). "Effect of Transverse Shearing Deformations on the Coupled Twist-Bending of Curved Beams." ASME, June 25-30, pp. 9.
- 79. Karamanlidis, D. (1985). "On the Strain-Displacement Equations of a Geometrically Nonlinear Curved Beam." Forschung im Ingenieurwesen, vol. 51, no. 5 September, pp. 165-167.
- 80. Kuo, S.R. and Yang, Y.B. (1991). "New Theory on Buckling of Curved Beams." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics, 117(8), August, 1698-1717.
- 81. Lavelle, F.H. and Boick, J.S. (1965). "A Program to Analyze Curved Girder Bridges." University of Rhode Island, Division of Engineering Research and Development. Engineering Bulletin-8, December 56 pps.
- 82. Lavelle, F.H. (1966). "Analysis of Curved Steel Girder Bridges." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 3, no. 3, July.
- 83. Culver, C.G. and Frampton, R.E. (1970). "Local Instability of Horizontally Curved Members." *ASCE*, vol. 96, no. ST2, February, pp. 245-265.
- 84. Dawkins, W.P. (1971). "Finite-Element Method of Analyis for Plane Curved Girders." Texas University, Center for Highway Research, June, Res Report 56-20, 105 pps.
- 85. Lavelle, F.H., Greig, R.A. and Wemmer, H.R. (1971). "CUGAR1 A Program to Analyze Curved Girder Bridges." Engineering Bulletin No. 14, University of Rhode Island, Division of Engineering R & D, September Volume 1 User's Information, Volume 2 System Information.

- 86. Douglas, T.R, Gambrell, S.C, Yang, C., Althoff, J.C. and Nelson, L.E. (1972). "Experimental and Theoretical Investigation of Horizontally Curved Girder Highway Bridges." Alabama University, Report No. HPR-66; BER-151-97, August, 193 pps.
- 87. Beal, D.B. and Kissane, R.J. (1972). "Field Testing of Horizontally Curved Steel Girder Bridges." New York State Dept Transportation, Eng Res & Develop Bureau, July, Third Interim Report, No. 8, 72 pps.
- 88. Fu, C.C. and Sahin, M.A. (1985). "Use of the Two Dimensional Grid for the Design, Rating and Rehabilitation of Bridge Structures." Engineers' Society of Western Pennsylvania, 2nd Annual International Bridge Conference, IBC, Pittsburgh, PA, June 17-19, pp. 101-107.
- 89. Morris, D.L. (1968). "Curved Beam Stiffness Coefficients." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, 94(5), May, 1164-1174.
- 90. Yoda, T., Fuyama, H. and Hirashima, M. (1985). "Validity of Analysis of Thin-Walled Helicoidal I-Section Beams Approximated by an Assemblage of Straight Beams." *JSCE*, vol. 15, pp. 124-125.
- 91. Akhtar, M.N. (1987). "Element Stiffness of Circular Member." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 113, no. 4, April, pp. 867-872.
- 92. El-Ali, N.D. (1992). "Computer-Aided Analysis of Multi-Stringer Curved Skew Bridges on Parallel Supports." Ph.D. Thesis, The Ohio State University.
- 93. Heins, C.P. (1967). "The Presentation of the Slope-Deflection Fourier Series Method for the Analysis of Curved Orthotropic Highway Bridges." Maryland University, College Park. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Progress Report, June, 81 pps.
- 94. Bell, L.C. and Heins, C.P. (1968). "The Solution of Curved Bridge Systems Using the Slope-Deflection Fourier Series Method." Maryland University, College Park. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Progress Report on (The Design of Curved Viaducts), June, 198 pps.
- 95. Bell, L.C. and Heins, C.P. (1969). "Curved Girder Computer Manual." Maryland University, College Park. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Progress Report No. 30, September, 157 pps.
- 96. Petyt, M. and Fleischer, C.C. (1971). "Free Vibration of a Curved Beam." *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 8, no. 1 September 8, pp. 17-30.

- 97. Sabir, A.B. and Ashwell, D.G. (1971). "Comparison of Curved Beam Finite Elements When Used in Vibration Problems." *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 18, no. 4, October 22, pp. 555-63.
- 98. Massoud, M.F. and Boudreau, A. (1973). "Inertia Properties of Curved Twisted Space Beam Elements." Midwest Mech Conf, 13th, Proc, University of Pittsburgh, Pa, August 13-15, Pap 28, pp. 383-396.
- 99. Surana, K.S. and Nguyen, S.H. (1991a). "Completely Hierarchical Two-Dimensional Curved Beam Element for Dynamics." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 957-967.
- 100. Surana, K.S. and Nguyen, S.H. (1991b). "Three-Dimensional Curved Beam Element Based on P-Version for Dynamics." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 887-895.
- 101. Suarez, B., Canet, J.M. and Onate, E. (1988). "Free Vibration Analysis of Plates, Bridges and Axisymmetric Shells Using a Thick Finite Strip Method." *Engineering Computations*, vol. 5, no. 2 June, 158-64.
- 102. Tene, Y., Epstein, M. and Sheinman, I. (1975). "Dynamics of Curved Beams Involving Shear Deformation." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 11, no. 7-8 July-August, pp. 827-840.
- 103. Sheinman, I. (1980). "Dynamic Large-Displacement Analysis of Curved Beams Involving Shear Deformation." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp. 1037-1049.
- 104. Tan, C.P. (1966). "Dynamic Response of a Horizontally Curved Bridge Subjected to Simulated Highway Loadings." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Pennsylvaina.
- 105. Tan, C.P. and Shore, S. (1968a). "Dynamic Response of Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, March, pp. 761-781.
- 106. Tan, C.P. and Shore, S. (1968b). "Response of a Horizontally Curved Bridge to a Moving Load." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, September, pp. 2135-2151.
- 107. Montalvao e Silva, J.M. and Urgueira, A.P.V. (1988). "Out-Of-Plane Dynamic Response f Curved Beams An Analytical Model." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 271-284.
- 108. Bhimaraddi, A. (1988). "Generalized Analysis of Shear Deformable Rings and Curved Beams." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 363-373.

- 109. El-Amin, F.M. and Brotton, D.M. (1976). "Horizontally Curved Beam Finite Element Including Warping." *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1397-1406.
- 110. Chaudhuri, S.K. and Shore, S. (1977a). "Curved Beam Finite Element for Statics and Dynamics." Annu ASCE Eng Mech Division Spec Conf, 2nd, Adv in Civ Eng through Eng Mech, NC State University, Raleigh, May 23-25, pp. 483-486.
- 111. Chaudhuri, S.K. and Shore, S. (1977c). "Thin-Walled Curved Beam Finite Element." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, vol. 103, no. EM5, October, pp. 921-937.
- 112. El-Amin, F.M. and Kasem, M.A. (1978). "Higher-Order Horizontally-Curved Beam Finite Element Including Warping for Steel Bridges." *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 159-167.
- 113. Thornton, W.A. and Master, B.G. (1979). "Direct Stiffness Analysis of Horizontally Curved Beams." Engineering Software, International Conference, 1st, Southhampton University, England, Pentech Press, London, England, pp. 268-280.
- 114. Hirashima, M., Yoda, T., Hirabayashi, T. and Onoguchi, K. (1983). "Influence of Stiffeners Disposition on the Strength of Curved I-Girders." Waseda University, Dept. of Civil Engineering, Tokyo, Japan, no. 105, pp. 34-43.
- 115. Hiwatashi, S. and Kuranishi, S. (1984). "Finite Displacement Behavior of Horizontally Curved Elastic I-Section Plate Girders under Bending." *JSCE*, no. 350, October, pp. 59-69.
- Suetake, Y., Hirashima, M. and Yoda, T. (1986). "Geometrically Nonlinear Analysis of Curved I-Girders by Mixed Finite Element Approach." *Bulletin of Science and Engineering*, Research Laboratory, Waseda University, no. 114, pp. 1-11.
- 117. Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Ohminami, R., and Kawai, T. (1986). "A Study on Analysis and Design of Web Plate in Curved Girder Bridges Subjected to Bending." Proceedings of JSCE, No. 368/I-5, April, pp. 235-244 (in Japanese).
- 118. Bishara, A.G. and Elmir, W.E. (1990). "Interaction Between Cross Frames and Girders." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 116, no. 5, May pp. 1319-33.
- Murphy, E.L. and Heins, C.P. (1973a). "Dead Load Design of Curved I Girder Bridges." Maryland Department of Transportation, Brooklandville, MD and Maryland University, College Park, Civil Engineering Department, College Park, MD, March, Interim Report, 115 pps.

- 120. Murphy, E.L. and Heins, C.P. (1973b). "Design of Curved I-Girder Bridges." Maryland Department of Transportation, Brooklandville, MD, Interim Report No. FHWA-MD-R-76-3, March, 33 pps.
- 121. Heins, C.P. and Martin, T.L. (1977). "Distortional Effects of Curved I Girder Bridges." Maryland University, College Park, Civil Engineering Department, February, 124 pps.
- 122. Martin, T.L. and Heins, C.P. (1978). "Analysis of Distortional Stress in Curved I-Girder Bridges." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 8, no. 6, June, pp. 691-701.
- 123. Azad, A.K., Baluch, M.H. and Ali, A. (1985). "Influence of Torsional Stiffness of I-Girders in the Analysis of Curved Girder Bridges." Civil-Comp Press Civil-Comp 85 (UK), Proceedings, vol. 1, pp. 335-340.
- 124. Bell, L.C. and Heins, C.P. (1970). "Analysis of Curved Girder Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, August, vol. 96, no. ST8, pp. 1657-1673.
- 125. Heins, C.P. and Bell, L.C. (1972). "Curved Girder Bridge Analysis." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 2, no. 5-6, December, pp. 785-797.
- 126. Weissman, H.A. (1970). "Straight- Element Grid Analysis of Horizontally Curved Beam Systems." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 7, no. 2, April, pp. 41-9.
- 127. Beal, D.B. and Kissane, R.J. (1971). "Field Testing of Horizontally Curved Steel Girder Bridges." New York State Dept. of Transportation, Albany. Engineering Research and Development Bureau, Second Interim Report, October, 62 pps.
- 128. Victor, R.F. (1972). "Structural Behavior of the South Road Curved Girder Bridge." Highway Research Record, Hwy Res Board N382, pp. 50-63.
- 129. Mondkar, D.P. and Powell, G.H. (1974). "CURVBRG A Computer Program for Analysis of Curved Open Girder Bridges." California University, Berkeley, Division of Structural Engineering and Structural Mechanics, December, Final Report, 171 pps.
- 130. Powell, G.H. and Mondkar, D.P. (1978). "CURVBRG: A Program for Analysis of Curved I-Girder Bridges." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 9, no. 3, September, pp. 255-263.
- 131. Beal, D.B. and Ruby, J.G. (1975)."A Design Method for Horizontally Curved Plate Girder Bridges." New York State Department of Transportation, Engineering Research & Development Bur, Albany, July, 25 pps.
- .32. Lavelle, F.H. and Laska, R.J. (1975a). "CUGAR2 and CUGAR3 User's Manuals." CURT Final Report, Research Project HPR-2(111), University of Rhode Island, Volume 1: CUGAR2 (May), Volume 2: CUGAR3.

- 133. Lavelle, F.H. and Laska, R.J. (1975b). "The CUGAR2 Algorithm." CURT Technical Report No. 4(L), Research Project HPR-2(111), University of Rhode Island, May.
- 134. United States Steel (1965). "Highway Structure Design Handbook, Vol. 1." ADUSS, 88-2222.
- 135. Yoo, C.H. and Fehrenbach, J.P. (1981). "Natural Frequencies of Curved Girders." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, vol. 107, no. 2, April, pp. 339-354.
- 136. Culver, C.G. (1967). "Natural Frequencies of Horizontally Curved Beams." ASCE, vol. 93, no. ST2, April, pp. 189-203.
- 137. Christiano, P.P. (1968). "The Dynamic Response of Horizontally Curved Bridges Subject to Moving Loads." Ph.D. Thesis, Carnegie-Mellon University.
- 138. Christiano, P.P. and Culver, C.G. (1968). "Dynamic Studies of and Impact Factors for Curved Girder Bridges." Paper presented at the Annual ASCE meeting on Structural Engineering, Pittsburgh, PA, September 30-October 4.
- 139. Christiano, P.P. and Culver, C.G. (1969). "Horizontally Curved Bridges Subject to Moving Load." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 95, no. ST8, August, pp. 1615-43.
- 140. Meyer, C. (1970). "Analysis and Design of Curved Box Girder Bridges." California University, Berkeley, Structures and Materials Research, December, Report no. 70-22, 175 pps.
- 141. Sisodiya, R.G., Cheung, Y.K. and Ghali, A. (1970). "Finite Element Analysis of Skew, Curved Box-Girder Bridge." IABSE (Switz.), no. 30-ii, pp. 191-199.
- 142. Scordelis, A.C. (1971). "Analytical Solutions for Box Girder Bridges." Devel Bridge Design & Constr (UK), pp. 200-16.
- 143. Lim, P.T., Kilford, J.T. and Moffatt, K.R. (1971). "Finite Element Analysis of Curved Box Girder Bridges." Devel Bridge Design & Constr (UK), pp. 264-86.
- 144. Cheung, Y.K. and Sisodiya, R.G. (1971). "A Higher Order Inplane Parallelogram Element and Its Application to Skewed Curved Box-Girder Bridges." Devel Bridge Design & Constr (UK), pp. 304.
- 145. Chu, K.H and Pinjarkar, S.G. (1971). "Analysis of Horizontally Curved Box Girder Bridges." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, October, vol. 97, no. ST10, pp. I481-2501.

- 146. Aneja, I.K. and Roll, F. (1971). "Model Analysis of Curved Box-Beam Highway Bridge." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, December, vol 97, no. ST12, pp. 2861-2878.
- 147. Fam, A.R.M. and Turkstra, C.J. (1973). "Analysis of Curved Box Girder Bridges." Canada Congress of Applied Mechanics, 4th, Ec Polytech, Montreal, Que, May 28-June 1, pp. 297-298.
- 148. Bazant, Z.P. and El-Nimeiri, M. (1974). "Stiffness Method for Curved Box Girders at Initial Stress." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 100, no. 10, October, pp. 2071-2090.
- 149. Evans, H.R. and Al-Rifaie, W.N. (1975). "Experimental and Theoretical Investigation of the Behaviour of Box Girders Curved in Plan." Institution of Civil Engineers (London), vol. 59, pt 2, June, pp. 323-352.
- 150. Fam, A.R.M. and Turkstra, C.J. (1975). "A Finite Element Scheme for Box Bridge Analysis." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 5, no. 2-3, pp. 179-186.
- 151. Fam, A.R.M. and Turkstra, C. (1976). "Model Study of Horizontally Curved Box Girder." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 102, no. ST5, May, 12 pps.
- 152. Ramesh, C.K., Kalani, M. and Bhandari, V.S. (1976). "Simplified Analysis of Single-Cell Box-Section for a Curved Bridge-Deck." *Journal of Indian Roads Congress*, vol. 37, no. 1, June, pp. 85-104.
- Turkstra, C.J. and Fam, A.R.M. (1978). "Behavior Study of Curved Box Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 104, no. 3, March, pp. 453-462.
- 154. Zhang, S.H. and Lyons, L.P.R. (1984). "A Thin-Walled Box Beam Finite Element for Curved Bridge Analysis." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 1035-1046.
- 155. Paavola, J. (1990). "Study of Curved Thin-Walled Girders." Ph.D. Thesis, Helsinki University of Technology, Espoo (Finland).
- Shanmugam, N.E. and Balendra, T. (1991). "Experimental and Theoretical Study of Multi-Cell Structures Curved in Plan." *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 373-387.
- 157. Wen, R.K. and Suhendro, B. (1991). "Nonlinear Curved-Beam Element for Arch Structures." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 117, no. 11 November, pp. 3496-3515.
- 158. Sakai, F. and Okumura, T. (1972). "Influence of Diaphragms on Behaviour of Box Girders with Deformable Cross Section." IABSE (Switz), Ninth Congress, May pp. 285-98.

- Buragohain, D.N. and Agrawal, B.L. (1973). "Analysis of Curved Box Girder Bridges." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 99, no. ST5, May, pp. 799-819.
- 160. Kabir, A.F. and Scordelis, A.C. (1974). "Computer Program for Curved Bridges on Flexible Bents." California University, Berkeley, Division of Structural Engineering and Structural Mechanics, September, Final Report, 173 pps.
- 161. Cheung, M.S. (1984). "Analysis of Continuous Curved Box-Grider Bridge by Finite Strip Method." Tumu Gongcheng Xuebao, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 1-10 (in Chinese).
- 162. Lin, X.J. and Chen, D.R. (1987). "Perspex Model Tests of Three Span Continuous Curved Box Girders." Research Institute of Highway Selected Papers on Highway and Transportation, 84 pps.
- 163. Li, W.Y., Tham, L.G. and Cheung, Y.K. (1988). "Curved Box-Girder Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 114, no. 6 June, pp. 1324-38.
- 164. Arizumi, Y., Hamada, S. and Oshiro, T. (1988). "Behavior Study of Curved Composite Box Girders." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 114, no. 11, November, pp. 2555-73.
- 165. Shimizu, S. and Yoshida, S. (1991). "Reaction Allotment of Continuous Curved Box Girders." *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 319-341.
- 166. Komatsu, S., Nakai, H. and Nakanishi, M. (1971c). "Statical Analysis of Curved Skew Box Girder Bridges." *JSCE*, no. 193 September, pp. 1-12 (in Japanese).
- 167. Harik, I. and Ekabaram, R. (1984). "Local Buckling in Curved Box Members." Seventh International Specialty Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, pp. 565-577.
- 168. Kirstek, V. (1970). "Tapered Box Girders of Deformable Cross Section." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 96, no. ST8, August, pp. 1761-1793.
- 169. Kambe, S. (1980). "Modified Theory of Torsion Bending for a Circularly Curved Box Girder Bridge." proceedings of JSCE, vol. 12, no. 297, May, pp. 95-110.
- 170. Waldron, P. (1985). "Elastic Analysis of Curved Thin-Walled Girders Including the Effects of Warping Restraint." *Engineering Structures*, vol. 7, no. 2, April, pp. 93-104.
- 171. Bonakdarpour, B., Bell, L.C. and Heins, C.P. (1970b). "The Behavior of a Curved Box Beam Model Bridge." Maryland University, Maryland State Dept Transp, Federal Highway Administration, Report No. Aw-70-85-46, HPR-1(5).

- 172. Bonakdarpour, B., Bell, L.C. and Heins, C.P. (1970c). "The Behavior of a Curved Box Beam Model Bridge. The Design of Curved Viaducts." Progress Report, Maryland University, Civil Engineering Dept, June, no. 36, 92 pps.
- Heins, C.P., Bondakdarpour, B.P. and Bell, L.C. (1972). "Multicell Curved Girder Model Studies." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 98, no. ST4, April, pp. 831-43.
- 174. Bonakdarpour, B., Bell, L.C. and Heins, C.P. (1970a). "Analytical and Experimental Study of a Curved Bridge Model." Maryland University, Maryland State Dept Transp, Bureau of Public Roads, Report No. Aw-70-85-46.
- 175. Heins, C.P. and Bonakdarpour, B. (1971). "Behavior of Curved Bridge Models." Public Roads, US Bureau Public Roads, December, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 240-251.
- 176. Kissane, R.J. and Beal, D.B. (1975). "Field Testing of Horizontally Curved Steel Girder Bridges." New York State Department of Transportation, Engineering Research and Development Bureau, May, Fourth Interim Report.
- 177. Lavelle, F.H. and Laska, R.J. (1976). "The CUGAR3 Algorithm." CURT Technical Report No. 5(L), Research Project HPR-2(111), University of Rhode Island.
- 178. Chang, P., Li, G. and Shu, D. (1986). "Dynamic Analysis Using Curved Bridge Element."

 International Journal of Structures, vol. 6, no. 4 October-December, pp. 145-168.
- 179. Cheung, Y.K. and Li, W.Y. (1991). "Free Vibration Analysis of Longitudinal Arbitrarily Curved Box-Girder Structures by Spline Finite Strip Method." Asian Pacific Conference on Computational Mechanics, December 11-13, pp. 1139-1144.
- 180. Heins, C.P. and Oleinik, J.C. (1976). "Curved Box Beam Bridge Analysis." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 6, no. 2, April, pp. 65-73.
- 181. Heins, C.P. and Sheu, F.H. (1982). "Design-Analysis of Curved Box Girder Bridges." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 241-258.
- 182. Heins, C.P. and Sahin, M.A. (1979). "Natural Frequency of Curved Box Girder Bridges." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 105, no. 12 December, pp. 2591-00.
- 183. Ho, Y.S. (1972). "Analysis and Design of Curved Composite Box Girder Bridges." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland.
- 184. Ho, Y.S. and Reilly, R.J. (1971b). "Behavior of Curved Box Beam Bridges. The Design of Curved Viaducts." Maryland University, College Park. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Progress Report No. 41, June, 63 pps.

- 185. Heins, C.P. and Lin, I.C. (1982). "Equivalent Seismic Design of Curved Box Girder Bridges." Maryland University, College Park, February, 179 pps.
- 186. Heins, C.P. and Lin, I.C. (1983). "Seismic Design of Curved Box Girders." Transportation Research Board Transportation Research Record N903 pp. 8-15.
- 187. Abdel-Salam, M.N. (1983). "Seismic Analysis and Design of Curved Steel Box-Girder Bridges." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland.
- 188. Heins, C.P. and Abdel-Salam, M.N. (1983). "Seismic Analysis/Design of Curved Steel Box Girder Bridges." Maryland University, College Park. Inst. for Physical Science and Technology, February, 373 pps.
- 189. Yilmaz, C., Tanvir, W.S. and Heins, C.P. (1984b). "Seismic Design of Highway Bridges." The Hague, Netherlands, pp. 343-373.
- 190. Abdel-Salam, M.N. and Heins, C.P. (1988). "Seismic Response of Curved Steel Box Girder Bridges." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 114, no. 12, December, pp. 2790-2800.
- 191. Heins, C.P. and Siminou, J. (1970). "Preliminary Design of Curved Bridges." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 7, no. 2, April, pp. 50-61.
- 192. Bell, L.C. and Heins, C.P. (1968). "The Solution of Curved Bridge Systems Using the Slope-Deflection Fourier Series Method." Maryland University, College Park. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Progress Report on (The Design of Curved Viaducts), June, 198 pps.
- 193. Heins, C.P. and Jin, J.O. (1984). "Live Load Distribution on Braced Curved I-Girders." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 110, no. 3, March, pp. 523-530.
- 194. Brennan, P.J. (1970a). "Analysis for Stress and Deformation of a Horizontally Curved Girder Bridge through a Geometric Structural Model." Syracuse University Report submitted to the New York State Department of Transportation, August.
- 195. Brennan, P.J. (1970b). "Analysis of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges through Three Dimensional Mathematical and Small Scale Structural Testing." Syracuse University, First Annual Report, Research Project HPR-2(111), November.
- 196. Armstrong, W.L. (1972). "Dynamic Testing of Curved Bridge-Huyck Stream." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 98, no. ST9, September, pp. 2015-30.
- 197. Brockenbrough, R.L. (1986). "Distribution Factors for Curved I-Girder Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 112, no. 10 October, pp. 2200-15.

- 198. AASHTO (1980). "Guide Specifications for Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." Washington, DC.
- 199. AISC Marketing (1991a). "Improved Distribution Factors for Curved I-Girders." Pittsburgh, PA, February 18.
- 200. AISC Marketing (1991b). "System LDF+user Manual." Pittsburgh, PA, January 31.
- 201. Chaudhuri, S.K. and Shore, S. (1977b). "Dynamic Analysis of Horizontally Curved I-Girder Bridges." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 103, no. ST8, August, pp. 1589-04.
- 202. Chaudhuri, S.K. (1975). "Dynamic Response of Horizontally Curved I-Girder Highway Bridges Due to a Moving Vehicle." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Pennsylvaina.
- 203. Shore, S. and Wilson, J.L. (1973). "Users Manual for the Static Analysis of Curved Bridges (STACRB)." CURT Report No. T0173, Research Project HPR-2(111), Graduate Division of Civil and Urban Engineering, University of Pennsylvania, June.
- 204. Frampton, R. (1968). "Local Instability of Horizaontally Curved Members." Master Thesis presented to Carnegie-Mellon University, at Pittsburgh.
- 205. Culver, C.G. and Frampton, R.E. (1970). "Local Instability of Horizontally Curved Members." *ASCE*, vol. 96, no. ST2, February, pp. 245-265.
- 206. Culver, C.G. and Nasir, G. (1969). "Instability of Highway Curved Bridges Flange Buckling Studies." Carnegie Mellon University, Pennsylvania Department Transp, Bureau of Public Roads, November.
- 207. Culver, C.G. and Nasir, G. (1971). "Inelastic Flange Buckling of Curved Plate Girders." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, April, vol. 97, no. ST4, pp. 1239-1256.
- 208. AISC (1969). "Specification for the Design, Fabrication and Erection of Structural Steel for Buildings." New York, NY.
- 209. Culver, C.G. (1971). "Flange Proportions for Curved Plate Girders." Highway Research Record, Hwy Res Board, no. 354, pp. 61-66.
- 210. Kang, Y.J. and Yoo, C.H. (1990). "Flexural Stress of Curved Bridge Girders. In: Structural Stability Research Council. 1990 Annual Technical Session, Stability of Bridges, St. Louis, Missouri, April 10-11, 1990." Lehigh University, Fritz Engineering Laboratory, 7 pps.

- 211. Komatsu, S. and Kitada, T. (1981). "Ultimate Strength Characteristics of Outstanding Steel Plate with Initial Imperfection under Compression." *JSCE*, no. 314, October, pp. 15-27 (in Japanese).
- 212. Kitada, T., Ohminami, R. and Nakai, H. (1986). "Criteria for Designing Web and Flange Plates of Horizontally Curved Plate Girders." 1986 Annual Technical Session: Stability of Plate Structures SSRC Conference, Washington, DC, April 15-16, pp. 119-130.
- 213. Kitada, T, Nakai, H., and Murayama, Y. (1993). "State-of-the Art on research, Design and Construction of Horizontally Curved Bridges in Japan." Proceedings of the SSRC Annual Technical Session, Milwaukee, WI.
- 214. Culver, C.G., Dym, C. and Brogan, D. (1972a). "Bending Behaviors of Cylindrical Web Panels." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 98, no. ST10, October, pp. 2201-2308.
- 215. Culver, C.G., Dym, C. and Brogan, D. (1972b). "Instability of Horizontally Curved Members-Bending Behaviors of Cylindrical Web Panels." Carnegie-Mellon University Report submitted to PENDOT, January, 61 pps.
- 216. Wachowiak, J. (1967). "Die Berechung Gekrumutter Stege von dunnwandigen Tragern auf Grund der Schalen Theorie." Dissertation, Politechnika, Poland (in Polish).
- Culver, C.G., Dym, C.L. and Uddin, T. (1973). "Web Slenderness Requirements for Curved Girders." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 99, no. ST3, March, pp. 417-30.
- 218. Abdel-Sayed, G. (1973). "Curved Webs under Combined Shear and Normal Stresses." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 99, no. ST3, March, pp. 511-25.
- 219. Daniels, J.H., Fisher, J.W. and Yen, B.T. (1980). "Fatigue of Curved Steel Bridge Elements: Design Recommendations for Fatigue of Curved Plate Girder and Box Girder Bridges." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-79-138, April, 60 pps.
- 220. Mikami, I. and Furunishi, K. (1984). "Nonlinear Behavior of Cylindrical Web Panels." *ASCE*, vol. 110, no. EM-2, February, pp. 230-251.
- 221. Culver, C.G., Dym, C. and Brogan, D. (1972c). "Instability of Horizontally Curved Members-Shear Buckling of Cylindrical Web Panels." Carnegie-Mellon University Report submitted to PENDOT, June.
- 222. Mariani, N., Moger, J.D., Dym, C.L. and Culver, C.G. (1973). "Transverse Stiffner Requirements for Curved Webs." *ASCE*, vol. 99, no. ST4, April, pp. 757-771.

- 223. Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Ohminami, R. and Fukumoto, K. (1984b). "A Proposition for Designing Transverse Stiffeners of Horizontally Curved Girders in Ultimate State." Memoirs of the Faculty of Engineering, Osaka City University, Japan, vol. 25, December 1984, pp. 111-131.
- 224. Nakai, H., Kitada, T. and Ohminami, R. (1985c). "Proposition for Designing Intermediate Transverse Stiffeners in Web Plate of Horizontally Curved Girders." *JSCE*, no. 362/I-4 October, pp. 249-257 (in Japanese).
- 225. Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Ohminami, R. and Fukumoto, K. (1984a). "Experimental Study on Shear Strength of Horizontally Curved Plate Girders." *JSCE*, no. 350, October 1984, pp. 281-290 (in Japanese).
- 226. Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Ohminami, R. and Kawai, T. (1986)."A Study on Analysis and Design of Web Plate in Curved Girder Bridges Subjected to Bending." *JSCE*, no. 368/I-5, April, pp. 235-244 (in Japanese).
- 227. Vlasov, V.Z. (1961). "Thin-Walled Elastic Beams." 2nd ed., Washington, DC.
- 228. Dabrowski, R. (1968). "Curved Thin-Walled Girders. Theory and Analysis (Gekrummte Dunnwandige Trager-Theorie Und Berechuung)." Cement and Concrete Association, 158 pps.
- 229. Culver, C.G. and McManus, P. (1971). "Instability of Horizontally Curved Members. Lateral Buckling of Curved Plate Girders." Carnegie-Mellon University, Dept. of Civil Engineering, December, 203 pps.
- 230. McManus, P.F. (1972). "Lateral Buckling of Curved Plate Girders." Ph.D. Thesis, Carnegie-Mellon University.
- 231. Mozer, J., Ohlson, R. and Culver, C.G. (1971). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges-Stability of Curved Plate Girders." Carnegie Mellon University, Report No. P2, Research Project HPR-2(111), September.
- 232. Nishida, S., Yoshida, H. and Fukumoto, Y. (1978). "Large Deflection Analysis of Curved Members with Thin-Walled Open Cross-Section." 24th Symposium of Structural Engineering, February, 77-84 (in Japanese).
- 233. Yoo, C.H. (1982). "Flexural-Torsional Stability of Curved Beams." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, vol. 108, no. EM6 December, pp. 1351-1369.

- 234. Rajasekaran, S. and Ramm, E. (1984). "Discussion of (Flexural-Torsional Stability Horizontally of Curved Beams) by C.H. Yoo." *ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics*, 110(EM1), pp. 144-148.
- 235. Yoo, C.H. and Pfeiffer, P.A. (1983). "Elastic Stability of Curved Members." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 109, no. 12, December, pp. 2922-40.
- 236. Timoshenko, S.P. and Gere, J.M. (1961). "Theory of Elastic Stability." 2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, New York.
- 237. Yoo, C.H. and Pfeiffer, PA (1984). "Buckling of Curved Beams with In-Plane Deformation." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 110, no. 2, February, pp. 291-300
- 238. Vacharjittiphan, P., and Trahair, N.S. (1975). "Flexural-Torsional Buckling of Curved Members." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, 101(6), June, 1223-1238.
- 239. Yoo, C.H. and Carbine, R.L. (1985). "Experimental Investigation of Horizontally Curved Steel Wide Flange Beams." 1985 Annual Technical Session Structural Stability Research Council: Stability Aspects of Industrial Buildings, Cleveland, OH, April 16-17, pp. 183-191.
- 240. Papangelis, J.P. and Trahair, N.S. (1986). "Flexural-Torsional Buckling of Arches." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, 113(4), pp. 889-906.
- 241. Papangelis, J.P. and Trahair, N.S. (1987). "Flexural-Torsional Buckling Tests on Arches." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, 113(7), pp. 1433-1443.
- 242. Stussi, F. (1943). "Lateral Buckling and Vibration of Arches." IABSE Publications, vol. 7, pp. 327-343.
- 243. Tokarz, F.J. (1968). "Lateral Torsional Buckling of Arches." Ph.D. Thesis, Ohio State University at Columbus.
- 244. Tokarz, F.J. (1971). "Experimental Study of Lateral Buckling of Arches." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, 97(2), pp. 545-559.
- 245. Yang, Y.B. and Kuo, S.R. (1986). "Static Stability of Curved Thin-Walled Beams." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics, 112(8), 821-841.
- 246. Yang, Y.B. and Kuo, S.R. (1987). "Effect of Curvature on Stability of Curved Beams." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 113, no. 6 June, pp. 1185-1202.

- 247. Rajasekaran, S., Sundaraajan, T. and Rao, K.S. (1988). "Discussion of (Static Stability of Curved Thin-Walled Beams) by Yang, Y.B. and Kuo, S.R." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics, 114(5), 915-918.
- 248. Fukumoto, Y. and Nishida, S. (1981). "Ultimate Load Behavior of Curved I-Beams." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, vol. 107, no. 2, April, pp. 367-385.
- 249. Yoshida, H. and Maegawa, K. (1983). "Ultimate Strength Analysis of Curved I-Beams." Journal of Engineering Mechanics, vol. 109, no. 1, February, pp. 192-214.
- Nakai, H., Kitada, T. and Ohminami, R. (1984). "Experimental Study on Ultimate Strength of Web Panels in Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges Subjected to Bending, Shear and Their Combinations." 1984 Annual Technical Session Structural Stability Research Council Conference: Stability Under Seismic Loading, San Francisco, CA, April 10-11, pp. 91-102.
- 251. Rockey, K.C. and Skaloud, M. (1975). "The Ultimate Load Behaviour of Plate Girder Loaded in Shear." *The Structural Engineer*, 53(8), August, pp. 313-325.
- 252. Mikami, I., Furunishi, K. and Yonezawa, H. (1980). "Nonlinear Behavior of Cylindrical Web Panels Under Bending." Proceedings of JSCE, No. 288, July, pp. (in Japanese).
- 253. Kuranishi, S. and Hiwatashi, S. (1981). "Elastic Behavior of Web Plates of Curved Plate Girders in Bending." Proc. of JSCE, no. 315, November, pp. 1-11 (in Japanese).
- 254. Nakai, H., Kitada, T. and Ohminami, R. (1985a). "Experimental Study on Bending Strength of Web Plates of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges." *JSCE*, vol. 15, pp. 201-203.
- 255. Yoo, C.H. and Littrell, P.C. (1986). "Cross-Bracing Effects in Curved Stringer Bridges." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 112, no. 9 September, pp. 2127-2140.
- 256. Schelling, D., Namini, Ahmad H., and Fu, Chung C. (1989). "Construction Effects on Bracing on Curved I-Girders," *ASCE Journal of Structural Engineering*, Vol. 115, No. 9, September, pp. 2145-2165.
- 257. Akehashi, K., Nakai, H., Kitada, T., and Ishizaki, H. (1989). "An Experimental Study on fatigue Strength of Web Plate For Horizontally Curved Plate Girders." The Second East Asia-Pacific Conference On Structural Engineering and construction, Chiang Mai, 11-13 January, pp. 627-632.
- 258. Brockenbrough, R.L. (1968). "Investigation of Heat-Curved Girders." Am Assoc State Highway Officials, December, pp. 209-253.

- 259. Brockenbrough, R.L. (1970b). "Theoretical Stresses and Strains From Heat Curving." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, July, vol. 96, no. ST7, pp. 1421-1444.
- 260. Brockenbrough, R.L. and Ives, K.D. (1970). "Experimental Stresses and Strains From Heat Curving." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, July, vol. 96, no. ST7, pp. 1305-1331.
- 261. Brockenbrough, R.L. (1970a). "Criteria for Heat Curving Steel Beams and Girders." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, October, vol. 96, no. ST10, pp. 2209-2226
- 262. Brockenbrough, R.L. (1972). "Fabrication Aids for Continuously Heat-Curved Girders." United States Steel Corporation, Pittsburgh, PA, April.
- 263. Brockenbrough, R.L. (1973). "Fabrication Aids for Girders Curved with V-Heats." United States Steel Corporation, Pittsburgh, PA, January.
- 264. Daniels, J.H. and Batcheler, R.P. (1979). "Fatigue of Curved Steel Bridge Elements-Effect of Heat Curving on the Fatigue Strength of Plate Girders." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-79-135, August, 66 pps.
- 265. Hilton, M.H. (1982). "Heat-Curved Girders: Deflections and Camber Loss During and Subsequent to Bridge Construction." Virginia Highway & Transportation Research Council, September, Final Report, 41 pps.
- 266. Hilton, M.H. (1984). "Deflections and Camber Loss in Heat-Curved Girders." Transportation Research Record, vol. 2, no. 950, pp. 51-59.
- 267. Yoo, C.H. (1971). "Plastic Analysis of Multi-Span Horizontally Curved Girders." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland.
- 268. Yoo, C.H. and Heins, C.P. (1972a). "Plastic Collapse of Horizontally Curved Girders." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 98, no. ST4, April, pp. 899-914.
- 269. Colville, J. (1972). "Shear Connector Studies on Curved Girders." Maryland University, CE Report 45, February, 86 pps.
- 270. Colville, J. (1973). "Tests of Curved Steel-Concrete Composite Beams." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 99, no. ST7, pp. 1555-70.
- 271. Rabizadeh, R.O. (1974). "Static and Dynamic Analysis of Horizontally Curved Box Girder Bridges." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Pennsylvaina.

- 272. Shore, S. and Rabizadeh, R. (1974a). "Static and Dynamic Analysis of Horizontally Curved Box Girder Bridges." CURT Report No. T0174, Research Project HPR-2(111), Department of Civil and Urban Engineering, University of Pennsylvania, December.
- 273. Rabizadeh, R.O. and Shore, S. (1975). "Dynamic Analysis of Curved Box-Girder Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 101, no. ST9, September, 14 pps.
- Shore, S. and Rabizadeh, R. (1974b). "Users Manual for the Dynamic Analysis of Curved Box Girder Bridges (DYNCRB\BG)." CURT Report No. T0274, Research Project HPR-2(111), Department of Civil and Urban Engineering, University of Pennsylvania, December.
- 275. Ramsden, J.N. and Stoker, J.R. (1969). "Mass Condensation: A Semi-Automatic Method for Reducing the Size of Vibration Problems." *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*, vol. 1, pp. 333-349.
- 276. Galdos, N.H. (1988). "A Theoretical Investigation of the Dynamic Behavior of Horizontally Curved Steel Box Girder Bridges under Truck Loadings." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland.
- 277. Schelling, D., Galdos, N. H., and Sahin, M. A. (1992). "Evaluation of Impact Factors for Horizontally Curved Steel Box Bridges," *ASCE Journal of Structural Engineering*, Vol. 118, No. 11, November, pp. 3203-3221.
- 278. Galdos, N.H., Schelling, D. R., and Sahin, M. A. (1993). "Methodology for Impact Factor of Horizontally Curved Box Bridges," *ASCE Journal of Structural Engineering*, Vol. 119, No. 6, June, pp. 1917-1934.
- 279. Culver, C.G. and Nasir, G. (1970a). "Buckling of Unstiffened Curved Plates." Carnegie Mellon University, Pennsylvania Department Transp, Bureau of Public Roads, Report No. 68-32.
- 280. Yonezawa, H. Mikami, I., Akamatsu, Y. and Dogaki, M. (1978). "Test of a Curved Girder with Orthotropic Steel Plate Deck." Technol Rep Kansai University, no. 19, March pp. 115-125.
- 281. Dogaki, M., Mikami, Il, Yonezawa, H. and Ozawa, K. (1979). "Further Test of the Curved Girder with Orthotropic Steel Plate Deck." Technol Report, Kansai University, no., 20, March, pp. 123-132.
- 282. Yonezawa, H., Dogaki, M. and Adachi, H. (1985). "Elastic Buckling of Orthogonally Stiffened Sector Plates under Circumferential Compression." Technol Rep Kansai University, no. 26, March pp. 183-192.

- 283. Arizumi, Y., Hamada, S. and Oshiro, T. (1983). "Static Behavior of Curved Composite Box Girders." *JSCE*, vol. 15, Tokyo, Japan, pp. 212-216.
- 284. Daniels, J.H. (1985). "Ultimate Strength Tests of a Horizontally Curved Composite Box-Girder." Fritz Lab Report 454.3, CE Dept., Lehigh University.
- 285. Oleinik, J.C. and Heins, C.P. (1974). "Diaphragm Spacing Requirements for Curved Steel Box Beam Bridges." Maryland University, College Park, Department of Civil Engineeing, August, Report No. 58.
- 286. Oleinik, J.C. and Heins, C.P. (1975). "Diaphragms for Curved Box Beam Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 101, no. 10, October, pp. 2161-2178.
- 287. Nakai, H., Miki, T. and Sumiyoshiku, S. (1980). "Theoretical and Experimental Research on Distortion of Thin-Walled Horizontally Curved Box-Girder Bridges." *Journal of Civil Engineering*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp.63-101.
- 288. Nakai, H. and Murayama, Y. (1981). "Distorsional Stress Analysis and Design Aid for Horizontally Curved Box Girder Bridges with Diaphragms." Transactions of JSCE, vol. 13, November, pp. 35-37.
- 289. Yabuki, T. and Arizumi, Y. (1989)/ "Provision on Intermediate Diaphragm Spacing in Curved Steel-Plated Box-Bridge-Girders." Proceedings of JSCE, no. 410, pt. 1-12 October, pp. 37-46.
- 290. Daniels, J.H., Abraham, D. and Yen, B.T. (1979). "Fatigue of Curved Steel Bridge Elements-Effect of Internal Diaphragms on Fatigue Strength of Curved Box Girders." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-79-136, August, 57 pps.
- 291. Inukia, G.J., Yen, B.T. and Fisher, J.W. (1978). "Stress History of a Curved Box Bridge." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-79-S0831, June, 69 pps.
- 292. Daniels, J. H. and Batcheler, R.P. (1980). "Fatigue of Curved Steel Bridge Elements-Fatigue Tests of Curved Box Girders." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-79-134, April, 133 pps.
- 293. Heins, C.P. and Lee, W.H. (1981). "Curved Box-Girder Bridge Test: Field Test." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 107, no., 2, February, pp. 317-327.
- 294. Heins, C.P. (1978). "Box Girder Bridge Design: State of the Art." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 126-142.

- 295. Tenende, L.M. (1990). "A Graphical Interface for the Analysis of Curved Steel-Girder Bridges (Substructuring)." Ph.D. Thesis, The University of Texas at Austin.
- 296. Tenende, L.M. and Johnson, C.P. (1989). "Graphical Interface for Curved Steel Girder Bridges." Sixth Conference on Computing in Civil Engineering, Atlanta, GA, September 11-13, ASCE, pp. 851-858.
- 297. Schelling, D.R., Heins, C.P. and Sikes, G.H. (1978). "State -of-the Art of Curved Girder Bridge Programs." Computers and Structures, vol. 9, no. 1, July, pp.27-37.
- 298. Nakai, H. and Kotoguchi, H. (1975b). "Dynamic Response of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges under Random Traffic Flows." *JSCE*, no. 244, December, pp. 117-128.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

AASHO (1969). "Standard Specifications for Highway Bridges." 10th ed., Washington, DC.

AASHTO (1977). "Standard Specification for Highway Bridges." 12th ed., Washington, DC.

AASHTO (1982). "Interim Specifications Bridges." Washington DC, 388 pps.

Abbassi, M.M. (1956). "Mathematical Analysis of Bow Girders of Any Shape." ASME, Journal of Applied Mechanics, vol. 23, no. 4, December, pp. 522-526.

Abbassi, M.M. (1960). "Stresses in Curved Beams of Non-Circular Centerline." ASME, Journal of Applied Mechanics, vol. 27, Series E, no. 3, September, pp. 445-454.

Ahmed, K.M. (1971). "Free Vibration of Curved Sandwich Beams by the Method of Finite Elements." *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 18, no. 1, September 8, pp. 61-74.

AISC Marketing (1986). "Highway Structure Design Handbook, Chapter II/6 - Composite Curved Plate Girder, Load Factor Design." Pittsburgh, PA, January.

* Alam, K.M., Hongladaromp, T. and Lee, S.L. "Curved Box Girder Bridges with Intermediate Diaphragms and Supports." IABSE, pp.17-36.

Al-Rifaie, W.N. and Evans, H.R. (1979). "An Approximate Method for the Analysis of Box Girder Bridges that Are Curved in Plan." IABSE, February, 15 pps.

Alford, H.T. (1972). "Curve Offsets for Ties on Bridge Decks." Southern Railway System, November.

Ali, S.A. (1983). "Parametric Instability of Curved Girders." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 109, no. 4, April, pp. 829-842.

Allen, D. and Yue, R.U.W. (1984). "Curved Steel Box Girders for the Advanced Light Rapid Transit System in Vancouver." Canadian Structural Engineering Conference, Toronto, Ont, Canada, March 1-2.

Aneja, I.K. (1968). "Experimental and Analytical Study of a Horizontally Curved Box-Beam Highway Bridge Model." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Pennsylvania.

^{*} Not available to authors

Anderson, C.G. (1950). "Flexural Stresses in Curved Beams of I- and Box-Section." Inst. Mechanics Engrs., vol. 163 (War Emeregency Proc., no. 62), pp. 295-306, and discussion: pp. 316-327.

Andrews, E.S. (1912). "The Stresses in Curved Beams." Engr., London, no. 3264A, April 19.

Anon (1971). "Flange Efficiency Factors for Curved Beams under Bending in the Plane of Curvature." Eng Sci Data Unit Item, no. 71004, April, 14 pps.

Anon (1974). "Unique Cantilever Curved Bridge in Greece." International Construction, vol. 13, no. 11, November, pp. 20-21, 24, 29-31.

Armstrong, W.L. (1971). "Dynamic Response of the Huyck Stream Bridge." ASCE Annual and National Environmental Engineering Meeting, St. Louis, Missouri, October 18-22.

- # Armstrong, W.L. (1972). "Dynamic Testing of Curved Bridge-Huyck Stream." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 98, no. ST9, September, pp. 2015-30.
- * Armstrong, W.L. and Langdon, J.A. (1973). "Dynamic Testing of a Curved Box Beam Bridge." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Final Report no. FHWA-RD-73-1, February, pp. 118.

ASCE-AASHO Subcommittee on Box Girder Bridges (1967). "Trends in the Design of Steel Box Girder Bridges." *ASCE*, *Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 93, no. ST3, June, pp. 165-180.

Ashwell, D.G. and Sabir, A.B. (1971). "Limitation of Certain Curved Finite Elements When Applied to Circular Arches." *International Journal of Mechanics and Science*, 13(2), 133-139.

Ashwell, D.G., Sabir, A.B. and Roberts, T.M. (1971). "Further Studies in the Application of Curved Finite Elements to Circular Arches." *International Journal of Mechanics and Science*, 13(6), 507-517.

* Aslam, M. and Godden, W.G. (1973). "Model Studies of Curved Box-Girder Bridges." California University, Berkeley, Dept of Civil Engineering, March, pp. 121.

Badawy, H.E.I. and Jordaan, I.J. (1977). "Plastic Analysis of Curved Beams under Point Loads." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 103, no. 7, July, pp. 1429-1445.

Badawy, H.E.I., Jordaan, I.J. and McMullen, A.E. (1977). "Effect of Shear on Collapse of Curved Beams." *ASCE, Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 103, no. ST9, September, pp. 1849-66.

Baron, F. and Michalos, J.P. (1952). "Laterally Loaded Plane Structures and Structures Curved in Space." ASCE, vol. 117, pp. 279-311.

Basole, M.M. and Lakhapati, D.M. (1977). "Analysis of Balanced Cantilever Bridge Curved in Plan Subject to Irc Class Aa Loading." *Journal of Indian Roads Congress*, vol. 38, no. 1, July, pp. 159-178.

Basole, M.M. and Lakhapati, D.M. (1979). "Investigation Into Bridges Curved in Plan." Indian Highways, vol. 7, no. 3, March, pp. 19-29.

Batdorf, S.B., Stein, M. and Shildcrout, M. (1947). "Critical Shear Stress of Curved Rectangular Panels." NACA Technical Note, no. 1348, May.

- # Beal, D.B. (1978). "Horizontally Curved Bridges: New York Field Testing and Design Studies." New York State Department of Transportation, Engineering Research & Development Bureau, New York State Department of Transportation, Albany, New York, Final Report no. FHWA-NY-78-RR61, June, pp.14.
- * Beal, D.B. and Ruby, J.G. "Preliminary Design of Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." New York State Department of Transportation, Engineering Research & Development Bureau.

Becker, G. (1965). "Ein Beitrag Zur Statischen Berechnung Beliebige Galarter Ebener Gekrummter Stabe Mit Einfach Symmetrischen Dunnwadige Offen Profilen Von Stabachse Veranderlischen Querschnitt Unter Berucksichtigen Der Wolbragttorsion." Der Stahlbau, 34, s. 334-346 und 368-377, November und December (in German).

Benscoster, S.U. (1954). "A Theory of Torsion Bending for Multicell Beams." Journal of Applied Mechanics, 21(1), March, pp. 25-34.

Bezzone, A.P., and Kozak, J.J. (1962). "The Curved Steel Girder." American Road Builder, January.

Bjorhovde, R. (1980). "Research Needs in Stability of Metal Structures." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 106, no. ST12, December, pp. 2425-2441.

Black, W. and Kao, R. (1961). "Curved Girders Please Eye and Budget." ENR, February 2.

Blake, A. (1966). "Design of Curved Members for Machines." Industrial Press, Inc., New York.

Bogner, F.K., Fox, R.I. and Schmit, L.A. (1967). "A Cylindrical Shell Discrete Element." AIAA Journal, vol. 5, no. 4, April, pp. 745-750.

- Boulton, N.S. and Boonsukha, B. (1959). "Plastic Collapse Loads for Circular Arc Bow Girders." Institute of Civil Engineers, vol. 13, June, pp. 161-178.
- * Brennan, P.J. (1970a). "Analysis for Stress and Deformation of a Horizontally Curved Girder Bridge through a Geometric Structural Model." Syracuse University Report submitted to the New York State Department of Transportation, August.
- * Brennan, P.J. (1970b). "Analysis of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges through Three Dimensional Mathematical and Small Scale Structural Testing." Syracuse University, First Annual Report, Research Project HPR-2(111), November.
- * Brennan, P.J. (1971). "Analysis of Seekonk River Bridge Small Structure through Three Dimensional Mathematical and Structural Testing." Syracuse University Report, Research Project HPR-2(111), November.
- * Brennan, P.J. (1974). "Analysis and Structural Testing of a Multiple Configuration Small Scale Horizontally Curved Highway Bridge." Syracuse University Report, Research Project HPR-2(111), December.
- * Brennan, P.J., Antoni, C.M., Leininger, R. and Mandel, J.A. (1970). "Analysis for Stress and Deformation of a Horizontally Curved Girder Bridge through a Geometric Structural Model." Syracuse University, N.Y. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Special Research Report No. SR-3, August, pp. 243.
- # Brennan, P.J. and Mandel, J.A. (1979). "Multiple Configuration Curved Bridge Model Studies." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 105, no. ST5, May, pp. 875-890.
- * Brennan, P.J., Mandel, J.A., Antoni, C.M. and Leininger, R."Analysis of a Horizontally Curved Bridge through a Geometric Structural Model (Abridgement)." Transportation Research Record N607, pp. 1-3.
 - Bronstad, M.E. and Kimball, C.E. (1986). "Bridge Rail Retrofit for Curved Structures. Volume I: Executive Summary." Federal Highway Administration, Washington DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-85-040, September, 24 pps.
 - Brookhart, G.C. (1967). "Circular Arc I-Type Girders." ASCE, vol. 93, no. ST6, December, pp. 133-159.
- # Buchanan, J.D., Yoo, C.H. and Heins, C.P. (1974). "Field Study of a Curved Box Beam Bridge." Maryland University, College Park, Department of Civil Engineering, September, Interim Report, pp. 163.
 - Burke, M.P. (1983). "Abnormal Rotations of Skewed and Curved Bridges." Transportation Research Board, Record No. 903, pp. 59-64.

Burroughs, E.A. (1975). "Fifty-Year Development Construction of Steel Girder Bridges." *ASCE, Journal of Construction Division*, vol. 101, no. C03, September, pp. 463-476.

Calhoun, P.R. and DaDeppo, D.A. (1983). "Nonlinear Finite Element Analysis of Clamped Arches." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, 109(3), 599-612.

Castillo, M. (1970). "Stresses and Deformations in Horizontally Curved Girder Structures." Ph.D. Thesis, Purdue University.

Ceccoli, C. and Merli, M. (1976). "Uniformly Loaded Thin Rectangular Beams Used as Curved Tapered Beams in Bridge Construction (Trave Parete Ad Intradosso Curvo)." Giornale del Genio Civile, vol. 114, no. 7-8-9 July-August-September, pp. 253-264 (in Italian with English abstract).

Ceradini, G. (1965). "Theory of Multi-Girder Curved Bridges." IABSE Publications, vol. 25.

Chang, P.C., Heins, C.P., Li, G. and Shu, D. (1985). "Seismic Study of Curved Bridges Using the Rayleigh-Ritz Method." Computers and Structures, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 1095-1104.

Chapin, S.J., Fowler, J.L. and White, R.H. (1990). "Sweeping Curves Meet Aesthetic Goals." AISC, Modern Steel Construction, vol. 30, no. 3, May, pp. 50-54.

Chapman, J.C. (1971). "The Structural Behavior of Steel and Concrete Box Girder Bridges." Structural Engineer (UK), March, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 111-120.

Chen, Y.J. and Wang, N. (1989). "Approximate Reliability Analysis of Highway Bridges under the Action of Random Vehicles-In Relation to an Interchange Bridge of China." ICOSSAR '89, The 5th International Conference on Structural Safety and Reliability, Part III, San Francisco, CA, August 7-11.

Cheu, P.C.H. (1978). "Analysis of a Sectorial Ring Plate Having Cylindrical Orthotropy with Special Application to Horizontally Curved Bridges." Ph.D. Thesis, Rutgers University, The State U. of New Jersey (New Brunswick).

Cheung, Y.K., Wong, P.M. and Chan, H.C. (1980). "Generation of Higher-Order Subparametric Bending Elements." IPC Science and Technology Press Limited, Engineering Structures, vol. 2, no. 1, January, pp. 2-8.

Childress, W.H. (1962). "Analysis of Continuous Bent Beams Loaded Out of Plane by the Carry-Over Joint Method." Master Thesis presented to Oklahoma State University, at Stillwater.

* Chonges, J.E. (1980). "An Approximate Method of Analysing a Horizontally Curved Box Girder with Sloping Webs." Auckland University, New Zealand Department of Civil Engineering, pp. 67.

Choudhary, U.K. and Shankar, R. (1981). "Shear Distribution Around Bridge Piers in Curved Channels." Journal of Institution of Engineers (India), Part CI: Civil Engineering Division, vol. 61, pt CI 6, May, pp. 320-324.

Chu, K.H., Thelen, A. (1963). "Plastic Analysis of Circular Balcony Girders." ASCE, vol. 89, no. ST6, Pt. 1, December, pp. 159-186.

Chwalla, E. (1952). "Uber Das Problem Der Voll Mittragender Breite Von Gurt Und Rippen." Alfons-Leon-Gederschrift, Wein.

* Clarke, C.B. (1966). "Testing of a Model Curved Steel Girder Bridge." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 3, no. 3, July.

Close, R.A. (1964). "Deflection of Circular Curved I-Beams." ASCE, vol. 90, no. ST1, Pt. 1, February, pp. 203-207.

Cole, A.P. and Lavelle, F.H. (1976). "Comparison Studies of Methods of Analyzing Curved Bridges." CURT Technical Report No. 8(L), Research Project HPR-2(111), University of Rhode Island.

Collins, W.H. and Gaylord, C.J. (1962). "Structural Analysis of Horizontally Curved Girders." Am. Assn. State Highway Officials, Committee on Electronics, Regional Conference on Improved Highway Engineering Productivity, San Francisco, CA, March 2-3, Pt. 2, pp. 63-84.

Consortium of University Research Teams (1975). "Tentative Design Specifications for Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." Part of Final Report, Research Project HPR-2(111) (Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges), March.

Cretu, D. (1988). "Utilizare Metodei Elementului Finit in Analiza Podurilor Cu Tabliere Curbe (Use of the Finite Element Method in the Analysis of Curved Bridges)." Buletinul Stiintific - Institutul de Constructii, Bucuresti, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 79-88 (in Romanian).

Crowley, F.B., Phillips, J.W. and Taylor, C.E. (1974). "Pulse Propagation in Straight and Curved Beams -- Theory and Experiment." Journal of Applied Mechanics, ASME, vol. 41 Ser E, no. 1, March, pp. 71-76.

* Culver, C.G. (1972). "Design Recommendations for Curved Highway Bridges." Final Report for Research Project 68-32, PENDOT, Civil Engineering Department, Carnegie-Mellon University, June.

- # Culver, C.G., Brogan, D. and Bednar, D. (1970). "Analysis of Curved Girder Bridges." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 7, no. 1, January, pp. 10-15.
- # Culver, C.G. and Christiano, P.P. (1969). "Static Model Tests of Curved Girder Bridge." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 95, no. ST8 August, pp. 1599-1614.
- * Culver, C.G. and Mozer, J. (1970). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges-Stability of Curved Box Girders." Carnegie Mellon University, Report No. B1, Research Project No. HPR-2(111), September.
- * Culver, C.G. and Mozer, J. (1971). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges-Stability of Curved Box Girders." Carnegie Mellon University, Report No. B2, Research Project HPR-2(111), July.
- * Culver, C.G. and Nasir, G. (1970b). "Instability of Horizontally Curved Members-Buckling of Stiffened Curved Plates." Report to PENDOT, Civil Engineering Department, Carnegie Mellon University, October.
 - Cusens, A.R. and Pama, R.P. (1975). "Bridge Deck Analysis." Wiley, New York.
- Cutts, C.E. (1952). "Horizontally Curved Box Beams." ASCE, vol. 78, Separ. no. 128, May, 18 pps.
- Czudek, H., Pietraszek, T. and Zobel, H. (1977). "Steel Railroad Viaduct Curved in Plane." Inzynieria i Budownictwo, vol. 34, no. 4, April, pp. 121-124 (in Polish).
- Dabrowski, R. (1964). "The Analysis of Curved Thin-Walled Girders of Open Section." Der Stahlbau, 33(12), December, pp. 364-372.
- Dabrowski, R. (1965). "Warping Torsion of Curved Box Girders of Non-Deformable Cross-Section." Der Stahlbau, 34(5), May, pp. 135-141.
- * Dabrowski, R. (1965). "Approximate Analysis of the Curved Box Girder of Deformable Cross-Section." 7th IABSE Congress, preliminary publication, Zurich, Switzerland, pp. 299-306.
- * Dabrowski, R. and Wachowiak, J. (1972). "Stress in Thin Cylindrical Web of Curved Plate Girder." Colloquium on Design of Plate and Box Girder for Ultimate Strength, IABSE Publication, vol. 11, pp. 352-377.
 - DaDeppo, D.A. and Schmidt, R. (1969). "Nonlinear Analysis of Buckling and Post Buckling Behaviour of Circular Arches." Journal of Applied Mathematics and Physics, 20, pp. 847-857.
- # Daniels, J.H., Fisher, T.A., Batcheler, R.P. and Maurer, J.K. (1979a). "Fatigue of Curved Steel Bridge Elements-Ultimate Stength Tests of Horizontally Curved Plate and Box Girders."

- Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-79-137, August, pp. 83.
- # Daniels, J.H., Zettlemoyer, N., Abraham, D. and Batcheler, R.P. (1979b). "Fatigue of Curved Steel Bridge Elements-Analysis and Design of Plate Girder and Box Girder Test Assemblies." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-79-131, August, pp. 109.
- # Daniels, J.H. and Herbein, W.C. (1980). "Fatigue of Curved Steel Bridge Elements: Fatigue Tests of Curved Plate Girder Assemblies." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-RD-79-133, April, pp. 154.
 - Das, M.K. (1985). "Design Optimization of Curved Beams with Trapezoidal Section." Journal of Inst Eng India Part ME 3-4, vol. 66, November -January, pp. 63-66.
 - Das, P.C. (1970). "The Analysis of Curved Multi-Span Orthotropic Bridge Decks." RRL Reports, Road Research Lab (UK), Report Lr 32, 48 pps.
 - Das, P.K. (1971). "Coupled Vibration of a Horizontally Curved Bridge Subjected to Simulated Highway Loadings." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Pennsylvania.
 - Dawe, D.J. (1974a). "Curved Finite Elements of the Analysis of Shallow and Deep Arches." Computers and Structures, 4, 559-580.
 - Dawe, D.J. (1974b). "Numerical Studies Using Circular Arch Finite Elements." Computers and Structures, 4, 729-740.
 - De Silva, G.L.A.J. (1975). "A Model Study for Influence Surfaces of Curved Elastic Isotropic Bridge Decks." Ph.D. Thesis, The University of Manitoba (Canada).
 - Deerkoski, J.S. (1991). "Composite Twin Tub Bridge Erection Intersection of Interstate I-84 and I-94 in Hartford, Connecticut." ASCE Construction Congress '91, Cambridge, MA, April 13-16, pp. 142-147.
- * Denson, K.H. (1985). "Cost-Efficient Computer Analysis Method and Program for Horizontally Curved Box Girder Bridges." Mississippi State University Department of Civil Engineering, October, pp.177.
- * Denson, K.H. (1987). "Grid Analysis of Wide, Short-Span Continuous Curved Box Girders Utilizing Curved Member Properties." Mississippi State University Department of Civil Engineering, October, pp. 121.

* Denson, K.H. (1988). "Extended Evaluation of CBG (Curved Box Girder) and WCBG (Wide Curved Box Girder) Computer Programs." Mississippi State University Department of Civil Engineering, October, pp. 140.

Deutchen Stahlbau Verbund (1962). "Ein Handbuch Fur Studium Und Praxis, Bd. 3." Stahlbau-Verlag, Koln (in German).

Dezi, L. (1985). "Aspects of the Deformation of the Cross Section in Curved Singlecell Box Beams. (Aspetti Della Deformabilita Del Profilo Trasversale Nelle Travi Curve a Cassone Monocellulare)." Industria Italiana del Cemento, vol. 55, no. 7-8 July-August, pp. 500-508 (in Italian).

Donald, P.T.A. and Godden, W.G. (1963). "Numerical Solution to Curved Beam Problems." Structural Engineer, vol. 41, no. 6, June, pp. 179-186.

* Douglas, T.R, Gambrell, S.C, Yang, C., Althoff, J.C. and Nelson, L.E. (1972). "Experimental and Theoretical Investigation of Horizontally Curved Girder Highway Bridges." Alabama University, Report No. HPR-66; BER-151-97, August, pp. 193.

Douty, R. (1983). "Curved Girder Optimization - AASHTO Constraints." ASCE 4th Engineering Mechanics Division Specialty Conference: Recent Advances in Engineering Mechanics and their Impact on Civil Engineering Practice, West Lafayette, Indiana, May 23-25, vol. 1, pp. 102-105.

Dubas, P. (1987). "Some Remarks Concerning the Design of Composite Bridges." Journal of Constructional Steel Research, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 233-251.

Dubas, P. (1991). "Composite Bridges New Developments in Europe." Swiss Federal Inst of Technology, Zurich, Switz, Courses and Lectures - International Centre for Mechanical Sciences, no. 316, pp. 55-66.

- * Ellerman, J. and Fred W. (1966). "Experimental Investigation of Horizontally Curved Steel Plate Girder Bridges." District of Columbia Dept. of Highways and Traffic, Washington. Materials Development and Research Division, September, pp. 29.
- * El-Nimeiri, M.M. (1974). "Stability and Large Deflections of Curved Thin-Walled Girders." Ph.D. Thesis, Northwestern University.
- * Enda, Y. (1972). "Analysis of Thin-Walled Curved Beams with Open Cross Section as Finite Displacement Theory by Transfer Matrix Method." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 199, March, pp. 11-20 (in Japanese).
- * Enda, Y. (1973). "Second-Order Elastic Stress Analysis of Thin-Walled Curved Beams with Open Cross Section by Transfer Matrix Method." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 210, February, pp. 1-11 (in Japanese).

Emerick, J.L. (1989). "Lambert Airport Bridge." AISC, Modern Steel Construction, vol. 29, no. 6, November, pp. 18-19.

Engel, S. (1967). "Structural Analysis of Circular Curved Beams." ASCE, vol. 93, no. ST1, February, pp. 221-234.

Erlik, S. (1949). "Semi-Circular Bow-Girders." Concrete and Construction Engineering, vol. 44, no. 6, June, pp. 169-174.

Evans, C.F. and Smith, R.L. (1976). "Welded Beams Solve Double Curve Problem." Highway and Heavy Construction, vol. 119, no. 7, July, pp. 64-65.

Evans, D.B. and Heins, C.P. (1974). "Influence Lines for Two and Three Span Continuous Curved Girder Bridges." Maryland University, College Park, Department of Civil Engineering, Interim Report no. FHWA-MD-R-76-5, September, 267 pps.

Fam, A.R.M. (1973). "Static and Free-Vibration Analysis of Curved Box Bridges." Ph.D. Thesis, McGill University (Canada).

* Fang, P.J. and Lavelle, F.H. (1975). "Thermal Efects on Horizontally Curved Steel Highway Bridges." CURT Technical Report No. 3(L), Research Project HPR-2(111), University of Rhode Island, May.

Fasullo, E.J. (1962). "Curving a Box Girder." AISC, Modern Steel Construction, vol. II, no. 4, October.

Federhofer, K. (1953). "Elastically Supported Circular Ring Beam Loaded Perpendicular to Its Plane." ZAMM, vol. 33, no. 819, August-September, pp. 292-293.

Ferguson, G.H. and Clark, R.D. (1979). "Variable Thickness, Curved Beam and Shell Stiffening Element with Shear Deformations." *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 581-592.

Fettahlioglu, O.A. and Mayers, J. (1976). "Consistent Treatment of Extensional Deformations for the Bending of Arches, Curved Beams and Rings." ASME, no. 76, September 19-24, 10 pps.

Fettahlioglu, O.A. and Steele, T.K. (1988). "Thermal Deformations and Stresses in Circularly Curved Thin Beams and Rings." Journal of Therm Stresses, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 233-255.

Fickel, H.H. (1959). "Analysis of Curved Girders." ASCE, vol. 85, no. ST7, pt. 1, September, pp. 113-141.

- # Fisher, J.W., Mertz, D.R. and Wu, K.C. (1982). "Displacement-Induced Fatigue Cracking of a Box Girder Bridge." *IABSE Reports*, vol. 39, pp. 71-76.
- # Fisher, J.W., Yen, B.T. and Wang, D. (1990). "Fatigue Strength of Riveted Bridge Members." ASCE, Journal of the Structural Engineering, v. 116, n. 11, pp. 2968-2981.
 - Frank, W.J. and Schmitz, W.J. (1990). "Facelift for an Interchange." Civil Engineering, vol. 60, no. 9, September.
- * Fujii, F. and Gong, S. (1988). "Field Transfer Matrix for Nonlinear Curved Beams." Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 114, no. 3, March, pp. 675-692 (in Japanese).
- * Fujii, K. and Ohmura, H. (1985). "Nonlinear Behaviour of Curved Girder-Web Considered Flange Rigidities." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 356/I-3, April, pp. 69-79 (in Japanese).
- * Fukasawa, Y. (1964). "Fundamental Theory on the Statical Analysis of Thin-Walled Curved Bars." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 110, October, pp. 30-51 (in Japanese).
- * Fukasawa, Y. (1975). "Bending-Torsion Problems of Thin-Walled Curved Beam with Poligonal Open Section." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 234, February, pp. 45-59 (in Japanese).
- * Fukasawa, Y. and Kobyaashi, K.I (1975). "Transfer Matrix of Thin-Walled Curved Girders and Their Application to Analysis of Continuous Curved Girder Bridges with Variable Cross Sections." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 244, December, pp. 47-55 (in Japanese).
 - Fukumoto, Y., Nishida, S., Itoh, Y. and Uemura, T. (1988). "Ultimate Strength Tests on Straight and Curved Parallel Steel Box Monorail Girders." (In Japanese).
- * Funkhouser, D.W. and Heins, C.P. (1972). "Skew and Elevated Support Effects on Curved Bridges. The Design of Curved Viaducts." Maryland University, College Park. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Progress Report No.46, February, pp. 107.
- * Funkhouser, D.W. and Heins, C.P. (1974). "Skew and Elevated Support Effects on Curved Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 100, no. ST7, July, pp. 1379-96.
 - Gambrell, S.C. (1986). "Structural Behavior of the Homewood Bridge After Fourteen Years Traffic." Alabama University, Tuscaloosa Department of Engineering Mechanics, Report no. FHWA-AL-106-88, August, 64 pps.

Geincke, E. (1964). "Uber Die Berechnung Regelmass Iger Konstruktion Aus Kontinium." Der Stahlbau, Heft 33, s. 39-48, February (in German).

Genin, J., Ting, E.C. and Vafa, Z. (1982). "Curved Bridge Response to a Moving Vehicle." Journal of Sound and Vibration, vol. 81, no. 4, April, pp. 469-475.

Gere, J.M. and Lin, Y.K. (1958). "Coupled Vibrations of Thin-Walled Beams of Open Cross-Section." Journal of Applied Mechanics, (35), September, pp. 373-378.

Ghali, A. (1971). "The Calculation of Bridge Decks by Numerical Methods." Societe de Diffusion Tech du Bat et des Trav Pub Annales de l'Institut Tech du Batiment Travaux Pub N288, December, pp. 93-103 (in French).

Gibson, A.H. and Ritchie, E.G. (1914). "A Study of Circular-Arc Bow-Girder." Constable, London.

Gottfeld, H. (1932). "The Analysis of Spatially Curved Steel Bridges." Die Bautechnik, pp. 715 (in German).

Gover, W.J.S. (1990). "Curved Steel Sections. Developments in Structural Engineering. Proceedings of the Forth Rail Bridge Centenary Conference, Heriot-Watt University, Endinburgh, Scotland, August 21-23, 1990. Volumes 1 and 2." Spon, E&FN, pp. 770-781.

Granitow, W.W. (1968). "Track Eccentricities Calculation." Southern Pacific Transportation Company, San Francisco CA, March.

- * Greig, R.A. and Armstrong, W.L. (1973). "Behavior of a Curved Steel Box Beam Bridge." *Public Roads*, vol. 37, no. 7, December, pp. 262-266.
- * Greig, R.A. and Lavelle, F.H. "Field Testing of Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." CURT Technical Report No. 7(L), Research Project HPR-2(111), University of Rhode Island.
- * Greig, R.A. and Lavelle, F.H. (1971). "Analysis and Tests of Small Curved Steel Girder Bridges 1, 2, 3, and 4." Engineering Bulletin No. 11, University of Rhode Island, Division of Engineering R & D, June.
- * Greig, R.A. and Lavelle, F.H. (1971). "Analysis and Tests of Small Curved Steel Girder Bridges 5 & 6." Engineering Bulletin No. 12, University of Rhode Island, Division of Engineering R & D, August.

Guchkov, V.V. (1948). "Formulas and Graphs for Designing Monorail Beams." Collected Articles of VNIIPTMASH.

Guest, J.J. (1918). "Curved Beams." Royal Society, London, vol. 95, no. A665, September 2, pp. 1-21.

- Hallmen, B. (1973). "Computer Program for Design of Curved Bridges." Byggfoerlaget Byggnadsindustrin, vol. 43, no. 36, pp. 29-30 (in Swedish).
- Hambly, E.C. (1976). "Bridge Deck Behaviour." Chapman and Hall Limited, 298 pps.
- * Hasebe, K., Usuki, S. and Horie, Y. (1985). "Shear Lag Analysis and Effective Width of Curved Girder Bridges." Journal of Engineering Mechanics, vol. 111, no. 1, January, pp. 87-92.
- # Haugeneder, E. and Prochazka, W. (1981). "On Calculation of Large Deformations on Curved Beams (Zur Berechnung Grosser Verformungen Von Gekruemmten Staeben)." Ingenieur-Archiv, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 401-411 (in German with English abstract).
- # Hayashi, M. and Iwasaki, E. (1988). "Validity of Straight Beam Approximations for Curved Thin-Walled Members on Geometrical Nonlinear Analysis." (in Japanese).
 - Heins, C.P. (1968). "Behavior of a Stiffened Curved Plate Model." Paper presented at the Annual ASCE meeting on Structural Engineering, Pittsburgh, PA, September 30-October 4.
- # Heins, C.P. (1970). "Analytical- Experimental Study of a Curved Bridge Model." ASCE Special Conference on Steel Structures, Columbia, Mo, June 8-12, pp. 55-63.
- * Heins, C.P. (1971). "Behaviour and Design of Curved Girder Bridges." Devel Bridge Design & Constr (UK), pp. 287-303.
- * Heins, C.P. (1972). "Design Data for Curved Bridges." Maryland University, Civil Engr Dept, No. 47, March, pp. 69.
- * Heins, C.P. (1975). "Design of Curved I-Girder Bridges." Maryland University, College Park, Department of Civil Engineering, Interim Report no. FHWA-MD-R-76-3, August, pp. 36.
 - Heins, C.P. (1975). "Bending and Torsional Design of Structural Members." Lexington Books, Lexington, MA.
 - Heins, C.P. (1976). "Applied Plate Theory for Engineers." Lexington Books, Lexington, MA.
- # Heins, C.P. (1977). "Design Data and Trends of Curved Bridges. Curved Box and I Type Girders." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, Report no. FHWA-MD-R-78-10, June, pp. 45.
- # Heins, C.P. (1980). "Approximate Curve I-Girder Design." ASCE Conv & Expo, Hollywood, Fla, October 27-31, pp. 15.

- # Heins, C.P. (1982a). "Influence of Bracing on Load Distribution of Bridges." International Conference on Short and Medium Span Bridges (Canadian Society for Civil Engineering), Toronto, Ont, Can, August 8-12 -, vol. 2, pp. 3-15.
- # Heins, C.P. (1982b). "Seismic Design of Highway Bridges." Analysis and Design of Bridges Conference (NATO Advanced Study Institute), Cesme, Izmir, Turk Conference, June 28-July 9, pp. 343-373.
- * Heins, C.P., Galdos, N.H., Li, G.H. and Shi, D. (1982). "Theoretical Seismic Analysis of Curved Box Girder Bridges." Maryland University, College Park, November, pp. 112.
 - Heins, C.P. and Humphreys, R.S. (1977). "Interaction Effects of Bending and Torsion on Steel Box Girders. Curved Box and I Type Girders." Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, FHWA-MD-R-78-8, January, 220 pps.
 - Heins, C.P. and Humphreys, R.S. (1979). "Bending and Torsion Interaction of Box Girders." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 105, no. ST5, May, Proceeding pp. 891-904.
 - Heins, C.P. and Juo, J.T.C. (1972a). "Composite Beams in Torsion." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 98, no. ST5, May.
 - Heins, C.P. and Juo, J.T.C. (1972b). "Torsional Properties of Composite Girders." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 9, no. 2, April.
- * Heins, C.P. and Nettleton, D.A. "Curved I-Girder Design." Transportation Research Record N547, pp. 4-21.
- * Heins, C.P. and Robinson, E.P. (1973). "Design of Continuous Curved Bridges." Public Roads, Us Bureau Public Roads, vol. 37, no. 4, March, pp. 161-8.
 - Heins, C.P. and Seaburg, P.A. (1963). "Torsion in Rolled Sections." Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Bethlehem, PA.
- * Heins, C.P. and Shyu, J.Y. (1982). "Computer Design and Analysis of Steel Box Girder Bridges for Transit Structures." Maryland University, College Park Department of Civil Engineering, June 1982 Final Report, pp. 115.
- * Hikosaka, H. and Takami, K. (1985). "Formulation of Distortional Behavior of Thin-Walled Curved Beam with Open Cross Section." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 356/I-3, April, pp. 91-100.
- * Hirai, I. (1963). "Fundamental Equations of Beam Structure under Moving Loads and Its Application." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 90, February, pp. 29-36 (in Japanese).

* Hirashima, M., Iura, M. and Yada, T. (1979). "Finite Displacement Theory of Naturally Curved and Twisted Thin-Walled Members." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 292, December, pp. 13-25.

Hodges, D.H. (1990). "Mixed Variational Formulation Based on Exact Intrinsic Equations for Dynamics of Moving Beams." International Journal of Solids and Structures, vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 1253-1273.

Hogan, M.B. (1938). "Circular Beams Loaded Normal to the Plane of Curvature." ASME, Journal of Applied Mechanics, vol. 5, no. 2, June, pp. A81-A85.

Hogan, M.B. (1944). "Circular Beams Loaded Normal to the Palne of Curvature-2." ASME, Journal of Applied Mechanics, vol. 11, no. 1, March, pp. A51-A56.

Hogan, M.B. (1945). "Moment Distribution Applied to Combined Flexure and Torsion." Utah University, Engineering Experimental Station, Bulletin No. 26, vol. 35, no. 16, February, 40 pps.

Hogan, M.B. (1947). "The Deflection of Circular Arcs Subjected to Combined Flexure and Torsion." Utah University, Engineering Experimental Station, Bulletin No. 27, vol. 35, no. 19, April, 18 pps.

Homberg, H. (1951). "Kruzwerke, Forschungshefte Aus Dem Gebiete Des Stahlbaues." Heft 8, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (in German).

Ilyasevitch, S. and Klujev, B. (1971). "Stabilitat Der Elastischen Zylinderbauplatte Bei Querbiegung Eines Dunnwandigen Stahltragers Mit Doppelter X-Formiger Wand." A Report to the April Seminar of the IBASE, London. Summarized in English in IBASE Bulletin 27, pp. 17.

- * Imai, F. and Ohta, T. (1983). "Plastic Analysis of Curved Grillage Girders." Kyushu University, Dep of Civil Engineering, Kyushu, Japan, Memoirs of the Faculty of Engineering, Kyushu University, vol. 43, no. 1, March, pp. 1-8 (in English).
- * Imai, F. and Ohta, T. (1987). "Investigation on Yeild Surface Equations of Curved I-Beams." Proceedings *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, No. 380/I-7, April, pp. 349-354 (in Japanese).
- * Imbsen, R.A. and Lea, J. (1984). "Implementation of the Analytical Capabilities Required for the Seismic Design of Bridges." Transportation Research Board Transportation Research Record, vol. 1, no. 950, pp. 103-110.
- * Imegwu, E.O. (1964). "Ultimate Strength of Plane Curved Girders." Struc. Engineering, vol. 42, no. 4, April, pp. 129-134.

IPC Building and Contract Journals (1974). "Drygrange Bridge, Roxburghshire." Limited Highways and Road Construction, vol. 42, no. 1774, June, pp. 16-17.

IPC Building and Contract Journals (1974)."M56 Sharston Bypass-Interchange." Limited Highways and Road Construction, vol. 42, no. 1774, June, pp. 14-15.

Ito, M. and Katayama, T. (1965). "Damping of Bridge Structures." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 117, May, pp. 12-22 (in Japanese).

Jackson, N. (1965). "The Automatic Calculation of Collapse Loads for Circular Arc Beams." Struct. Engineering, vol. 43, no. 12, December, pp. 413-421.

Jackson, N. (1966). "Collapse Loads for Circular-Arc Beams." ASCE, vol. 92, no. ST5, October.

Japanese Road Association (1973). "The Japanese Specification for Highway Bridges." February (in Japanese).

Japanese Road Association (1980). "Japanese Specification for Designing of Highway Bridge." Maruzen, Tokyo (in Japanese).

Japanese Road Association (1980). "The Japanese Specification for Highway Bridges, Parts I, Ii, V." Maruzen, Tokyo, February (in Japanese).

Jellie, D.R. and Shepherd, B. (1991). "Elevated Section of the West Gate Freeway, South Melbourne, Australia. Part 2. Design and Construction of Substructure and Superstructures." Overseas Projects Corp of Victoria, Australia.

Johnston, S.B. and Mattock, A.H. (1967). "Lateral Distribution of Load in Composite Box Girder Bridges." Highway Research Record, no. 167, HRB, Washington, DC, January.

Jones, A.E. (1979). "Bearings: Part A - Performance." New South Wales Department of Main Roads, Australia, September, 56 pps.

Joseph, T.P. and Wilson, J.F. (1980). "Vibrations of Curved Spans for Mass Transit." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, vol. 106, no. 2, April, pp. 255-272.

Kamel, M.E. (1963). "Influence Areas for Continuous Beams in Space." Ph.D. Thesis presented to Oklahoma State University, at Stillwater.

Kaufmann, H. (1919). "The Calculation of Circular Curved Beams on Three or More Supports." Zeischrift für Bauwesen, vol. 69, nos. 10-12, pp. 667-683.

Kawashima, K. and Penzien, J. (1979). "Theoretical and Experimental Dynamic Behaviour of a Curved Model Bridge Structure." *Earthquake Engineering & Structural Dynamics*, vol. 7, no. 2, March-April, pp. 129-145.

Ketchek, K.F. (1969). "Another Approach to Simplified Design of a Curved Steel Girder." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 6, no. 4, October, pp. 116-123.

* Kissane, R.J. (1978). "Estimating Lateral Flange Bending in Curved Plate Girders." New York State Department of Transportation, Interim Report no. FHWA-NY-78-RR60, April, pp. 37.

Kobori, T. (1973). "Bridge Engineering." Asakura-shoten, Tokyo (in Japanese).

* Kobayashi, H., Nishikawa, T. and Sonoda, K. (1987). "Effect of Shear Deformation on Dynamic Response of Curved Slab Bridge to Moving Loads." Memoirs of the Faculty of Engineering, Osaka City University, vol. 28 December, pp. 171-185.

Kojima, K., Nakao, M. and Fujita, K. (1989). "Erection Method of Curved Truss." Japanese Railway Engineering, no. 110 June, pp. 9-14.

Kollbrunner and Hajdin (1972). "Dunnwandige Stabe, Bd.1, Stabe Mit Undeformierbaren Querschnitten." Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

Komatsu, S. (1963a). "Practical Formulas for the Curved Bridge with Multiple Plate Girders." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 93, May, pp. 1-9 (in Japanese).

Komatsu, S. (1963b). "Structural Analysis for Continuous S-Shaped Curved Girder Bridge." Thirteenth Japan National Congress for Applied Mechanics.

Komatsu, S. (1969). "Theory and Calculation of Thin-Walled Structures." Sankaido (in Japanese).

Komatsu, S. et al. (1965). "Design Formulas for Adjusting the Stress Acting in the Cross-Section of Cross Beams and Curved Box-Shape Girders." *Journal of Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, vol. 50, no. 5, May, pp. 33-37.

Komatsu, S. and Nakai, H. (1970a). "Application of the Analog Computer to the Analysis of Dynamical Response of Curved Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 178, pp. 11-26 (in Japanese).

Komatsu, S., Kitada, T. and Miyazaki, S. (1975). "Elastic-Plastic Analysis of Compressed Plate with Residual Stress and Initial Deflection." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 244, December, pp. 1-14 (in Japanese).

- Komatsu, S., Nakai, H. and Kitada, T. (1971a). "Study on Shear Lag and Effective Width of Curved Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, vol. 191, July, pp. 1-14 (in Japanese).
- Komatsu, S., Nakai, H. and Kotoguchi, H. (1971b). "Study on Dynamic Response and Impact of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges under Moving Vehicles." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 192, August, pp. 55-68 (in Japanese).
- * Komatsu, S., Kitada, T. and Miyazaki, S. (1975). "Elastic-Plastic Analysis of Compressed Plate with Residual Stress and Initial Deflection." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 244, December, pp. 1-14 (in Japanese).
- * Komatsu, S. and Nakai, H. (1966). "Study on Free Vibration of Curved Girder Bridges." Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, no. 136, December, pp. 27-38.
- * Komatsu, S. and Nakai, H. (1970a). "Application of the Analog Computer to the Analysis of Dynamical Response of Curved Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 178, pp. 11-26 (in Japanese).
- * Komatsu, S. and Nakai, H. (1970b). "Fundamental Study on Forced Vibration of Curved Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 174, February, pp. 27-38.
- * Komatsu, S., Nakai, H. and Kitada, T. (1971a). "Study on Shear Lag and Effective Width of Curved Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, vol. 191, July, pp. 1-14 (in Japanese).
- * Komatsu, S., Nakai, H. and Kotoguchi, H. (1971b). "Study on Dynamic Response and Impact of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges under Moving Vehicles." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 192, August, pp. 55-68 (in Japanese).
- * Komatsu, S., Nakai, H. and Taido, Y. (1974). "A Proposition for Designing the Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges in Connection with Ratio Between Torsional and Flexural Rigidities." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 224, April, pp. 55-56 (in Japanese).
 - Kondo, K., Komatsu, S. and Nakai, H. (1962). "Theoretical and Experimental Researches on Effective Width of Girder Bridges with Steel Deck Plates." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 86, October, pp. 1-17 (in Japanese).
 - Konishi, I. and Komatsu, S. (1963a). "Three Dimensional Analysis of Continuous Curved Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 91, March, pp. 13-24.

- Konishi, I. and Komatsu, S. (1963b). "Three Dimensional Analysis of Simply Supported Curved Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 90, February, pp. 11-28.
- * Konishi, L. and Komatsu, S. (1962). "On Fundamental Theory of Thin-Walled Curved Girder." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 87, November, pp. 35-46 (in Japanese).
- * Konishi, L. and Komatsu, S. (1965). "Three Dimensional Analysis of Curved Girder with Thin-Walled Cross-Section." *IABASE*, Zurich, Switzerland, vol. 25, pp. 143-203.
 - Kumura, T. and Tanida, R. (1975). "Structural Analysis of Arbitrary Grillage Girder Bridges by Transfer Matrix Method Sustained with Model Tests." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 243, November, pp. 1-18 (in Japanese).
- * Kou, C. (1989). "Static and Dynamic Analysis of Curved Continuous Box Girder Bridges." Ph.D. Thesis, Brigham Young University.
- * Kuo, J.T. and Heins, C.P. (1970). "Torsional Properties of Composite Steel Bridge Members. The Design of Curved Viaducts." Maryland University, Civil Engineering Department, June, Progress Report No. 37, pp. 131.
 - Kuo, J.T. and Heins, C.P. (1971). "Behavior of Composite Beams Subjected to Torsion." Maryland University, Report No. Aw-71-85-46.
- * Kuranishi, S. (1964). "Analysis of Thin-Walled Curved Beams." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 108, August, pp. 7-12 (in Japanese).
- * Kuribayashi, E., Ueda, O. and Hagiwara, R. (1984)."Vibration Tests of Bridge Models Using a Large Shaking Table." Pittsburgh University, Pittsburgh Department of Civil Engineering, June, pp. 389-428.
- # Lamblin, D. and Guerlement, G. (1974). "Effect of Curvature on Plastic Limit Analysis of Curved I-Beams." *Journal of Structural Mechanics*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 301-315.
 - Langhaar, H.L. (1952). "Torsion of Curved Beams of Rectangular Cross-Section." ASME, Journal of Applied Mechanics, vol. 19, no. 1, March, pp. 49-53.
- * Lavelle, F.H. (1975). "Survey on Design, Fabrication, and Erection Considerations for Horizontally Curved Steel Highway Bridges." CURT Technical Report No. 2(L), Research Project HPR-2(111), University of Rhode Island, May.
- * Lavelle, F.H. and Laska, R.J. "Parameter Studies of Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." CURT Technical Report No. 6(L), Research Project HPR-2(111), University of Rhode Island.

- Lazaro, A. (1953). "Design of Horizontal Circular Beams with Vertical Loads." Journal of Philippine Engineering, Rec., vol. 13, no. 3-4, January, pp. 8-12.
- Leninger, W.J. (1968). "Analytical and Experimental Study of Girders Curved in Plan." Master Thesis presented to Penn. State University, at University Park.
- * Lopes, M.A. (1970). "Contribution for the Calculation of Curved Bridges, (Pontes Em Curva-Contribuicao Para O Seu Calculo)." Tecnica (Lisbon), vol. 45, no. 399-400 June-July, pp. 513-16 (in Portuguese).
 - Love, A.E.H. (1927). "A Treatise on the Mathematical Theory of Elasticity." 4th ed., Dover.
 - Loveall, C.L. (1986). "Advances in Bridge Design and Construction." AISC Solutions in Steel, The National Engineering Conference, Nashville, TN, June 12-14, pp. 2.1-2.14.
- * Maegawa, K. and Yoshida, H. (1981). "Ultimate Strength Analysis of Curved I-Beams by Transfer Matrix Method." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 312, August, pp. 27-42 (in Japanese).
 - Marquardsen, R.P.V. (1935). "Comparison of Curved and Straight Beams of Rectangular Cross Section." Concrete, vol. 43, no. 4, April, pp. 11-12.
 - Martini, G. and Magnani, M. (1978). "Automatic Computation of Plane Skeleton Construction with Curved Beams (Sul Calcolo Automatico Delle Strutture Piane A Telaio Con Travi Ad Asse Curvo)." Energia Elettrica, vol. 55, no. 2, February, pp. 70-78 (In Italian).
- # Masaki, Y., Sano, S. and Sakai, F. (1987). "Analysis and Design of Wind- and Earthquake-Resistance of an S-Curved Cable-Stayed Bridge." Bridges and Transmission Line Structures, ASCE Conference Sessions at Structures Congress '87, Orlando, FL, August 17-20, pp. 341-356.
- # Massoni, M. (1982). "Elastic Behavior of Curved Thin-Web Arch Girders (Comportement Elastique Des Poutres Courbes A Parois Minces)." Annales des Ponts et Chaussees, no. 22, pp. 21-39 (in French with English abstract).
 - Matsui, G. (1982). "On Stream Line Curved Beams." Waseda University, Dep of Architecture, Tokyo, Japan, Memoirs of the School of Science and Engineering, no. 46, pp. 125-143.
- * Matsunaga, Y., Nakai, H., Kotoguchi, H. and Ohminami, R. (1969). "Experimental Study on Dynamic Properties of Straight Girder Bridges." 24th Annual Conference of *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, paper, no. I-82, November (in Japanese).
 - McGraw-Hill, Incorporated (1984). "Steel Box Girders Are Squeezed Into Tight Curve." Engineering News Record, vol. 213, no. 21 November, pp. 28-29.

McManus, P.F. (1968). "Non-Uniform Torsion of Beams of Composite, Open, Thin-Walled Cross-Section." Master Thesis presented to Carnegie-Mellon University, at Pittsburgh.

McManus, P.F. and Culver, C.G. (1969). "Nonuniform Torsion of Composite Beams." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 95, no. ST6, June.

McManus, P.F. and Culver, C.G. (1970). "Lateral Stability of Curved Plate Girders." ASCE Special Conference on Steel Structures, Columbia, Mo, June 8-12, pp. 47-53.

McWhorter, J.C., Wetenkamp, H.R. and Sidebottom, O.M. (1971). "Finite Deflections of Curved Beams." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, vol. 97, no. EM2, April, paper 8046, pp. 345-58.

Mellor, P.B. and Johnson, W. (1958). "Approximate Deflections in Cantilevers Curved in Plan." *Journal of Royal Aero. Society*, vol. 62, no. 565, January, pp. 64-66.

Michalos, J.P. (1956). "Numerical Analysis of Frames with Curved Girders." ASCE, vol. 121, pp. 521-543.

- * Mikami, I., Akamatsu, Y. and Takeda, H. (1974). "Elastic Local and Coupled Buckling of Vertically Curved I-Girders under Pure Bending." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 230, October, pp. 45-54 (in Japanese).
- * Mikami, I., Furunishi, K. and Yonezawa, H. (1980). "Nonlinear Behavior of Cylindrical Web Panels Under Bending." Proceedings of *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, No. 288, July, pp. (in Japanese).

Mitchell, H. (1890). "The Small Deformation of Curves and Surfaces with Application to the Vibration of a Helix and a Circular Ring." Messenger of Mathematics, vol. 19, pp. 68-83.

Modjeski and Masters (1992). "Development of Comprehensive Bridge Specifications and Commentary - Third Draft LRFD Specification and Commentary." Harrisburg, PA, April.

Moorman, R.B.B. (1938). "Semi-Graphical Method of Analysis for Horizontally Curved Beams." University of Missouri, Engineering Experimental Station, Bulletin No. 29, vol. 39, no. 20, October 15, 36 pps.

Moorman, R.B.B. (1940). "Stresses in Curved Beams under Loads Normal to Plane of Its Axis." Iowa State College of Agriculture and Mechanical Arts, Engineering Experimental Station, Bulletin Nos. 38, 41, vol. 145, March, 64 pps.

Moorman, R.B.B. (1947). "Stresses in Uniformly Loaded Circular Arc Beams." Missouri University, Engineering Series no. 36, 28 pps.

- Moorman, R.B.B., Tate, M.B. (1947). "Influence Lines for Horizontally Curved Fixed-End Beams of Circular Arc Plan." Missouri University, Engineering Series no. 35, 49 pps.
- Morancay, G., Delfino, A., Wianecki, J. and Driviere, J. (1971). "Aerodynamic Study of Curved Metal Bridge (Etude Aerodynamique D'un Pont Metallique Courbe)." Annales de l'Institut Technique du Batiment et des Travaux Publics, no. 277, January, pp. 169-88 (in French).
- Morgan, V.A. (1952). "Design of Unusual Bow-Grider." Concrete and Construction Engineering, vol. 47, no. 2, February, pp. 47-55.
- * Mozer, J., Cook, J. and Culver, C.G. (1972). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges-Stability of Curved Plate Girders." Carnegie Mellon University, Report No. P3, Research Project HPR-2(111), November.
- * Mozer, J. and Culver, C.G. (1970). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges-Stability of Curved Plate Girders." Carnegie Mellon University, Report No. P1, Research Project HPR-2(111), September.
- * Mukerjee, D. and Trikha, D.N. (1978). "Dynamic Analysis of Curved Box Girder Bridges." Symp on Earthquake Eng, 6th, vol. 1, University of Roorkee, India, October 5-7, Publ by Sarita Prakashan, Meerut, India, pp. 471-476.
 - Mukhopadhyay, M. (1978). "Semi-Analytic Solution for Radially Supported Curved Plates in Bending." Forschung im Ingenieurwesen, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 187-196 (in German).
 - Nakai, H. and Heins, C.P. (1977). "Analysis Criteria for Curved Bridges." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 103, no. STM, July, pp. 1419-27.
- * Nakai, H. and Kitada, T. (1982). "A Parametric Survey of Cable-Stayed Bridges in Japan." Sino-American Symposium on Bridge and Structural Engineering, part 1, Beijing, People's Republic of China, September, pp. 2-09-1 through 2-09-15.
- * Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Akehashi, K., and Yano N. "Static Tests on Local Stress Behaviors of Structural Details for Horizontally Curved I-Girder Bridge." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 37A, March, pp. 1211-1222 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Akehashi, K., and Yano N. (1991). "Fatigue Tests on Multiple Curved I-Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 37A, March, pp. 1211 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Ishizaki, H., and Akehashi, K. (1989). "An Experimental Study on Fatigue Strength of Web Plates in Horizontally Curved Plate Girder." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 35A, March, pp. 911-920 (in Japanese).

- * Nakai, H., Kitada, T. and Ohminami, R. (1985b). "Experimental Study on Buckling and Ultimate Strength of Curved Girders Subjected to Combined Loads of Bending and Shear." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, n. 356/I-3, April, pp. 445-454 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H., Kitada, T. and Ohminami, R. (1985c). "Proposition for Designing Intermediate Transverse Stiffeners in Web Plate of Horizontally Curved Girders." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 362/I-4 October, pp. 249-257 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Ohminami, R. and Fukumoto, K. (1984a). "Experimental Study on Shear Strength of Horizontally Curved Plate Girders." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 350, October 1984, pp. 281-290 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H., Kitada, T., Ohminami, R., and Kawai, T. (1986). "A Study on Analysis and Design of Web Plate in Curved Girder Bridges Subjected to Bending." Proceedings of *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, No. 368/I-5, April, pp. 235-244 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H. and Kotoguchi, H. (1975a). "Application of Transfer Matrix Method for Analyzing the Stress Resultants and Displacements of Thin-Walled Girder Bridges Subjected to Non-Uniform Torsion." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 223, January, pp. 1-15 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H. and Kotoguchi, H. (1976). "Studies on Shear Lag and Effective Width of Continuous Girder Bridge by Transfer Matrix Method." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 252, August, pp. 29-44 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H. and Kotoguchi, H. (1983). "A Study on Lateral Buckling Strength and Design Aid for Horizontally Curved I-Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, n 339, November, pp. 195-205.
- * Nakai, H., Kotoguchi, T. and Tani, T. (1976). "Matrix Structural Analysis of Thin-Walled Curved Girder Bridges Subjected to Arbitrary Loads." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 255, November, pp. 1-15 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H., Kuroyama, Y., Eiha, K., Nibo, M, and Akehashi, K. (1989). "A Stress Measurement Near Junction Parts of Secondary Members in Plate Girder Bridges Devoting Fatigue." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 35A, March (in Japanese).
 - Nakai, H. and Miki, T. (1979). "Analysis and Experiments on Distortion of Thin-Walled Horizontally Curved Box Girder Bridges." Osaka City University, Japan, vol. 20, December, pp. 191-216.

- * Nakai, H., Muramatsu, O., Yoshikawa, O., Kitada, T. and Ohminami, R. (1981). "A Survey for Web Plates of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges." Bridge and Foundation Engineering, 81(5), May, pp. 38-45 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H., Murayama, Y., and Kitada, T. "An Experimental Study on Ultimate Strength of Thin-Walled Box Beams with Longitudinal Stiffeners Subjected to Bending and Torsion."

 Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, Journal of Structural Engineering, vol. 38A, March, pp. 155-165 (in Japanese)
- * Nakai, H., Murayama, Y., and Kitada, T. (1990). "An Experimental Study on Ultimate Strengthe of Thin-Walled Box Beams Subjected to Bending and Torsion." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 38A, March, pp. 63- (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H., Okumura, T. and Tanida, R. (1975). "Structural Analysis of Arbitrary Grillage Girder Bridges by Transfer Matrix Method Sustained with Model Tests." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 243, November, pp. 1-18 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H. and Sakano, M. (1986). "An Experimental and Analytical Study on Ultimate Sterngth of End Transverse Stiffner in Plate Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, Journal of Structural Engineering*, 32A, March, pp. 339-410 (in Japanese).
- * Nakai, H. and Tani, T. (1978). "An Approximate Method for the Evaluation of Torsional and Warping Stress in Box Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 227, January, pp. 41-55 (in Japanese).
- * Nishino, F. and Fukasawa, Y. (1976). "Formulation of Static Behavior of Thin-Walled Curved Beams under Assumptions of Strain Field." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 247, March, pp. 9-19 (in Japanese).
 - Noor, A.K., Peters, J.M. and Andersen, C.M. (1984). "Mixed Models and Reduction Techniques for Large-Rotation Nonlinear Problems." Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, vol. 44, no. 1, June, pp. 67-89.
- # Noor, A.K. and Peters, J.M. (1981). "Mixed Models and Reduced/Selective Integration Displacement Models for Nonlinear Analysis of Curved Beams." International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering, 17(4), 615-631.
 - Norton, P.G. (1984). "Computer Analysis of Aashto Plate Girders in Pure Bending with Load-Factor Design." TRB Second Bridge Engineering Conference, Minneapolis, MN, September 24-26, Record 950, vol. 1, pp. 13-21.
 - Odqvist, F.K.G. (1954). "Theory of Elastic Rings with Strong Curvature." Ing.-Arch., vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 98-107.

- * Oestel, D.J. (1968). "Dynamic Response of Multi-Span Curved Bridges." Master Thesis presented to Carnegie-Mellon University, at Pittsburgh.
 - Oesterblom, I. (1932). "Bending and Torsion in Horizontally Curved Beams." ACI Journal, vol. 3, no. 9, May, pp. 597-606, and discussion in vol. 4, no. 3, November, pp. 153-160.
 - Ohno, S. and Sakrai, J. (1986). "S-Curveds Cable-Stayed Bridge of the Metropolitan Expressways." Japan Road Association Annual Report of Roads, pp. 33-44.
 - Ojalvo, I.U. (1962). "Coupled Twist-Bending Vibrations of Incomplete Elastic Rings." *International Journal of Mechanics and Science*, vol. 4, pp. 53-72.
 - Ojalvo, I.U. and Newman, M. (1968)."Buckling of Naturally Curved and Twisted Beams." *ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics*, 94(5), 1067-1087.
 - Ojalvo, M., Demuts, E. and Tokarz, F. (1969). "Out- Of- Plane Buckling of Curved Members." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 95, no. ST10, October, pp. 2305-16.
- * Omote, T., Hirashima, M., and Yoda, T. (1989). "Finite Displacement Theory of Curved and Twisted Thin-Walled Box Girders." Proceedings *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, No. 404/I-11, April, pp. 239-248 (in Japanese).
- * Oshita, S. (1984). "Analysis of Curved I-Girder Bridge with Lateral Bracings." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, vol. 14, March, pp. 90-92.
- * Otsuka, H. and Yoshimura, T. (1979). "Studies on Additional Stresses of Main Girders and Member Forces of Lateral Bracing in Curved I- and Straight I-Girder Bridges." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 290, October, pp. 17-29 (in Japanese).
- * Otsuka, H. and Yoshimura, T. (1982). "Analysis of Curved and Straight I-Girder Bridges Considering Eccentric Connections." Canadian Soc for Civil Engineering International Conference on Short and Medium Span Bridges, Toronto, Ont, Can, v.2, August 8-12, pp. 45-59.
 - Otsuka, H., Yoshimura, T., Hikosaka, H. and Hirata, K. (1977). "Analysis of Curved Girder Bridges Considering Eccentric Connections Between a Deck Plate and Girders." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 259, May, pp. 11-23 (in Japanese).
- # Palaninathan, R. and Chandrasekharan, P. S. (1985). "Curved Beam Element Stiffness Matrix Formulation." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 663-669.
- # Panayotounakos, D.E. and Theocaris, P.S. (1979a). "Flexibility Matrix for Skew-Curved Beams." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 783-794.

- * Panayotounakos, D.E. and Theocaris, P.S. (1979b). "Static Analysis for Planar Curved Beams under Arbitrary External Loading (Statike Epilysis Ton Epipedon Kabylon Dokon Hypo Tychusan Exoteriken Fortisin)." Epistemonika Phylla Anotates Scholes Politikon Mechanikon EMP (Ethnikon Metsobion Polytechneion)/Scientific Papers NTU Faculty of Civil Engineering (National Technical University, Athens), vol. 3, no. 1, January-April, pp. 1-24 (in Greek).
- # Panayotounakos, D.E. and Theocaris, P.S. (1980). "Closed Form Solution for the Static Analysis of Continuous Skew-Curved Beams." *Acta Mechanica*, vol. 37, no. 1-2, pp. 53-64.

Patel, J.A. (1962). "Analysis of Continuous Circular Beams Loaded Out of Plane." Master Thesis presented to Oklahoma State University, at Stillwater.

Petersen, C. (1966). "Das Verfahren Der Ubertragungsmatrizen Fur Gekrummte Trager (The Transfer Matrix Procedure for Curved Girders)." Bauingenieur, vol. 41, no. 3, March, pp. 98-102.

Piguet, J.C. (1969). "Curved Prefabricated Bridge Constructed in Cantilever [chillon Viaduct] (Ponts En Courbe Prefabriques Et Construits En Encorbellement)." Bul Technique de la Suisse Romande, vol. 95, no. 9, May 3, pp. 128-35 (In French).

Pinjarkar, S.G. (1969). "Analysis of Curved Box Girder Bridges." Ph.D. Thesis, Illinois Institute of Technology.

Pippard, A.J.S. and Barrow, F.L. (1926). "The Stress Analysis of Bow Girders." Building Research Technical Paper No. 1, Dept. of Scietific and Industrial Research, His Majesty's Stationary Office, London, England, pp. 1-27.

Pithead Press Proprietary (1982). "Another Successful Bridge Launch." Construction in South Africa, vol. 26, no. 10, January, pp. 19.

Pithead Press Proprietary (1982). "Incremental Bridge Went Smoothly at PE." Construction in Southern Africa, vol. 27, no. 2, May, pp. 110-111.

Podstrigach, Y.S., Chernukha, Y.A. and Voitovich, N.I. (1976). "Unsteady Thermal Conductivity and Thermoelasticity of Curved Beams (Nestatsionarnaya Teploprovodnost' I Termouprugost' Krivykh Brus'ev)." Problemy Prochnosti, no. 9, September, pp. 3-8 (in Russian).

- * Prat, M. (1987). "Etude Des Poutres Planes Courbes. Methode Des Deplacements. (Study of Curved Plane Beams. Displacement Method)." Annales de l'Institut Technique du Batiment et des Travaux Publics, vol. 40, no. 453, March-April, pp. 1-44 (in French).
- * Qamaruddin, M., Majid Ali, S. and Qadeer, A. (1988). "Dynamic Response of Horizontally Curved Girders." *Journal of Structural Engineering* (Madras), vol. 15, no. 2 July, pp. 51-57.

* Rajasekaran, S. and Padmanabhan, S. (1989). "Equations of Curved Beams." *Journal of Engineering Mechanics*, vol. 115, no. 5, May, pp. 1094-1111.

Ramachandra Rao, B.S. and Prakash, B.G. (1978). "Note on the Stress Singularity in a Cantilever Curved Beam." *Journal of Structural Mechanics*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 133-144.

Ratzersdorfer, J. (1952). "Solutions of Problems of the Slightly Curved Beam." *Aircraft Engineering*, vol. 284, no. 319, October, pp. 288-293.

Reddy, M.N. (1963). "Influence Lines for Continuous Curved Members Loaded Laterally." Master Thesis presented to Oklahoma State University, at Stillwater.

Reddy, M.N. (1968). "Lateral Vibrations of Plane Curved Bars." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 94, no. ST10, October, pp. 2197-2212.

Reddy, M.N. and Tuma, J.J. (1967). "Analysis of Laterally Loaded Continuous Curved Beams." *ASCE*, *Journal of Structural Division*, vol. 93, no. ST1, February , pp. 495-513.

Reed, T.W. (1983). "Design and Construction of the River Stour Bridge, Wimborne Bypass." Structural Engineer, Part A: Monthly, vol. 61A, no. 4, April, pp. 115-119.

Richardson, Gordon, and Associates (1963). "Analysis and Design of Horizontally Curved Steel Bridge Girders." United States Steel Structral Report ADUCO 91063, September.

Richter, B. (1971). "Calculation of Curved Beams (Ein Beitrag Zur Berechnung Gekruemmter Staebe)." Wissenschaftliche Zeitschrift, Hochschule fuer Bauwesen, Leipzig, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 39-42 (in German).

Roberts, T.M. and Benchiha, M. (1987). "Lateral Instability of Monosymmetric Beams with Initial Curvature." *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 111-123.

Rockey, K.C., Valtinat, G. and Tang, K.H. (1981). "The Design of Transverse Stiffner on Webs Loaded in Shear - An Ultimate Approach." Institution of Civil Engineers, vol. 71, pt. 2, December, pp. 1069-1099.

Rosas e Silva, R. (1984). "Effect of Load Behavior and Kinematic Relations on Buckling Loads of Curved Members." 1984 Annual Technical Session - Structural Stability Research Council Conference: Stability Under Seismic Loading, San Francisco, CA, April10-11, pp. 83-90.

Rosen, A. and Abramovich, H. (1984). "Galerkin Method as a Tool to Investigate the Planar and Non-Planar Behavior of Curved Beams." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 165-174.

Russell, J.E."An Experimental Study of Cross-Bending of Curved Compression Flanges in Fish-Belly Haunched Plate Girders." South Dakota School Mines & Technol, Division of Engineering, Report no. 607(69).

Rutenberg, A. (1979). "Vibration Properties of Curved Thin-Walled Beams." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, vol. 105, no. 7 July, pp. 1445-55.

- # Sahin, M.A. (1985). "The Specification and Comparison of Methodologies for the Automated Minimum Cost Design of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridge Structures." PH. D. Thesis, University of Maryland.
- * Sakai, F. and Nakamura, H. (1975). "Method for Numerical Analysis of Thin-Walled Curved Beams Consisting of Plates and Shells." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 235, March, pp. 41-54 (in Japanese).

Salek, F. (1970). "Analysis of Multispan Horizontally Curved Steel Girder Highway Bridges." Ph.D. Thesis, Rutgers University, The State U. of New Jersey (New Brunswick).

Salyi, B. (1973). "Calculation of the Force Effect in Continuous Plane Curved Beams (Berechnung Des Kraestespiels in Durchlaufenden Eben Gekruemmten Traegern)." Periodica Polytechnica, *Mechanical Engineering*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 157-169 (in German).

Samartin, A., Jaria, V. and Castillo, E. (1976). "Circular Orthotropic Slab." Instituto Eduardo Torraja (IET) Costillares Hormigon y Acero N118, January, pp. 111-129 (in Spanish).

Schulz, M. and Chedraui, M. (1957). "Tables for Circularly Curved Horizontal Beams with Symmetric Uniform Loads." *Journal of ACI*, vol. 53, Title No. 53-58, May, pp. 1033-1040.

Schumpich, G. (1957). "Beitrag Zur Kinetic Und Statik Ebener Stabwerke Mit Gekrumten Staben." Osterreiches Ingenieur Archiv., Bd. 3, s. 194-225 (in German).

Shedd, J.P. (1970). "Curved Steel Bridges." Colo State University, Bridge Eng Conf, pp. 109-127.

Sheinman, I. (1979). "Forced Vibration of a Curved Beam with Viscous Damping." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 10, no. 3 June, pp. 499-503.

Sheinman, I. (1980). "Dynamic Large-Displacement Analysis of Curved Beams Involving Shear Deformation." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp.1037-1049.

Shimada, S. and Kuranishi, S. (1966). "Formulas for Calculation of Curved Beam." Gihodo, Tokyo (in Japanese).

Shore, S. and Chaudhuri, S.K. (1972). "Free Vibration of Horizontally Curved Beams." ASCE, Journal of Structural Division, 98(3), March, 793-796.

- * Shore, S. (1974). "The Statics and Dynamics of Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." Final CURT Report No. A0374, Research Project HPR-2(111), Department of Civil and Urban Engineering, University of Pennsylvania, December.
- * Shore, S. and Chaudhuri, S. (1974). "Static and Dynamic Analysis of Horizontally Curved I-Girder Bridges." CURT Report No. T0374, Research Project HPR-2(111), Department of Civil and Urban Engineering, University of Pennsylvania, May.
- * Shore, S. and Lepore, J.A. (1972). "Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges-Small Scale Model Tests." Pennsylvania University, Towne Sch Civ & Mech Eng, April, Interim, pp. 155.
- * Simada, S. and Kuranishi, S. (1966). "Formulas and Tables for Curved Beams." Gihodo, Tokyo (in Japanese).
- * Siminou, J. and Heins, C.P. (1969). "Proposed Equations for Preliminary Design of Curved Bridge Systems. The Design of Curved Viaducts." Maryland University -Civil Engineering Dept, June, Progress Report, pp. 127.
 - Slocum, S.E. (1906). "A Simple Method for the Calculation of the Bending Strength of Curved Pieces." Engineering News, vol. 55, pp. 604.
 - Sonntag, G. (1951). "Transition From State of Plane Stress to State of Plane Deformation in Broad Curved Beams." ZAMM, vol. 31, no. 11/12, November/December, pp. 344-348.
- # Soto, M.H. (1966). "Analysis of Suspended Curved Girders." ASCE, vol. 92, no. ST1, February , pp. 21-38.
 - Spyropoulos, P.J. (1963). "Circularly Curved Beams Transversely Loaded." Journal of ACI, vol. 60, no. 10, October, pp. 1457-1470.
 - Starkweather, G.P. (1900). "Bending Moments in Circular Girders." *Engineering News*, vol. 42, pp. 335.
 - Stolarski, H. and Belyschko, T. (1982). "Membrane Locking and Reduced Integration for Curved Elements." ASME, Journal of Applied Mechanics, 49(1), pp. 172-176.
 - Stolarski, H. and Belyschko, T. (1983). "Shear and Membrane Locking in Curved C0 Elements." Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, 41(3), 279-296.
- # Stolarski, H., Belytschko, T., Carpenter, N. and Kennedy, J.M. (1984). "Simple Triangular Curved Shell Element." ENG COMPUT (SWANSEA WALES) V 1 N 3 September, pp. 210-218.

- Stussi, F. (1958). "Entwurf Und Berechnung Von Stahlbauten, Erster Bd." Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Suros, O. and Chu, H.Y. (1991). "Reducing Airport Congestion." AISC, Modern Steel Construction, vol. 31, no. 6, June.
- # Tabba, M.M. and Turkstra, C.J. (1977). "Free Vibrations of Curved Box Girders." *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 54, no. 4, October 22, pp. 501-514.
- * Takaba, K. and Naruoka, M. (1970). "An Analysis of Grillage Girder Bridges with Tin-Walled Cross-Section by the Deformation Method." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 178, June, pp. 1-9 (in Japanese).
- # Takabatake, H. and Matsuoka, O. (1983). "Elastic Theory of Thin-Walled Open Cross Sections with Local Deformations." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 1065-1088.
- * Takahashi, K., Yonago, A. and Mizuno, M. (1984). "Analysis of Thin-Walled Open-Cross-Section Curved Members Considering Cross-Sectional Distortion." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, vol. 14, March, pp. 49-52.
- # Takeishi, H. and Yasumoto, Y. (1985). "Shock Response of Curved Beams by Using Stress Pulse." *Journal of Society of Materials Science*, Japan, vol. 34, no. 377, February, pp. 235-241(in Japanese with English abstract).
 - Tayjasanant, A. (1968). "Analysis of Horizontally Curved Twin Box Girder Bridges." Master Thesis presented to Carnegie-Mellon University, at Pittsburgh.
- # Tesar, A. (1981a). "Spatial Behavior of Horizontally Curved Thin-Walled Box Beams (Priestorove Posobenie Horizontalne Zakrivenych Tenkostennych Komorovych Prutov)." Stavebnicky Casopis, vol. 29, no. 3, March, pp. 187-211 (in Slovak with English abstract).
- # Tesar, A. (1981b). "Spatial Vibrations of Curved Thin-Walled Bridges with Several Main Girders (Priestorove Kmitanie Zakrivenych Tenkostennych Mostov S Niekolkymi Hlavnymi Nosnikmi)." Stavebnicky Casopis, vol. 29, no. 8 August, pp. 587-616 (in Slovak with English abstract).
- # Tesar, A. (1982a). "Dynamic Response of Curved Plate-Girder Bridges." Acta Technica CSAV (Ceskoslovensk Akademie Ved), vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 412-442.
- # Tesar, A. (1982b). "Vibration of Horizontally Curved Thinwalled Box Beams (Kmitanie Horizontalne Zakrivenych Tenkostennych Komorovych Prutov)." Stavebnicky Casopis, vol. 30, no. 5, May, pp. 397-413 (in Slovak).

* Texas Transportation Inst., College Station (1969). "Horizontally Curved Steel Beams or Girders for Bridges." Report No. BIB-1-208, pp. 10.

Timoshenko, S.P. (1905). "On the Stability in Plane Bending of an I-Beam." Izvestiya St.Petersburg Poltekhnichekogo Instituta, IV-V.

Timoshenko, S.P. and Woinowsky-Krieger, S. (1969). "Theory of Plates and Shells." McGraw-Hill, New York.

Tin-Loi, F. (1984). "Shakedown Analysis of Curved Beams." Journal of Structural Mechanics, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 319-333.

- * Tsuiji, T. (1974). "Fundamental Equations of Curved and Twisted Beams." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 230, October, pp. 11-22 (in Japanese).
- # Tung, D.H. and Fountain, R.S. (1970). "Approximate Torsional Analysis of Curved Box Girders by the M/R Method." AISC, Engineering Journal, vol. 7, no. 3, July, pp. 65-74.

United States Steel (1967). "Chapter I-12, Horizontally Curved Girders - Highway Structures Design Handbook." vol. 1.

United States Steel (1982). "Improved Highway Interchanges, Knoxville, Tennessee." USS Bridge Report, Pittsburgh, PA, May.

- # Usami, T. and Koh, S.Y. (1980). "Large Displacement Theory of Thin-Walled Curved Members and Its Application to Lateral-Torsional Buckling Analysis of Circular Arches." *Journal of Solids and Structures*, 16, pp. 71-95.
- * Usuki, M., Kano, T. and Watanabe, N. (1979). "Analysis of Thin-Walled Curved Members in Account for Large Torsion." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 290, October, pp. 1-12 (in Japanese).
- * Usuki, S. and Kano, T. (1975). "Analysis of Thin Walled Curved Beam by Stiffness Method." Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, no. 235, March, pp. 29-39 (in Japanese).
- # Usuki, T. (1987). "Theory of Curved, Multi-Cell Box Girder Bridges under Consideration of Cross-Sectional Distortion." Structural Engineering & Earthquake Engineering, vol. 4, no. 2 October, pp. 277-287.
- * Vandepitte, D. and Verhegge, B. (1983). "Ultimate Strength of Curved Flanges in Box Girders." Instability and Plastic Collapse of Steel Structures, Michael R. Horne Conference, University of Manchester, Engl , September 20-22, pp. 446-454.

- * Varney, R.F. (1973). "The Resonant Vibration Responses of Two Horizontally Curved Steel Girder Bridges." Federal Highway Administration, Bridge Structures Group, Washington DC, Final Report no. FHWA-RD-73-79, September, pp. 27.
- * Vashi, K.M. (1970). "Dynamic Response of Simple-Span Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges to Moving Vehicles." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland.
- * Vashi, K.M. and Heins, C.P. (1970). "Dynamic Behavior of Horizontally Curved Highway Bridges." Maryland State Roads Commission, Maryland University, Bureau of Public Roads, HPR-PR-U(5).
- * Vashi, K.M., Schelling, D.R. and Heins, C.P. (1970). "Impact Factors for Curved Highway Bridges." Highway Research Record, Hwy Res Board, no. 302, pp. 49-61.

Velutini, B. (1950). "Analysis of Continuous Circular Curved Beams." ACI Journal, vol. 22, no. 3, November, pp. 217-228.

Verden, W. (1969). "Die Berechnung Des Gekrummten Durchlauftragers." Verlag von Wilhelm Ernst & Sohn, Berlin (in German).

* Vogel, U. (1983). "Practical Analysis of the Continuous Beam Curved in Plane by the Force Method (Praktische Berechnung Des Im Grundriss Gerkruemmten Durchlauftraegers Nach Dem Kraftgroessen-Verfahren)." Bautechnik, Ausgabe A, vol. 60, no. 11 November, pp. 373-379 (in German with English abstract).

Volterra, E. (1952). "Bending of a Circular Beam Resting on an Elastic Foundation." *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, March, pp. 1-4.

Volterra, E. (1952). "Deflection of Circular Beams Resting on Elastic Fiundation under Symmetric and Anti-Symmetric Loading." International Congress of Theoretical and Applied Mechanics, Istanbul, August.

Volterra, E. (1953). "Deflection of Circular Beams Resting on Elastic Foundation Obtained by Methods of Harmonic Analysis." *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, June, pp. 227-232.

Volterra, E. (1955). "Deflection of a Circular Beam Out of Its Initial Plane." ASCE, vol. 120, pp. 65.

Volterra, E. (1956). "Deflections of Bow Girders of Non-Circular Shapes." ASCE, vol. 82, no. EM-1, January, pp. 24.

Volterra, E. and Chung, R. (1953). "Bending of Constrained Circular Beams Resting on Elastic Foundations." Proceedings, ASCE, vol. 79, Separ. no. 205, July.

Volterra, E. and Morell, J.D. (1961). "Lowest Natural Frequecies of Elastic Arcs." *Journal of Acoustical Society of America*, vol. 33, no. 12, December.

Volterra, E. and Morell, J.D. (1961). "Lowest Natural Frequecy of Elastic Arc for Vibrations Outside the Plane of Initial Curvature." *ASME*, vol. 83, *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, December, pp. 624-627.

Wang, T.M. and Guilbert, M.P. (1981). "Effects of Rotary Inertia and Shear on Natural Frequencies of Continuous Circular Curved Beams." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 281-289.

Wang, T.M., Laskey, A.J. and Ahmad, M.F. (1984). "Natural Frequencies for Out-Of-Plane Vibrations of Continuous Curved Beams Considering Shear and Rotary Inertia." *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 257-265.

Washizu, K. (1964). "Some Considerations on a Naturally Curved and Twisted Slender Beam." Journal of Math. Phys., vol. 43, no. 2, June, pp. 111-116.

Watanabe, N. (1967). "Theory and Calculation of Curved Girder." Gihodo, Tokyo (in Japanese).

- * Watanabe, N., Kano, T. and Fujii, Y. (1973). "Stiffness Matrix Analysis of Horizontally Curved Girder Bridges with Bending-Torsional Rigidity." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 218, October, pp. 1-8 (in Japanese).
- * Watanabe, N., Kano, T. and Usuki, S. (1984). "Analysis of Large Torsion of a Thin Walled Curved Beam Based on Displacement Field Theory." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, vol. 14, March, pp. 7-9.
- # Wen, R.K. and Lange, J. (1981). "Curved Beam Element for Arch Buckling Analysis." ASCE, Journal of Structural Engineering, 107(11), 2053-2067.

Williamson, D.M. (1974). "Bef Analysis for Cross-Sectional Deformation of Curved Box Girders with Internal Diaphrams." M.S. Thesis, Civil Engineering Department, Carnegie-Mellon, Pittsburg, PA, April.

Wilson, B.J. (1932). "A Simple Method of Determining Stress in Curved Flexural Members." University of Illinois, Engineering Experimental Station, Bulletin No. 20, vo. XXV.

* Wilson, J.F. (1979). "Dynamic Theories and Experiments of Alternative Guideway-Vehicle Systems, Part II." Duke University Department of Civil Engineering, Durham NC and Department of Transportation, Office of University Research, Washington DC, March, Final Report, pp. 189.

Winslow, A.M. and Edmonds, H.G. (1926). "Tests and Theory of Curved Beams." ASME, Advanced Paper for meeting, December 6-9.

- * Wippel, H. (1982). "Curved Girder Bridges without Torsional Stiffness (Gekruemmte Balkentraegerbruecken Ohne Drillsteifigkeit)." Beton und Stahlbetonbau, vol. 77, no. 5, May, pp. 126-131 (in German with English abstract).
 - Wright, W. (1952). "Design of Curved Beams." Civil Engineering, London, vol. 47, no. 547, January, pp. 46-47.
- * Yamada, Y. and Kobori, T. (1965). "Studies of Highway Bridge Impact Due to Random Moving Vehicles." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 119, July, pp. 1-9.
- * Yamada, Y. and Kobori, T. (1967). "Dynamic Response of Highway Bridges Due to Live Load by Spectral Analysis." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 148, December, pp. 40-50 (in Japanese).
- * Yamazaki, T. and Sakiyama, K. (1968). "Dynamic Response of Circular Beam to Moving Loads." Memoirs of Faculty of Engineering, Kyushu University, vol. 41, Reprint no. 2.
- # Yang, Y.B., Kuo, S.R. and Cherng, Y.D. (1989). "Curved Beam Element for Nonlinear Analysis." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics, 115(4), April, 840-855.
- # Yang, C.H. (1972). "Analytical Investigation of Horizontally Curved Girder Systems." Ph.D. Thesis, The University of Alabama.
- * Yao, L. and Li, X. (1986). "Practical Method for Calculating Curved Multi-Girder Bridges." Tumu Gongcheng Xuebao, vol. 19, no. 3 August, pp. 43-58 (in Chinese).
- # Yilmaz, C. and Tanvir, W.S. (1982). "Analysis and Design of Bridges." Analysis and Design of Bridges Conference (NATO Advanced Study Institute), Cesme, Izmir, Turk, June 28-July 9, pp. 450.
- # Yilmaz, C., Tanvir, W.S. and Evans, H.R. (1984a). "Simplified Methods for the Analysis and Design of Bridges of Cellular Cross-Section." The Hague, pp. 95-115.
- * Yonezawa, H. and Mikami, I. (1966). "On the Limit Analysis of Curved Grillage Girder." Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers, no. 132, August, pp. 18-26 (in Japanese).
- * Yoo, C.H. (1971). "Plastic Analysis of Multi-Span Horizontally Curved Girders." Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland.
 - Yoo, C.H. (1982b). "Lateral Torsional Buckling of Horizontally Curved Girders." Sino-American Symposium on Bridge and Structural Engineering, part 2, Beijing, People's Republic of China, September, pp. 17/1-15.

- Yoo, C.H. (1982c). "Stability of Curved Girders." International Conference of Finite Element Methods, Shanghi, People's Republic of China, August, pp. 305-311.
- Yoo, C.H. (1983). "Flexural-Torsional Buckling of Curved Members." 4th ASCE Engineering Mechanics Division Specialty Conference: Recent Advances in Engineering Mechanics and their Impact on Civil Engineering Practice, West Lafayette, Indiana, May 23-25, pp. 1118-1121.
- Yoo, C.H. and Acra, S.V. (1986). "Cross-Sectional Properties of Thin-Walled Multi-Cellular Section." *Computers and Structures*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 53-61.
- # Yoo, C.H., Buchanan, J., Heins, C.P., Armstrong, W.L. (1976). "Analysis of a Continuous Curved Box Girder Bridge." Transportation Research Record N579, pp. 61-71.
- # Yoo, C.H. and Gipson, R.W. (1984a). "Experimental Investigation of Horizontally Curved Plexiglass I-Girders." ASCE, Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, 5th Engineering Mechanics Division Specialty Conference, Laramie, Wyo, August 1-3, pp. 1461-1464.
- # Yoo, C.H. and Gipson, R.W. (1984b). "Model Tests of Horizontally Curved Plexiglass I-Girders." 1984 Annual Technical Session Structural Stability Research Council: Stability Under Seismic Loading, San Francisco, CA, April 10-11, pp. 103.
- * Yoo, C.H. and Heins, C.P. (1971). "The Ultimate Strength of Curved I-Girder Bridges. The Design of Curved Viaducts." Maryland University, College Park. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Progress Report No. 42, June, pp. 110.
- * Yoo, C.H. and Heins, C.P. (1972b). "Ultimate Strength of Curved I-Girder Bridges." Maryland St Dept Transp, Highway Admin, Study No. Aw-72-85-46.
- # Yoo, C.H., Lee, S.C. and Carbine, R.L. (1986). "Experimental and Analytical Study of Horizontally Curved Steel Wide Flange Beams." Annual Technical Session, Structural Stability Research Council, April, pp. 61-71.
- # Yoshimura, J. and Nirasawa, N. (1979). "Effective Widths of Curved Girder Bridges by the Folded Plate Theory." *Journal of Civil Engineering Design*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 379-388.
- * Yoshimura, T. and Nirasawa, N. (1975). "On the Stress Distribution and Effective Width of Curved Girder Bridges by the Folded Plate Theory." *Transactions of the Japanese Society of Civil Engineers*, no. 233, January, pp. 45-54 (in Japanese).
 - Young, R.W. (1968). "Analytical Study of Horizontally Curved Single-Span Bridges." Master Thesis presented to Penn. State University, at University Park.
 - Yu, T.M. (1949). "Shearing Stresses in Curved Beams." Sci. Rec., Shanghai, vol. 2, no. 4, November, pp. 401-408.

Yu, T. X. (1981). "Location of the Plastic Hinge in a Quadrantal Circular Curved Beam Struck in Its Plane by a Jet at Its Tip." 1981 Adavnces in Aerospace Structures and Materials (Presented at the Winter Annual Meeting of The ASME), Washington, DC, November 15-20, pp. 175-180.

Yuan, J. and Dickinson, S. M. (1992). "On the Use of Artificial Springs in the Study of the Free Vibrations of Systems Comprised of Straight and Curved Beams." *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 153, no. 2, March 8, pp. 203-216.

Zettlemoyer, N., Fisher, J.W. and Daniels, J.H. (1980). "Fatigue of Curved Steel Bridge Elements--Stress Concentration, Stress Range Gradient, and Principal Stress Effects on Fatigue Life." Federal Highway Administration, Washington DC, Interim Report no. FHWA-RD-79-132, April, pp. 91.